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This year Impac will

revol utionize the mortgage

industry and introduce

IDASL.com: aweb-based

mortgage application

program that |ets brokers get

loan approval in minutes.



IDASL provides our customers
with a powerful tool to conduct

their business by allowing for

faster and morereliable decisons =

with increased operational effi-
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ciencies. Tom Golden, President
and CEO of Express Capital

commented on IDASL,

"It will have a dramatic, positive
effect on the way that we execute
and deliver the Impac products,
both in terms of speed and
accuracy. We are adjusting our
business to take advantage Impac's

new and exciting technology."



We're creating

a revolution in the

mortgage business.

We expect continued

growth in our

operations and

Investment portfolio.






Dear Fellow Stockholders:

Following one of the industry's worst years on record, Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. ("The Company") eliminated
risk of margin calls on its securities portfolio, increased liquidity, restructured its balance sheet and rebounded from
alossin 1998 to earnings of $22.3 million for the year ending December 31, 1999. |n addition, the Company
accomplished all of its goals as outlined in previous announcements except for the acquisition of the Bank,
which the application was re-filed in February 2000. However, in spite of the Company's accomplishments

in 1999, the Company's stock continues to hover near the low end of its historical price range.

Therefore, the Company's Board of Directors and the executive team fed it isimperative not only to delineate the

2000 business plan, but also to take the necessary actions to increase long-term shareholder value with a goal to
return to historical dividend pay-outs. The 2000 business plan includes a substantial investment in technology, an
aggressive expansion of the Company's businesses and a commitment to paying dividends to our loyal stockholders.

Investment in Technology. In1999, over 70% of our customersusedthe Internet toconduct business
with the Company, such as accessing loan status, pricing, program guidelines, executing rate locks, checking on
underwriting dispositions and purchase confirmations. The Company's commitment to technology was evident in
1999 and is forefront in our 2000 business plan.

In 2000, we are aggressively pursuing our business to business technology initiatives to grow our mortgage banking
operations with a significant enhancement to our e-commerce business, Impac Direct Access System for Lending
("IDASL"). IDASL isnot alead generator for mortgage brokers, but is an interactive internet-based system that

enables our customers to receive automated |oan approval decisions, guaranteed pricing and, if necessary, mortgage

insurance approval al within less than a minute.

Utilizing our streamlined mortgage loan programs, IDASL is designed to be user friendly, deliver consistent
underwriting decisions and reduce the entire process of submitting, underwriting and pricing a mortgage loan from
up to several daysto afew minutes. Future enhancements to the IDASL system will include the ahility to provide
fraud detection and electronic property appraisals that will further streamline the entire mortgage application process.

IDASL is now available only to selected customers. By mid year, the Company expects to offer IDASL
to mortgage brokers and bankers nationwide.

With the implementation of IDASL, the Company anticipates improved margins, lower cost of originations and
increased profitability at all levels of our business operations. Most importantly, IDASL allows the Company to
move closer to the borrowers with future minimal capital investment and maintaining centralization, a key

factor in our operating strategy.

Business Expansion - The Mortgage L ending Operations. The Company's Mortgage Lending
Operations are comprised of The Conduit Operations, Impac Funding Corporation, ("IFC") and the Wholesal e/Retail
Operations, Impac Lending Group, ("ILG").



The Conduit Operations acquires residential non-conforming loans from originators, including mortgage
bankers, credit unions, thrifts and banks, and subsequently securitizes these loans. The implementation of
IDASL will enhance the Conduit Operations’ profitability by dramatically increasing the efficiencies and speed

of underwriting aloan. We expect IDASL to bring comptitive advantages to the Conduit Operations, however we antic-
ipate business volumes to remain relatively stable as compared to 1999.

On the other hand, we believe the expansion of our Wholesale/Retail Operations will bring significant future
profitability and growth for the Company's mortgage lending operations. The Wholesale/Retail Operations
enables residential mortgage brokers and borrowers to access the Company directly to underwrite, fund and
close their loans. Direct access to the broker will enable the Company to reduce premiums paid for loans,
and thereby considerably improve profitability margins on each loan. Furthermore, IDASL will enable the
Company to aggressively expand its operations nationwide while maintaining centralization and a stringent
level of quality control.

The Warehouse L ending Operations The Warehouse Lending Operations or Impac Warehouse
Lending Group, Inc. ("IWLG") provides residential mortgage warehouse lines to smaller mortgage bankers.

The Warehouse Lending Operations requires minimal capital commitment, generates above average market returns
and is expected to be a significant contributor to the Company's overall profitability for 2000. During 1999, IWLG
increased the number of its customers by 44% and outstanding warehouse lines commitments to $278,000,000.
With only a handful of employees, IWLG recorded gross revenues of $33.1 million and net earnings of nearly
$9.9 million for the year ending December 31, 1999. During 2000, we expect to continue to add to our customer
base, increase our warehouse line commitments and significantly increase average daily outstanding balances.

TheLong - Term Investment Operations The Long - Term Investment Operations investsin
non-conforming residential mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities.

During 1999, the Company restructured its balance sheet, increased book value per common share, increased

additional liquidity, and improved overall credit quality of its investment portfolio. However, in order to generate
consistent long-term earnings and a return to historical dividend pay-outs, the Company must grow its’ balance
sheet. Therefore, the 2000 business plan includes limiting loan sales to third parties, reducing dividend pay-outs,

and retaining the capital to make further investments in the Company's investment portfolio.

As part of this strategy, the Company has already completed a $460.0 million Collateralized Mortgage Obligation
which increased the overall size of the Company's mortgage investment portfolio.
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Financial Highlights

For the year ended December 31,

In thousands, except per share data 1999 1998 1997 1996
Total Assets $1,675,430 $1,665,504 $1,752,812 $972,355
Net Earnings $ 22317 $ (5933 $ 28346® $ 11,897
Revenues $ 126,360 $ 150,119 $ 119,859 $ 65,169
Earnings Per Share — Diluted $ 0.76 $ (0.25 $ 1.74® $ 134
Dividends Declared Per Share $ 0.48 $ 1.46 $ 1.68 $ 161
Return on Equity 9.29% (2.48) % 17.38% 16.39%
Return on Assets 1.38% (0.29) % 2.07% 1.52%
Book Value Per Share @ $ 9.76 $ 9.02 $ 10.16 $ 962
Market Capitalization Fully Diluted $ 114,636 $ 139,618 $ 403,000 $148,755
Shares Outstanding Fully Diluted 27,757 30,618 22,546 14,100

@ Net earnings and earnings per share are stated before a non-recurring charge related to the buyout of the Company’s
management agreement on December 19, 1997.

@ Book Value per share calculated assuming liquidation value of the Company’s Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock.

@ All references to outstanding shares and earnings per share data give retroactive effect to the Company’s 3 for 2 stock split
effective November 24, 1997.

Key Accomplishmentsin 1999

Returned to profitability by announcing net earnings of $22.3 million as compared a net loss of $5.9 million in 1998.
Re-established a dividend pay-out by declaring $0.48 per common share for the year.

Increased book value 8% to $9.76 at December 31, 1999 from $9.02 at December 31, 1998.

Restructured Balance Sheet by exchanging 1.4 million shares of common stock for 11% senior subordinated debt,
repurchasing 2.0 million shares of common stock, re-securitizing our securities portfolio and retaining for investment
$683.3 million of primarily adjustable rate mortgages.

Improved overall credit quality of the mortgage portfolio as aresult of lower delinquency rates, higher percentage
of prepayment penalties and slower prepayments.

Reduced risk of margin calls by eliminating reliance on short-term borrowings to finance securities portfolio at
December 31, 1999.

Increased loan production every quarter in spite of an estimate of a 20% decrease in mortgage originations throughout
the Industry.

Introduced Impac Lending Group, our national Wholesale/Retail Lending Operations.
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PART |

Certain information contained in this Report constitutes forward-looking statements under the Securities Act and
the Exchange Act. These forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology
including, but not limited to, “may,” “will,” “expect,” “intend,” “should,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” or “believe’ or
comparable terminology. The Company’s actual results may differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking
statements. Factors that might cause such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in “ltem 1.
Business—Risk Factors’ aswell as those discussed el sewhere in this Report.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. was incorporated in Maryland in August 1995. References to the “Company” refer
to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (“IMH") and its subsidiaries, IMH Assets Corporation (“IMH Assets’), Impac
Warehouse Lending Group, Inc. (“IWLG"), and Impac Funding Corporation, (together with its wholly-owned subsidiary
Impac Secured Assets Corporation, (“1FC”)). References to IMH refer to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. as a separate
entity from IMH Assets, IWLG and IFC.

General

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. is a mortgage real estate investment trust (“REIT”), which, together with its
subsidiaries and related companies, primarily operates three businesses: (1) the Long-Term Investment Operations, (2)
the Conduit Operations, and (3) the Warehouse Lending Operations. The Long-Term Investment Operations invests
primarily in non-conforming residential mortgage loans and securities backed by such loans. The Conduit Operations
purchases and sells and securitizes primarily non-conforming mortgage loans. The Warehouse Lending Operations
provides warehouse and repurchase financing to originators of mortgage loans. The Company elects to be taxed as a
REIT for federal income tax purposes, which generaly allows the Company to pass through income to stockholders
without payment of federal income tax at the corporate level.

Long-Term Investment Operations

The Long-Term Investment Operations, conducted by IMH and IMH Assets (a wholly-owned specialty purpose
entity through which IMH conducts its CMO borrowings), invests primarily in non-conforming residential mortgage
loans and mortgage-backed securities secured by or representing interests in such loans and, to a lesser extent, in
second mortgage loans. Non-conforming residential mortgage loans are residential mortgages that generally do not
qualify for purchase by government-sponsored agencies such as the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie
Mae”’) and the Federa Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”). The principal differences between
conforming loans and non-conforming loans include applicable loan-to-value ratios, credit and income histories of the
mortgagors, documentation required for approval of the mortgagors, type of properties securing the mortgage loans,
loan sizes, and the mortgagors' occupancy status with respect to the mortgaged properties. Second mortgage loans are
mortgage loans secured by a second lien on the property and made to borrowers owning single-family homes for the
purpose of debt consolidation, homeimprovements, education and a variety of other purposes.

Income is earned primarily from net interest income received by IMH on mortgage loans and mortgage-backed and
other collateralized securities acquired and held in its portfolio. Mortgage loans and mortgage-backed and other
collateralized securities are financed with capital, borrowings provided from Collateralized Mortgage Obligations
(“CMOs"), warehouse facilities, which are referred to as reverse repurchase agreements, and borrowings secured by
mortgage-backed securities. IFC supports the investment objectives of the Long-Term Investment Operations by
supplying the Long-Term Investment Operations mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities at prices that are
comparabl e to those available through investment bankers and other third parties.

Mortgage Loans Held in the Portfolio

The Company originates loans through its network of conduit sellers and invests a substantial portion of its
portfolio in non-conforming mortgage loans and, to a lesser extent, second mortgage loans. The Company also



purchases such loans from third parties for long-term investment and for resale. Management believes that non-
conforming mortgage loans provide an attractive net earnings profile and produce higher yields without commensurately
higher credit risks when compared with conforming mortgage loans. A portion of the long-term investment portfolio
consists of “A-" “B,” “C,” and “D” grade mortgage loans, (collectively, “B/C Loans’). The Company believes that a
structural change in the mortgage banking industry has occurred which has increased demand for higher yielding non-
conforming mortgage loans. This change has been caused by a number of factors, including: (1) investors' demand for
higher-yielding assets due to historically low interest rates over the past few years, (2) increased securitization of high-
yielding non-conforming mortgage loans by the investment banking industry, (3) quantification and development of
standardized credit criteria by credit rating agencies for securities backed by non-conforming mortgage loans, and (4)
increased competition in the securitization industry, which has reduced borrower interest rates and fees, thereby making
non-conforming mortgage loans more affordable.

I nvestmentsin Mortgage-Backed and Other Collateralized Securities

The Company also acquires mortgage-backed securities and other collateralized securities generated through its
own securitization efforts and those generated by third parties. In connection with the issuance of mortgage-backed
securities by IFC in the form of real estate mortgage investment conduits (*REMICSs”), IMH has and may retain senior or
subordinated securities as regular interests on a short-term or long-term basis. Such securities or investments may
subject the Company to credit, interest rate and/or prepayment risks. In general, subordinated classes of a particular
series of securities bear all losses prior to the related senior classes. Losses in excess of expected |osses at the time such
securities are purchased would adversely affect the Company’ s yield on such securities and could result in the failure of
the Company to recoup itsinitial investment. The Company may also acquire REMIC or CMO residual interests created
through its own securitizations or those of third parties. See “—Conduit Operations—Securitization and Sale Process,”
and “—Risk Factors—Value of Our Portfolio of Mortgage-Backed Securities May be Adversely Affected.”

Financing

The Long-Term Investment Operations are primarily financed through the issuance of CMOs, short-term
borrowings under reverse repurchase agreements, borrowings secured by mortgage-backed securities, and proceeds
from the sale of capital stock. Refer to “lItem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations¥Liquidity and Capital Resources’ for more information regarding the Company’s financing
arrangements.

Collateralized Mortgage Obligations. Asthe Long-Term Investment Operations accumul ates mortgage loansin its
long-term investment portfolio, the Company may issue CM Os secured by such |oans as a means of financing its Long-
Term Investment Operations. The decision to issue CMOs is based on the Company’s current and future investment
needs, market conditions and other factors. For accounting and tax purposes, the mortgage loans financed through the
issuance of CMOs are treated as assets of the Company, and the CMOs are treated as debt of the Company, when for
accounting purposes the CMO qualifies as a financing arrangement. Each issue of CMOs is fully payable from the
principal and interest payments on the underlying mortgage loans collateralizing such debt, any cash or other collateral
required to be pledged as a condition to receiving the desired rating on the debt, and any investment income on such
collateral. The Long-Term Investment Operations earns the net interest spread between the interest income on the
mortgage loans securing the CMOs and the interest and other expenses associated with the CMO financing. The net
interest spread may be directly impacted by the levels of prepayment of the underlying mortgage loans and, to the extent
each CMO class has variable rates of interest, may be affected by changesin short-term interest rates.

When the Company issues CMOs for financing purposes, it seeks an investment grade rating for such CMOs by a
nationally recognized rating agency. To secure such arating, it is often necessary to pledge collateral in excess of the
principal amount of the CMOs to beissued, or to obtain other forms of credit enhancements such as additional mortgage
loan insurance. The need for additional collateral or other credit enhancements depends upon factors such as the type of
collateral provided, the interest rates paid, the geographic concentration of the mortgaged property securing the
collateral, and other criteria established by the rating agencies. The pledge of additional collateral reduces the capacity of
the Company to raise additional funds through short-term secured borrowings or additional CM Os, and diminishes the
potential expansion of its investment portfolio. As aresult, the Company’s objective isto pledge additional collateral for



CMOs only in the amount required to obtain an investment grade rating for the CMOs by a nationally recognized rating
agency. Total loss exposure to the Company is limited to the equity invested in the CMOs at any point in time.

The Company believes that under prevailing market conditions an issuance of CMOs receiving other than an
investment grade rating would require payment of an excessive yield to attract investors. The Company’s CMOs
typically are structured as one-month London interbank offered rate (“LIBOR”) “floaters’ and fixed-rate securities with
interest payable monthly. Interest rates on adjustable rate CM Os generally range from 0.18% to 8.50% over one-month
LIBOR and from 6.65% to 18.25% on fixed rate CMOs depending on the class of the CMOs issued. The CMOs are
guaranteed for the holders by a mortgage loan insurer, giving the CMOs the highest rating established by a nationally
recognized rating agency.

Reverse Repurchase Agreements. The Company has reverse repurchase agreements at interest rates that are
consistent with the Company’ s financing objectives. A reverse repurchase agreement, although structured as a sale and
repurchase obligation, acts as a financing vehicle under which the Company effectively pledges its mortgage |oans and
mortgage securities as collateral to secure a short-term loan. Generally, the other party to the agreement makesthe loan in
an amount equal to a percentage of the market value of the pledged collateral. At the maturity of the reverse repurchase
agreement, the Company is required to repay the loan and correspondingly receives back its collateral. Under reverse
repurchase agreements, the Company retains the instruments of beneficial ownership, including the right to distributions
on the collateral and the right to vote on matters as to which certificate holders vote. Upon a payment default under such
agreements, the lending party may liquidate the collateral.

The Company’ s borrowing agreements reguire the Company to pledge cash, additional mortgage loans or additional
securities backed by mortgage loans in the event the market value of existing collateral declines. The Company may be
required to sell assetsto reduce its borrowings to the extent that cash reserves are insufficient to cover such deficiencies
in collateral. To reduce its exposure to the credit risk of reverse repurchase agreement lenders, the Company enters into
such agreements with several different parties and follows its own credit exposure procedures. The Company monitors
the financial condition of its reverse repurchase agreement lenders on a regular basis, including the percentage of
mortgage loans that are the subject of reverse repurchase agreements with a single lender. See “—Risk Factors—
Inability to Generate Liquidity May Adversely Affect Our Operations.”

Borrowings Secured by Mortgage-Backed Securities. The Company finances a portion of its mortgage-backed
securities portfolio with principal only notes. The notes represent senior or subordinated interests in trust funds
primarily consisting of apool of mortgage loans. The notes represent non-recourse obligations of the Company.

Other Mortgage-Backed Securities. As an additional alternative for the financing of its Long-Term Investment
Operations, the Company may issue other mortgage-backed securities. The Company may issue mortgage pass-through
certificates representing an undivided interest n pools of mortgage loans. The holders of mortgage pass-through
certificates receive their pro rata share of the principal payments made on apool of mortgage loans and interest at a pass-
through interest rate that are fixed at the time of offering. The Company may retain up to a 100% undivided interestin a
significant number of the pools of mortgage loans underlying such pass-through certificates. The retained interest, if
any, may also be subordinated so that, in the event of a loss, payments to certificate holders will be made before the
Company receives its payments. Unlike the issuance of CMOs, the issuance of mortgage pass-through certificates will
not create an obligation of the Company to security holders in the event of borrower default. However, asin the case of
CMOs, the Company may be required to obtain various forms of credit enhancements in order to obtain an investment
grade rating for issues of mortgage pass-through certificates by anationally recognized rating agency.

Conduit Operations

The Conduit Operations, conducted by IFC, purchases primarily non-conforming mortgage loans and, to a lesser
extent, second mortgage loans from its network of third party correspondents and other sellers. IFC subsequently
securitizes and sells loans to permanent investors, including the Long-Term Investment Operations. All mortgage |oans
originated or purchased by IFC will be made available for sale to IMH at prices that are comparable to those available
through third parties at the date of sale and subsequent transfer to IMH. IMH owns all of the preferred stock of, and 99%
of the economic interest in, IFC, while Joseph R. Tomkinson, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, William S. Ashmore,



President and Chief Operating Officer, and Richard J. Johnson, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, are
the holders of all of the outstanding voting stock of, and 1% of the economic interest in, IFC.

As of February 8, 2000, IFC maintained relationships with 263 correspondents. Correspondents originate and close
mortgage loans under IFC’'s mortgage loan programs on a flow (loan-by-loan) basis or through bulk sale commitments.
Correspondents include savings and loan associations, commercial banks, mortgage bankers and mortgage brokers. IFC
can compete effectively with other non-conforming mortgage loan conduits through its efficient loan purchasing
process, flexible purchase commitment options and competitive pricing and by designing non-conforming mortgage
loans to suit the needs of its correspondent loan aiginators and their borrowers, which are intended to provide
sufficient credit quality to itsinvestors. In addition to earnings generated from ongoing securitizations and salesto third-
party investors, |IFC supports the Long-Term Investment Operations of the Company by supplying IMH with non-
conforming mortgage loans and securities backed by such loans.

As a non-conforming mortgage loan conduit, |FC acts as an intermediary between the originators of mortgage |oans
that do not currently meet the guidelines for purchase by government-sponsored entities that guarantee mortgage-
backed securities (i.e. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac) and permanent investors in mortgage-backed securities secured by
or representing an ownership interest in such mortgage loans. IFC also acts as a bulk purchaser of primarily non-
conforming mortgage loans. The Company believes that non-conforming mortgage loans provide an attractive net
earnings profile, producing higher yields without commensurately higher credit risks when compared to mortgage |oans
that qualify for purchase by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac. In addition, based on the Company’s experience in the
mortgage banking industry and in the mortgage conduit business, the Company believes it provides mortgage loan
sellers with an expanded and competitively priced array of non-conforming and, to a lesser extent, B/C Loan products,
timely purchasing of loans, mandatory, best efforts and optional rate-lock commitments, and flexible master commitments.
See “—~Purchase Commitment Processand Pricing.”

Marketing and Production

Marketing Strategy. The Company’s competitive strategy is to be alow-cost national acquirer of mortgage loans to
be held for long-term investment, sold in the secondary market as whole loans or securitized as mortgage-backed
securities. A key feature of this approach is the use of alarge national network of correspondent originators. This allows
the Company to shift the high fixed costs of interfacing with the homeowner to the correspondents. The marketing
strategy for the Conduit Operations is designed to accomplish three objectives: (1) attract a geographically diverse
group of both large and small correspondent loan originators, (2) establish relationships with such correspondents and
facilitate their ability to offer a variety of loan products designed by IFC, and (3) purchase loans and securitize and sell
them in the secondary market or to IMH. In order to accomplish these objectives, IFC designs and offers loan products
that are attractive to potential non-conforming borrowers and to end-investors in non-conforming mortgage loans and
mortgage-backed securities.

IFC has historically emphasized and continues to emphasi ze flexibility in its mortgage loan product mix as part of its
strategy to attract correspondents and establish relationships. IFC also maintains relationships with numerous end-
investors so that it may develop products that they may be interested in as market conditions change, which in turn may
be offered through the correspondent network. As a consequence, IFC is less dependent on acquiring conforming
mortgage loans and has acquired significant volumes of non-conforming loans.

In response to the needs of its non-conforming mortgage loan correspondents, and as part of its strategy to
facilitate the sale of its loans through the Conduit Operations, IFC’s marketing strategy offers efficient response timein
the purchase process, direct and frequent contact with its correspondents through a trained sales force and flexible
commitment programs. Finally, due to the price sensitivity of most homebuyers, IFC is competitivein pricing its products
in order to attract sufficient numbers of borrowers.

The Progressive Series Loan Program. The underwriting guidelines utilized in the Progressive Series Loan Program
(“Progressive Series’), as developed by IFC, are intended to assess the borrower's ability and willingness to repay the
mortgage loan obligation and to assess the adequacy of the mortgaged property as collateral for the mortgage loan.
Progressive Series is designed to meet the needs of borrowers with excellent credit, as well as those with credit that has
been adversely affected. Progressive Series consists of six mortgage loan programs. Each program has different credit



criteria, reserve requirements, qualifying ratios and loan-to-value ratio (“LTV") restrictions. Series | is designed with
credit history and income requirements typical of “A” credit borrowers. In the event aborrower does not fit the series |

criteria, the borrower’s mortgage loan is placed into either series I, I, 111+, IV, V or VI, depending on which series

mortgage loan parameters meets the borrower’s unique credit profile. Series I, I, 11+, 1V, V or VI dlow for less
restrictive standards because of certain compensating or offsetting factors such as alower LTV, verified liquid assets,
job stability, pride of ownership and, in the case of refinance mortgage loans, length of time owning the mortgaged
property. The philosophy of Progressive Seriesis that no single borrower characteristic should automatically determine
whether an application for a mortgage loan should be approved or disapproved. Lending decisions are based on arisk
analysis assessment after the review of the entire mortgage loan file. Each mortgage loan is individually underwritten
with emphasis placed on the overall quality of the mortgage loan. Progressive Series| utilizes an average annual salary to
calculate the debt service-to-income ratio. Salaried borrowers are evaluated based on a 12-month salary history while
self-employed and commission borrowers are evaluated on a 24-month basis. The debt service-to-income ratio for series
| borrowers is required to be within the range of 36% to 50%. Progressive Series I, 11, I11+, 1V, V and VI borrowers are
required to have debt service-to-income ratios within the range of 45% to 60% (calculated on the basis of monthly
income), depending on the LTV of the mortgage |oan.

The Progressive Express Loan Program. In July 1996, IFC developed an additional program to the Progressive
Series, called the Progressive Express Loan Program (“Progressive Express’). The concept of Progressive Expressis to
underwrite loans focusing on the borrower’s Fair Isaac Credit Score (“FICQ”), the borrower’s ability and willingness to
repay the mortgage loan obligation, and assessment of the adequacy of the mortgage property as collateral for the loan.
The FICO was developed by Fair Isaac Co., Inc. of San Rafael, California. It is an electronic evaluation of past and
present credit accounts on the borrower’s credit bureau report. This includes all reported accounts as well as public
records and inquiries. Progressive Express offers six levels of mortgage loan programs. Progressive Express has a
minimum FICO that must be met by the borrower’s primary wage earner and does not allow for exceptions to the FICO
requirement. The FICO requirement is as follows: Progressive Express | - above 680, Progressive Express Il - 680-620,
Progressive Express |11 - 619-601, Progressive Express |V - 600-581, Progressive ExpressV - 580-551, and Progressive |V -
550-500. Each Progressive Express program has different FICO requirements, credit criteria, reserve regquirements, and
LTV restrictions. Progressive Express | is designed for credit history and income requirements typical of “A+" credit
borrowers. In the event aborrower does not fit the Progressive Express| criteria, the borrower’ s mortgage loan is placed
into either Progressive Express I, III, IV, V, VI, depending on which series mortgage loan parameters meets the
borrowers unique credit profile.

Impac Lending Group (“ILG”). ILG began operations in January 1999 and markets, underwrites, processes and
funds mortgage loans for both of the Company’s wholesale and retail customers. Through the wholesale division, ILG
allows mortgage brokers to work directly with the Company to originate, underwrite and fund their mortgage loans.
Many of the Company’s wholesale customers cannot conduct business with the Conduit Operations as correspondent
sellers because they do not meet the higher net worth requirements. Through the retail division, ILG markets mortgage
loans directly to the public. Both the wholesale and retail divisions offer all of the loan programs, including Progressive
Series and Progressive Express, that are offered by the Conduit Operations.

Mortgage Loans Acquired. A majority of mortgage loans purchased by the Conduit Operations are non-conforming
mortgage loans. Currently, the maximum principal balance for a conforming loan is $252,700. Loans that exceed such
maximum principal balance are referred to as “jumbo loans.” Non-conforming mortgage loans generally consist of jumbo
loans or other loans that are originated in accordance with underwriting or product guidelines that differ from those
applied by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Non-conforming loans may involve greater risk as a result of different
underwriting and product guidelines. A portion of the mortgage loans purchased through the Conduit Operations are
B/C Loans, as described below, which may entail greater credit risks than other non-conforming loans. IFC generally
does not acquire mortgage loans with principal balances above $750,000 for “A” quality loans, and $500,000 for B/C
Loans. Non-conforming loans purchased by IFC pursuant to its underwriting programs typically differ from those
purchased pursuant to the guidelines established by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac primarily with respect to required
documentation, LTV ratios, borrower income or credit history, interest rates, borrower occupancy of the mortgaged
property, and/or property types. To the extent that these programs reflect underwriting standards different from those of
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, the performance of loans made may reflect higher delinquency rates and/or credit losses.



IFC’s focus on the acquisition of non-conforming mortgage loans may affect the Company’ s financial performance.
For example, the purchase market of non-conforming loans has typically provided for higher interest rates in order to
compensate for the lower liquidity of such loans, thereby potentially enhancing the interest income earned by the
Company during the accumulation phase for loans held-for-sale and during the holding period for loans held-for-
investment. In addition, due to the lower level of liquidity in the non-conforming loan market, the Company may realize
higher returns upon securitization of such loans than would be realized upon securitization of conforming loans. On the
other hand, such lower levels of liquidity may from time to time cause the Company to hold such loans or other
mortgage-related assets supported by such loans. In addition, by retaining for investment either the loans or other
mortgage-rel ated assets supported by such loans, the Company assumes the potential risk of any increased delinquency
rates and/or credit losses aswell asinterest raterisk.

Mortgage loans acquired by |FC are generally secured by first liens and, to a lesser extent, second liens on single
(one-to-four) family residential properties with either fixed or adjustable interest rates. Fixed rate mortgage loans
(“FRMs") have a constant interest rate over the life of the loan, which is generally 15 or 30 years. The interest rate on
adjustable rate mortgage loans (“ARMS’) are typically tied to an index, such as six-month LIBOR or the one-year
constant maturity Treasury index (“CMT Index”) and are adjustable periodically at various intervals. ARMs are typically
subject to lifetime interest rate caps and periodic interest rate and/or payment caps. The interest rates on ARMs are
typically lower than the average comparable fixed rate loan initially, but may be higher than average comparable fixed rate
loans over the life of the loan. Currently, IFC purchases (1) FRMs that have original terms to maturity ranging from 10 to
30 years, (2) ARMs that adjust based on LIBOR or the CMT Index, and (3) 2-year and 3-year FRMs that adjust to six-
month ARMs approximately two to three years following origination at an interest rate based upon a defined index plus a
spread. Substantially all mortgage loans purchased by IFC fully amortize over their remaining terms. However, IFC may
purchase mortgage |oans with other interest rate and maturity characteristics.

The credit quality of the loans purchased by IFC varies depending upon the specific program under which such
loans are purchased. For example, a principal credit risk inherent in adjustable rate mortgage loans is the potential
“payment shock” experienced by the borrower as rates rise, which could result in increased delinquencies and credit
losses. In the case of negative amortization mortgage loans, a portion of the interest due accrues to the underlying
principal balance of the loan, thereby increasing the LTV ratio of the mortgage loans. As a general rule, mortgage loans
with higher LTV ratios are vulnerable to higher delinquency rates given the borrower’s lower equity investment in the
underlying property. Limited documentation mortgage loans, by contrast, must meet more rigorous criteria for borrower
credit quality in order to compensate for the reduced level of lender review with respect to the borrower’s earnings
history and capacity.

The following table summarizes IFC’s mortgage loan acquisitions by type of loan, including net premiums, for the
periods shown:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
1999 1998

(dollarsin millions,
except for average loan size)
Non-conforming Loans:

V0 10 0 T=X ol o= 2 L= $ 1,669.4 $ 2,234.7

Percent of total VOIUME.........coieiiceiecc sttt 99.9% 99.4%
Conforming Loans:

VOIUME Of [OBINS ...ttt sttt sttt s bt ss st se st ee e $ 23 $ 13.9

Percent of total VOIUME ...ttt e 0.1% 0.6%
Total Mortgage Loan ACQUISITIONS.........cccrireriinsssssss s ssssssssssssssssssssssssens $ 16717 $ 2,248.6
Fixed Rate Loans:

Y0 181 0 T=X ol o= 1T $ 1,037.0 $ 1,893.2

Percent Of t0tal VOIUME ...ttt e 62.0% 84.2%

Adjustable Rate L oans:



A L0 0 10 01l (0= S 634.7 3554

Percent Of total VOIUME ..ot 38.0% 15.8%
Total Mortgage Loan ACQUISITIONS.........cccceurerreiererecsssessssessesss st ssessssssssssssssesssens $ 16717 $ 2,248.6
AVEIAJE LOBN SIZE......ooeeeeeeeeeteete ettt sttt bbb $ 156000 $ 128,000

IFC’s loan purchase activities are expected to continue to focus on those regions of the country where higher
volumes of non-conforming mortgage loans are originated, including California, Florida, New Jersey, New York,
Colorado, Nevada, Texas, Georgia, Maryland and Hawaii. The highest concentration of non-conforming mortgage loans
purchased by IFC relates to properties located in California and Florida because of generally higher property values and
mortgage loan balances. During the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, mortgage loans secured by Californiaand
Florida properties accounted for approximately 44% and 11%, respectively, and 42% and 8%, respectively, of mortgage
loan acquisitions. Of the $1.7 billion in mortgage loans acquired during the year ended December 31, 1999, $880.7 million,
or 53%, were acquired from IFC’s top ten sellers. During the year ended December 31, 1999, Occidental Mortgage
Corporation accounted for $181.7 million, or 11%, of mortgage loans acquired by IFC. No other sellers accounted for
more than 10% of the total mortgage loans acquired by IFC during the year ended December 31, 1999. In addition, IFC
acquired $5.4 million, or 0.3%, of mortgage loans from Walsh Securities, Inc. (“WSI") and $89.2 million, or 5%, of
mortgage loans from ILG, affiliates of the Company. James Walsh, Executive Vice President of WS, is a Director of the
Company. During 1999, ILG operated under the business license of WSI. No sellers other than WS| and ILG are affiliates
of the Company.

A portion of the mortgage loans acquired by IFC are comprised of B/C Loans, as defined by the Company. For the
year ended December 31, 1999, such loans accounted for 10% of IFC'’s total loan acquisitions as compared to 23% of
IFC’s total loan acquisitions during 1998. In general, B/C Loans are residential mortgage loans made to borrowers with
lower credit ratings than borrowers of higher quality, or so called “A” grade mortgage loans, and are normally subject to
higher rates of loss and delinquency than other non-conforming loans purchased by IFC. As a result, B/C Loans
normally bear a higher rate of interest and are typically subject to higher fees (including greater prepayment fees and late
payment penalties) than non-conforming loans of “A” quality. In general, greater emphasis is placed upon the value of
the mortgaged property and, consequently, the quality of appraisals, and less upon the credit history of the borrower in
underwriting B/C Loans than in underwriting “A” grade loans. In addition, B/C Loans are generally subject to lower LTV
ratios than “A” grade loans. Under IFC’s B/C Loan program, underwriting authority is delegated only to correspondents
who meet strict underwriting guidelines established by IFC, see “—Underwriting and Quality Control.”

High Loan-to-Value Loans High loan-to-value loans (“125 Loans") consist of second mortgage loans to qualified
borrowers who have limited access to traditional mortgage-related financing generally because of alack of equity in their
homes. The loans are typically closed-end (usually 15 years), fixed rate, fully-amortizing loans secured by a first or
second lien on the borrower’s primary residence, and are typically used by consumers to pay-off credit card and other
unsecured indebtedness. Almost all of theseloans are made in excess of the value of the underlying collateral available
to secure such loans, up to a maximum of 125% of the property’sLTV ratio. During 1997, IFC purchased $576.1 million of
125 Loans from Preferred Credit Corporation, of which the majority of 125 L oans were subsequently sold and securitized.
As of December 31, 1999, |FC had outstanding 125 L oans held-for-sale of $193,000.

Purchase Commitment Process and Pricing

Master Commitments. As part of its marketing strategy, |FC has established mortgage |oan purchase commitments
(“Master Commitments’) with sellers that, subject to certain conditions, entitle the seller to sell and obligate IFC to
purchase a specified dollar amount of non-conforming mortgage loans over a period generally ranging from six months to
one year. The terms of each Master Commitment specify whether a seller may sell loans to IFC on a mandatory, best
efforts or optional rate-lock basis. Master Commitments do not generally obligate IFC to purchase loans at a specific
price, but rather provide the seller with a future outlet for the sale of its originated loans based on IFC’ s quoted prices at
the time of purchase. Master Commitments specify the types of mortgage loans the seller is entitled to sell to IFC and
generally range from $2 million to $50 million in aggregate committed principal amount. The provisions of IFC's
Seller/Servicer Guide are incorporated in each of the Conduit Operations' Master Commitments and may be modified by



negotiations between the parties. In addition, there are individualized Master Commitment options available to sellers,
which include alternative pricing structures or specialized loan products. In order to obtain a Master Commitment, a seller
may be asked to pay a non-refundable up-front or non-delivery fee, or both, to the Company. As of December 31, 1999,
IFC had outstanding Master Commitments with 88 sellers to purchase mortgage loans in the aggregate principal amount
of $1.9 hillion over periods ranging from six months to one year, of which $747.5 million had been purchased or
committed to be purchased pursuant to rate-locks.

Sellers who have entered into Master Commitments may sell mortgage loans to the Conduit Operations by
executing individual, bulk or other rate-locks (each, a “rate-lock”). Each rate-lock, in conjunction with the related Master
Commitment, specifies the terms of the related sale, including the quantity and price of the mortgage loans or the formula
by which the price will be determined, the rate-lock type and the delivery requirements. Historically, the up-front fee paid
by a seller to IFC to obtain a Master Commitment on a mandatory delivery basis is often refunded pro rata as the seller
delivers loans pursuant to rate-locks. Any remaining fee after the Master Commitment expiresis retained by the Conduit
Operations.

Following the issuance of a specific rate-lock, IFC is subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations and enters into
hedging transactions to diminish such risk. Hedging transactions may include mandatory or optional forward sales of
mortgage loans or mortgage-backed securities, interest rate caps, floors and swaps, mandatory forward sales, mandatory
or optional sales of futures, and other financial futures transactions. The nature and quantity of hedging transactions are
determined by the management of IFC based on various factors, including market conditions and the expected volume of
mortgage loan purchases. Deferred hedging gains and losses are presented on IFC’s balance sheet in mortgage loans
held-for-sale. These deferred amounts are recognized upon the sale or securitization of the related mortgage loans. As of
December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC had $792,000 and $263,000, respectively, of deferred hedging losses included in
mortgage loans held-for-sale.

Bulk and Other Rate-Locks. IFC also acquires mortgage loans from sellers that are not purchased pursuant to
Master Commitments. These purchases may be made on an individual rate-lock basis. Bulk rate-locks obligate the seller
to sell and IFC to purchase a specific group of loans, generally ranging from $1 million to $125 million in aggregate
committed principal amount, at set prices on specific dates. Bulk rate-locks enable | FC to acquire substantial quantities of
loans on a more immediate basis. The specific pricing, delivery and program requirements of these purchases are
determined by negotiation between the parties but are generally in accordance with the provisions of IFC's
Seller/Servicer Guide. Due to the active presence of investment banks and other substantial investorsin this area, bulk
pricing is extremely competitive. Loans are aso purchased from individual sellers (typically smaller originators of
mortgage loans) who do not wish to sell pursuant to either a Master Commitment or bulk rate-lock. The terms of these
individual purchases are based primarily on IFC’s Seller/Servicer Guide and standard pricing provisions.

Mandatory, Best-Efforts and Optional Rate-Locks. Mandatory rate-locks require the seller to deliver a specified
quantity of loans to IFC over a specified period of time regardless of whether the loans are actually originated by the
seller or whether circumstances beyond the seller’s control prevent delivery. IFC is required to purchase al loans
covered by the rate-lock at prices established at the time of rate-lock. If the seller is unable to deliver the specified loans,
it may instead deliver comparable loans approved by IFC within the specified delivery time. Failure to deliver the
specified mortgage loans or acceptable substitute loans under a mandatory rate-lock obligates the seller to pay IFC a
penalty, and, if IFC’s mortgage loan yield requirements have declined, the present value of the difference in yield IFC
would have obtained on the mortgage |oans that the seller agreed to deliver and the yield available on similar mortgage
|oans subject to mandatory rate-lock issued at the time of such failure to deliver. In contrast, mortgage loans sold on a
best-efforts basis must be delivered to IFC only if they are actually originated by the seller. The best-efforts rate-lock
provides sellers with an effective way to sell loans during the origination process without any penalty for failure to
deliver. Optional rate-locks give the seller the option to deliver mortgage loansto IFC at afixed price on afuture date and
requires the payment of up-front fees to IFC. Any up-front fees paid in connection with optional rate-locks are retained
by IFC if theloans are not delivered.

Pricing. IFC sets purchase prices at least once every business day for mortgage loans it acquires for its Conduit
Operations based on prevailing market conditions. Different prices are established for the various types of loans, rate-
lock periods and types of rate-locks (mandatory or best-efforts). IFC’ s standard pricing is based on the anticipated price
it receives upon sale or securitization of the loans, the anticipated interest spread realized during the accumulation
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period, the targeted profit margin and the anticipated issuance, credit enhancement, and ongoing administrative costs
associated with such sale or securitization. The credit enhancement cost component of IFC’s pricing is established for
individual mortgage loans or pools of mortgage loans based upon the characteristics of such loans or loan pools. Asthe
characteristics of the loans or loan pools vary, this cost component is correspondingly adjusted upward or downward to
reflect the variation. IFC’ s adjustments are reviewed periodically by management to reflect changes in the costs of credit
enhancement. Adjustments to IFC’'s standard pricing may also be negotiated on an individual basis under Master
Commitments or bulk or individual rate-locks with sellers. See “—Securitization and Sale Process.”

Purchase Guidelines, Underwriting Methods, Seller Eligibility and Quality Control

Purchase Guidelines. IFC has developed comprehensive purchase guidelines for the acquisition of mortgage loans
by the Conduit Operations. Each loan underwritten assesses the borrower’s FICO, ability and willingness to repay the
mortgage loan obligation and the adequacy of the mortgaged property as collateral for the mortgage loan. Subject to
certain exceptions and the type of loan product, each purchased loan must conform to the loan parameters and eligibility
requirements specified in IFC's Seller/Servicer Guide with respect to, among other things, loan amount, type of property,
LTV ratio, mortgage insurance, credit history, debt service-to-income ratio, appraisal and loan documentation. |FC also
performs a full legal docurrentation review prior to the purchase of all loans. All mortgage loans originated under IFC’s
loan programs are underwritten either by employees of |FC or by contracted mortgage insurance companies or delegated
conduit sellers.

Underwriting Methods. Under all of IFC’s underwriting methods, |oan documentation requirements for verifying the
borrower’s income and assets vary according to LTV ratios and other factors. Generally, as the standards for required
documentation are lowered, the borrowers' down payment requirements are increased and the required LTV ratios are
decreased. The borrower is aso required to have a stronger credit history, larger cash reserves and an appraisal of the
property that is validated by an enhanced desk and field review. Lending decisions are based on a risk analysis
assessment after the review of the entire mortgage loan file. Each mortgage loan is individually underwritten with
emphasis placed on the overall quality of the mortgage loan.

Under the Progressive Series program, IFC underwrites one-to-four family mortgage loans with LTV ratios at
origination of up to 95% of the property’s appraised value, depending on, among other things, a borrower's credit
history, repayment ability and debt service-to-income ratio, as well as the type and use of the mortgaged property.
Second lien financing of the mortgaged properties may be provided by lender’s other than IFC at origination, however,
the combined LTV ratio generally may not exceed 95% of the property’s appraised value. Progressive Express has a
minimum FICO that must be met by the borrower’s primary wage earner and does not alow for exceptions to the FICO
requirement. Each Progressive Express program has different FICO requirements, credit criteria, reserve requirements,
and LTV ratio restrictions. Under the Progressive Express program, |FC underwrites single family dwellings with LTV
ratios at origination of up to 95% of the property’s appraised value. In order for the property to be eligible for the
Progressive Express, it must be a single family residence (1 unit only), condominium, and/or planned unit development.
Under Progressive Express, the borrower must disclose employment and assets on the application, however there is no
verification of theinformation.

IFC uses the program parameters as guidelines only. On a caseby-case basis, IFC may determine that the
prospective mortgagor warrants an exception outside the standard program guidelines. An exception may be allowed if
the loan application reflects certain compensating factors, including (1) the prospective mortgagor has demonstrated an
ability to save and devote a greater portion of income to basic housing needs, (2) the prospective mortgagor may have a
potential for increased earnings and advancement because of education or special job training, even if the prospective
mortgagor has just entered the job market, (3) the prospective mortgagor has demonstrated an ability to maintain a debt
free position, (4) the prospective mortgagor may have short term income that is verifiable but could not be counted as
stable income because it does not meet the remaining term requirements, and (5) the prospective mortgagor's net worth is
substantial enough to suggest that repayment of the loan is within the prospective mortgagor's ability.

IFC does not publish an approved appraiser list for its correspondent sellers. Conduit sellers may select any
appraiser of choice, regardless of the LTV ratio of the related loan, from the seller’s approved appraiser list. At the
discretion of the underwriter, a full appraisal, an enhanced desk review appraisal, or a field review appraisal may be
required.
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Seller Eligibility Requirements. Mortgage loans acquired by the Conduit Operations are originated by various
sellers, including savings and loan associations, banks, mortgage bankers and other mortgage brokers. Sellers are
required to meet certain regulatory, financial, insurance and performance requirements established by IFC before they are
eligible to participate in its mortgage loan purchase program, and must submit to periodic reviews by IFC to ensure
continued compliance with these requirements. IFC’s current criteriafor seller participation generally includes a minimum
tangible net worth requirement of $300,000, approval as a Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac Seller/Servicer in good standing, a
Housing and Urban Development approved mortgagee in good standing or a financial institution that is insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC") or comparable federal or state agency, and that the seller is examined by
a federal or state authority. In addition, sellers are required to have comprehensive loan origination quality control
procedures. In connection with its qualification, each seller entersinto an agreement that generally provides for recourse
by IFC against the seller in the event of a breach of representations or warranties made by the seller with respect to
mortgage loans sold to IFC, which includes but is not limited to any fraud or misrepresentation during the mortgage loan
origination process or upon early payment default on such loans.

The underwriting program consists of three separate subprograms. IFC's principal delegated underwriting
subprogram is afully delegated program designed for loan sellers that meet higher financial and performance criteria than
those applicable to sellers generally. Generally, qualifying sellers have tangible net worth of at least $1.5 million and are
granted delegated underwriting authority to a maximum loan amount of $500,000 for dl mortgage products under this
subprogram. The second subprogram is a delegated program pursuant to which sellers have tangible net worth of
$500,000 to $1.5 million and are granted delegated underwriting authority to a maximum loan amount of $300,000. The
third program is for sellers with tangible net worth of $300,000 to $500,000 in which sellers are under IFC' s non-del egated
underwriting program.

IFC has established a delegated underwriting program, which is similar in concept to the delegated underwriting
programs established by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Under this program, qualified sellers are required to underwrite
loans in compliance with IFC’s underwriting guidelines as set forth in IFC's Seller/Servicer Guide and by individua
Master Commitment. In order to determine a seller’s eligibility to perform under its delegated underwriting program, an
internal review is undertaken by IFC’'s loan committee. In connection with its approval, the seller must represent and
warrant to |FC that all mortgage loans sold to IFC will comply with IFC’s underwriting guidelines. The current financial,
historical loan quality and other criteria for seller participation in this program generally include a minimum net worth
requirement and verification of the seller’s good standing, including the seller's experience and demonstrated
performance, with Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. IFC periodicaly reviews the sellers participating in its delegated
underwriting program and will retain those sellersthat it believes are productive.

Mortgage loans acquired under IFC’'s non-delegated underwriting program are either fully underwritten by IFC’'s
underwriting staff or involve the use of contract underwriters. IFC has contracted with several national mortgage
insurance firms that cmnduct contract underwriting for mortgage loan acquisitions by IFC. Under these contracts, IFC
relies on the credit review and analysis of the contract underwriter, as well as its own pre-purchase eligibility review to
ensure that the loan meets program acceptance, its own follow-up quality control procedures, and the representations
and warranties of the contract underwriter. Loans that are not acquired under either delegated or contract underwriter
methods are fully underwritten by IFC’s underwriting staff. In such cases, |FC performs afull credit review and analysis
to ensure compliance with its loan eligibility requirements. This review specifically includes, among other things, an
analysis of the underlying property and associated appraisal, and an examination of the credit, employment and income
history of the borrower. Under al of these methods, loans are purchased only after completion of alegal documentation
and eligibility criteriareview.

Quality Control. IFC performs a post-closing quality control review on a minimum of 25% of the mortgage loans
originated or acquired under the Progressive Series and Progressive Express programs for complete re-verification of
employment, income and liquid assets used to qualify for such mortgage loans. Such reviews also include procedures
intended to detect evidence of fraudulent documentation and/or imprudent activity during the processing, funding,
servicing or selling of the mortgage loans. Verification of occupancy and applicable information is made by regular mail.

Securitization and Sale Process



General. The Conduit Operations primarily utilizes warehouse lines of credit and equity to finance the acquisition of
mortgage loans from correspondents. When a sufficient volume of mortgage loans with similar characteristics has been
accumulated, generally $100 million to $350 million, IFC will securitize them through the issuance of mortgage-backed
securities in the form of REMICs or resell them as bulk whole loan sales. The period between the time IFC commits to
purchase mortgage loans and the time it sells or securitizes such mortgage loans generally ranges from 10 to 90 days,
depending on certain factors including the length of the purchase commitment period, the loan volume by product type
and the securitization process.

Any decision by IFC to issue REMICs or to sell the loans in bulk is influenced by a variety of factors. REMIC
transactions are generally accounted for as sales of the mortgage loans and can eliminate or minimize any long-term
residual investment in such loans. REMIC securities consist of one or more classes of “regular interests” and a single
class of “residual interest.” The regular interests are tailored to the needs of investors and may be issued in multiple
classes with varying maturities, average lives and interest rates. These regular interests are predominantly senior
securities but, in conjunction with providing credit enhancement, may be subordinated to the rights of other regular
interests. The residual interest represents the remainder of the cash flows from the mortgage loans (including, in some
instances, reinvestment income) over the amounts required to be distributed to the regular interests. In some cases, the
regular interests may be structured so that there is no significant residual cash flow, thereby allowing IFC to sell itsentire
interest in the mortgage loans. As a result, in some cases, al of the capital originally invested in the mortgage loans by
the Company is redeployed in the Conduit Operations.

Each series of mortgage-backed securities is typically fully payable from the mortgage assets underlying such
series, and the recourse of investors is limited to such assets and any associated credit enhancement features, such as
senior/subordinated structures. To the extent the Company holds subordinated securities, the Company generally bears
all losses prior to the related senior security holders. Generally, any losses in excess of the credit enhancement obtained
are borne by the security holders. Except in the case of abreach of the standard representations and warranties made by
the Company when mortgage loans are securitized, such securities are non-recourse to the Company. Typicaly, the
Company has recourse to the sellers of loans for any such breaches, but there are no assurances of the sellers’ abilities
to honor their respective obligations.

Credit Enhancement. REMICs created by the Conduit Operations are structured so that one or more of the classes
of such securities are rated investment grade by at least one nationally recognized rating agency. In contrast to Agency
Certificates (pass-through certificates guaranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac) in which the principal and interest
payments are guaranteed by the U.S. government or one of its agencies, securities created by the Conduit Operations do
not benefit from any such guarantee. The ratings for the Conduit Operations’ REMICs are based upon the perceived
credit risk by the applicable rating agency of the underlying mortgage loans, the structure of the securities and the
associated level of credit enhancement. Credit enhancement is designed to provide protection to the security holdersin
the event of borrower defaults and other losses including those associated with fraud or reductions in the principal
balances or interest rates on mortgage loans as required by law or a bankruptcy court.

The Conduit Operations can utilize multiple forms of credit enhancement, including special hazard insurance, private
mortgage insurance reserve funds, letters of credit, surety bonds, over-collateralization and subordination or any
combination of the foregoing. In determining whether to provide credit enhancement through subordination or other
credit enhancement methods, the Conduit Operations takes into consideration the costs associated with each method.
Ratings of mortgage-backed securities are based primarily upon the characteristics of the pool of underlying mortgage
loans and associated credit enhancement. A decline in the credit quality of such pools (including delinquencies and/or
credit losses above initial expectations), or of any third-party credit enhancer, or adverse developments in general
economic trends affecting real estate values or the mortgage industry, could result in downgrades of such ratings.

In connection with the securitization of B/C Loans, the levels of subordination required as credit enhancement for
the more senior classes of securities issued are higher than those with respect to its “A” grade non-conforming loans.
Similarly, in connection with the securitization of mortgage loans secured by second liens, the levels of subordination
required as credit enhancement for the more senior classes of securities issued are higher than those with respect to its
mortgage loans secured by first liens. Thus, to the extent that the Company retains any of the subordinated securities
created in connection with such securitizations and losses with respect to such pools of B/C Loans or mortgage loans
secured by second liens are higher than expected, the Company’ s future earnings could be adversely affected.
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Master Servicing and Servicing
Master Servicing

General. IFC generaly performs the function of master servicer with respect to mortgage loans it sells and
securitizes. The master servicer’'s function includes collecting loan payments from servicers of loans and remitting loan
payments, less master servicing fees receivable and other fees, to a trustee or other purchaser for each series of
mortgage-backed securities or loans master serviced. In addition, as master servicer, IFC monitors compliance with its
servicing guidelines and is required to perform, or to contract with athird party to perform, all obligations not adequately
performed by any servicer. A master servicer typically employs servicers to arry out servicing functions. Servicers
typically perform servicing functions for the master servicer as independent contractors. In addition, IFC acts as the
master servicer for all loans acquired by the Long-Term Investment Operations. With respect to its function as a master
servicer for loans owned by IMH, IFC and IMH have entered into agreements having terms substantially similar to those
described below for servicing agreements. Master servicing fees range from 0.01% per annum to 0.03% per annum on the
declining principal balances of the loans serviced. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC’'s master servicing portfolio
was $2.9 billion and $3.7 billion, respectively.

IFC offersits sellers of mortgage loans the right to retain servicing. However, in connection with its warehouse line
from IWLG, any such servicers of the mortgage loans would have to be approved by IWLG. In the case of servicing
retained mortgage loans, the Company will enter into servicing agreements with the sellers of mortgage loans to service
the mortgage loans they sell to the Company. Each servicing agreement will require the servicer to service the
Company’s mortgage loans in a manner generally consistent with Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac guidelines and
procedures and with any servicing guidelines promulgated by the Company. Each servicer will collect and remit principal
and interest payments, administer mortgage escrow accounts, submit and pursue insurance claims, and initiate and
supervise foreclosure proceedings on the mortgage loans serviced. Each servicer will also provide accounting and
reporting services required by the Company for such loans. The servicer will be required to follow such collection
procedures as are customary in the industry. The servicer may, at its discretion, arrange with a defaulting borrower a
schedule for the liquidation of delinquencies, provided primary mortgage insurance coverage is not adversely affected.
Each servicing agreement will provide that the servicer may not assign any of its obligations with respect to the
mortgage |oans serviced for the Company, except with the Company’ s consent.

The following table summarizes delinquency statistics for IFC's master servicing portfolio based on principal
balance for the periods shown (dollarsin millions):

At December 31, 1999 At December 31, 1998

Principal % of Principal % of
Balance M aster Balance M aster
of Loans Servicing of Loans  Servicing
Portfolio Portfolio
Loans delinquent for:
30-59 dAYS....euereeirenireie ettt bbb $ 1284 446% $ 1727 4.65%
B0-8O dAYS....cuereuienireie ettt st 308 1.07 46.7 126
LS00 OO 211 0.73 515 1.39
180.3 6.26 2709 7.30
FOreclosures PENAING ......cccovieerieeeseeess s ssssesenas 47.0 164 5.7 147
BankruptCiesS PENAING.......ccccveeiieeseeess s sssssssssssesenas 26.9 0.93 259 0.70
Total delinquencies, foreclosures and bankruptcies ...........c..c.... $ 254.2 883% $ 3515 9.47%

Master Servicing Fees. The Company expects from time to time to retain master servicing fees receivable. Master
servicing fees receivable have characteristics similar to “interest-only” securities; accordingly, they have many of the
same risks inherent in “interest-only” securities, including the risk that they will lose a substantial portion of their value
as aresult of rapid prepayments occasioned by declining interest rates. Master servicing fees receivable represent the
present value of the difference between the interest rate on mortgage loans purchased by the Conduit Operations and
the interest rate received by investors who purchase the securities backed by such loans, in excess of the normal loan
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servicing fees charged by either (1) the Conduit Operations on loans acquired “ servicing released” or (2) correspondents
who sold loans to the Conduit Operations with “ servicing retained” (the “Excess Servicing Fees’). At December 31, 1999
and 1998, the Company had no master servicing fees receivable.

To the extent that servicing fees on a mortgage loan exceed an adequate compensation (typically ranging from
0.25% to 0.50% per annum of the mortgage loan principal amount), the Conduit Operations will generate master servicing
fees receivable as an asset that represents an estimated present value of those excess fees assuming a certain
prepayment rate on the mortgage loan. In determining present value of future cash flows, the Conduit Operations will use
a market discount rate. Prepayment assumptions will be based on recent evaluations of the actual prepayments of the
Conduit Operations' servicing portfolio or on market prepayment rates on new portfolios on which the Conduit
Operations has no experience and the interest rate environment at the time the master servicing fees receivable are
created. Management of the Company believes that, depending upon the level of interest rates from time to time,
investments in current coupon master servicing fees receivable may be prudent, and if interest rates rise, these
investments will mitigate declines in income that may occur in the Conduit Operations. IFC intends to hold the master
servicing fees receivable for investment. Currently, the secondary market for master servicing fees receivableislimited.
Accordingly, if IFC had to sell these receivables, the value received may or may not be at or above the values at which
IFC carried them on its balance sheet.

Servicing

General. IFC subcontracts all of its servicing obligations under such loans to independent third parties pursuant to
sub-servicing agreements. |FC believes that the selection of third-party sub-servicersis more effective than establishing
a servicing department within the Company. However, part of IFC's responsibility is to continually monitor the
performance of the sub-servicers through monthly performance reviews and regular site visits. Depending on these sub-
servicer reviews, the Company may in the future rely on its internal collection group to take an ever more active role to
assist the sub-servicer in the servicing of these loans. Servicing includes collecting and remitting loan payments, making
required advances, accounting for principal and interest, holding escrow or impound funds for payment of taxes and
insurance, if applicable, making required inspections of the mortgaged property, contacting delinquent borrowers, and
supervising foreclosures and property dispositions in the event of unremedied defaults in accordance with the
Company’s guidelines. Servicing fees range from 0.25% per annum for FRMs to 0.50% per annum for B/C Loans and
ARMs on the declining principal balances of loans serviced.

IFC generally acquires substantially all of its loans on a “servicing released” basis, particularly in the case of the
acquisition of B/C Loans due to its belief that control over the servicing and collection functions with respect to B/C
Loansisimportant to the realization of a satisfactory return, and thereby acquires the servicing rights. To the extent IFC
finances the acquisition of such loans with its warehouse line with IWLG, IFC pledges such loans and the related
servicing rights to IWLG as collateral. As aresult, IWLG has an absolute right to control the servicing of such loans
(including the right to collect payments on the underlying mortgage loans) and to foreclose upon the underlying real
property in the case of default. Typically, IWLG delegatesits right to service the mortgage |oans securing the warehouse
lineto IFC.

The following table summarizes certain information regarding IFC's servicing portfolio of mortgage loans for the
periods shown (dollarsin millions, except average |oan size):

Year ended Y ear ended
December 31, December 31,
1999 1998

Beginning servicing POrtfolio ... $ 37140 $ 3,028.6
Add: L0oan aCqUISITIONS........cccerererereeireressesisesesssseresessssesessssesesesssssesessasseens 1,647.7 2,198.3

Less: Servicing tranSferred (1) ..o sesessesseeens (2,270.8) Y
PrinCipal PAYJOWNS (2) ..ot sessssessesessesssseseens (697.5) (1,512.9
Ending servicing POrtfoli0 ... ssesessssssenenas $ 2,3934 $ 3,714.0
NUumber Of [08NS SEIVICEd........ccuvierireeeirerrer e 22,096 33414
AVETAgE [OAN SIZE ...ttt ae sttt ettt aens $ 108,000 $ 111,000
Weighted average iNtereSt rate........ccovvveceveveerserenee s ssssseens 9.43% 947%
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(1) Includes loan sales on a servicing released basis of $1.5 billion and the sale of servicing rights on the unpaid
principal balance of $784.3 million. When loans are sold from the servicing portfolio on a servicing released basis,
the Company generally sub-services such loans from the sales contract date to the transfer date. When servicing
rights on loans are sold, the Company generally retainsits function as master servicer.

(2) Includesnormal principal runoff and principal prepayments.

Mortgage Servicing Rights. When the Conduit Operations purchases |oans which include the associated servicing
rights, the allocated price paid for the servicing rights is reflected on its financial statements as Mortgage Servicing
Rights (“MSRs”). MSRs differ from master servicing fees receivable primarily by the required amount of servicing to be
performed, the loss exposure to the owner of the instrument, and the financial liquidity of the instrument. In contrast to
M SRs, where the owner of the instrument acts as the servicer, master servicing fees receivable do not require the owner
of the instrument to service the underlying mortgage loan. In addition, master servicing fees receivable subject their
ownersto greater loss exposure from delinquencies or foreclosure on the underlying mortgage loans than M SRs because
a master servicer stands behind the servicer (or sub-servicer) and potentially the owner of the mortgage loan in priority
of payment. Both MSRs and master servicing fees receivable are purchased and sold in the secondary markets. However,
MSRs are generally more liquid and can be sold at less of a discount as compared to master servicing fees receivable.
During periods of declining interest rates, prepayments of mortgage loans increase as homeowners look to refinance at
lower rates, resulting in a decrease in the value of the Company’s MSRs. Mortgage loans with higher interest rates are
more likely to result in prepayments. At December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC had $15.6 million and $14.1 million, respectively,
of MSRs.

Warehouse L ending Operations

The Warehouse Lending Operations, conducted by IWLG, provides warehouse and repurchase financing to
affiliated companies and to approved mortgage banks, most of which are correspondents of IFC, to finance mortgage
loans during the time from the closing of the loans to their sale or other settlement with pre-approved investors.
Generally, the non-conforming mortgage loans funded with such warehouse lines of credit are acquired by IFC. IWLG's
warehouse lines are non-recourse and IWL G can only ook to the sale or liquidation of the mortgage loans as a source of
repayment. Any claim of IWLG as a secured lender in a bankruptcy proceeding may be subject to adjustment and delay.
Borrowings under the warehouse facilities are presented on the Company’ s balance sheets as finance receivables. IFC’'s
outstanding warehouse line balances on IWLG's balance sheet are structured to qualify under REIT asset tests and to
generate income qualifying under the 75% gross income test. Terms of affiliated warehouse lines are based on Bank of
America’s prime rate with advance rates between 90% and 98% of the fair value of the mortgage loans outstanding.
Outstanding warehouse line balances to non-affiliates on IWLG’ s balance sheet do not qualify under REIT asset tests
and do not generate income qualifying under the 75% gross income test. Terms of non-affiliated warehouse lines,
including the commitment amount, are determined based upon the financial strength, historical performance and other
qualifications of the borrower. See “Item 7. Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Conduit (perations’ for a more detailed discussion of IWLG's
warehouse lineto IFC.

Regulation

The rules and regulations applicable to the Conduit Operations, among other things, prohibit discrimination and
establish underwriting guidelines that include provisions for inspections and appraisals, require credit reports on
prospective borrowers, and fix maximum loan amounts. Mortgage loan acquisition activities are subject to, among other
laws, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, Federal Truth-in-Lending Act and the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act and
the regulations promulgated that prohibit discrimination and require the disclosure of certain basic information to
mortgagors concerning credit terms and settlement costs. IFC is an approved Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
seller/servicer. IFC is subject to the rules and regulations of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac with respect to acquiring,
processing, selling and servicing conforming mortgage loans. In addition, IFC is required annually to submit to Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac audited financial statements, and each regulatory entity has its own financial requirements for
sellerg/servicers. For any conforming mortgage loan activities, IFC's affairs are also subject to examination by Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac at any time to assure compliance with the applicable regulations, policies and procedures.
Additionally, there are various state and local laws and regulations affecting the Conduit Operations. Mortgage
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operations also may be subject to applicable state usury statutes. The Company is presently in material compliance with
al material rules and regulations to which it is subject.

Competition

In purchasing non-conforming mortgage loans and issuing securities backed by such loans, the Company
competes with established mortgage conduit programs, investment banking firms, savings and loan associations, banks,
thrift and loan associations, finance companies, mortgage bankers, insurance companies, other lenders and other entities
purchasing mortgage assets. The continued consolidation in the mortgage banking industry may also reduce the number
of current sellers available to the Conduit Operations, thus reducing the Company’ s potential customer base, resulting in
IFC’s purchasing a larger percentage of mortgage loans from a smaller number of sellers. Such changes could negatively
impact the Conduit Operations. Mortgage-backed securities issued by the Conduit Operations and the Long-Term
Investment Operations face competition from other investment opportunities available to prospective investors. The
Company faces competition in its Conduit Operations and Warehouse Lending Operations from other financial
institutions, including but not limited to banks and investment banks. Many of the institutions with which the Company
competes in its Conduit Operations and Warehouse Lending Operations have significantly greater financial resources
than the Company. However, IFC can compete effectively with other non-conforming mortgage loan conduits through its
efficient loan purchasing process, flexible purchase commitment options and competitive pricing and by designing non-
conforming mortgage loans to suit the needs of its correspondent loan originators and their borrowers, while providing
sufficient credit quality to itsinvestors.

Employees

As of December 31, 1999, the Company had 185 employees, 13 of which were employed by IWLG. Employees and
operating management of the Long-Term Investment Operations and Conduit Operations are employed by IFC. As of
December 31, 1999, IFC had 172 employees. The Company believes that relations with its employees are good. The
Company is not a party to any collective bargaining agreement.

Risk Factors

In addition to the other information in this Form 10-K, the following factors should be considered in evaluating the
Company and its business.

Inability to Generate Liquidity May Adversely Affect Our Operations

We must access liquidity to continue our operations, grow our asset base and pay dividends. We have traditionally
derived our liquidity from three sources:

financing facilities provided to us by others to acquire mortgage assets;
whole loan sales and securitizations of acquired mortgage loans; and
sale of equity securities.

Margin Calls on Financing Facilities May Adversely Affect Our Operations

Prior to the fourth quarter of 1998, we generally had no difficulty in obtaining favorable financing facilities or in
selling acquired mortgage loans. However, during the fourth quarter of 1998 the mortgage industry experienced
substantial turmoil as a result of a lack of liquidity in the secondary markets. At that time, investors expressed
unwillingness to purchase interestsin securitizations due in part to:

higher than expected credit |osses on many companies’ securitization interests, and
the widening of returns expected by institutional investors on securitization interests over the
prevailing Treasury rate.

As aresult, many mortgage loan originators, including our company, were unable to access the securitization market
on favorable terms, which resulted in some companies declaring bankruptcy. Originators, like our company, were
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required to sell loans on a whole loan basis and liquidate holdings of mortgage-backed securities to repay financing
facilities. However, the large influx of loans available for sale on awhole |oan basis affected the pricing offered for these
loans which in turn reduced the value of the collateral underlying the financing facilities. Therefore, many providers of
financing facilities initiated margin calls. Margin calls resulted when our lenders evaluated the market value of the
collateral securing our financing facilities and required us to provide them with additional equity or collateral to secure
our borrowings.

Our financing facilities are short-term borrowings and due to the turmoil in the mortgage industry during the latter
part of 1998 many traditional providers of financing facilities were unwilling to provide facilities on favorable terms, or at
al. If we cannot renew or replace maturing borrowings, we may have to sell, on a whole loan basis, the loans securing
these facilities which, depending upon market conditions, may result in substantial losses.

Dependence on Securitizations for Liquidity

We rely significantly upon securitizations to generate cash proceeds to repay borrowings and to create credit
availability. Any reduction in our ability to complete securitizations may require us to utilize other sources of financing,
which may be on less than favorable terms. In addition, gains on sales from our securitizations represent a significant
portion of our earnings. Several factors could affect our ability to complete securitizations of our mortgages, including:

conditionsin the securities markets;

the credit quality of the mortgage loans originated or purchased by our Conduit Operations,
the volume of our mortgage loan originations and purchases; and

our ability to obtain credit enhancement.

If we are unable to profitably securitize a significant number of our mortgage loans in a particular financia reporting
period, then it could result in lower income or a loss for that period. As aresult of turmoil in the securitization market
during the latter part of 1998, many mortgage lenders, including our company, were required to sell mortgage loans on a
whole loan basis under adverse market conditionsin order to generate liquidity. Many of these sales were made at prices
lower than our carrying value of the mortgage loans and we experienced losses. We cannot assure you that we will be
able to continue to profitably sell our loans on awhole loan basis, or at al.

Gains on sales from our securitizations have historically represented a substantial portion of our earnings. Our
ability to complete securitizations is dependent upon general conditions in the securities and secondary markets and the
credit quality of the mortgage loans. In addition, delays in closing sales of our loans increases our risk by increasing the
warehousing period for the loans, further exposing our company to credit risk.

The market for first loss risk securities (securities that first take a loss when mortgages are not paid by the
borrowers) is generally limited. In connections with our securitizations, we will endeavor to sell al securities subjecting
us to afirst loss risk. If we cannot sell these securities, then we may be required to hold them for an extended period,
subjecting usto afirst lossrisk.

Inability to Access Capital Markets May Adversely Affect Our Liquidity and Operations

Although we believe our current operating cash flows are sufficient to fund our lending activities and the growth of
our mortgage assets, to repay our financing facilities and to pay cash dividends, we continue to explore alternatives for
increasing our liquidity through additional asset sales and capital raising efforts. However, we cannot assure you that
any of these alternatives will be available to us, or if available, that we will be able to negotiate favorable terms. If we
cannot raise cash by selling debt and equity securities, we may be forced to sell our assets at unfavorable prices or
discontinue various business activities. Our inability to access the capital markets could have a negative impact on our
earnings and ability to pay dividends.

REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code require us to distribute to our stockholders substantially all of our
taxable income. These provisions restrict our ability to retain earnings and renew capital for our business activities. We
may decide in future periods not to be treated as a REIT, which would cause us to be taxed at the corporate level and to
cease paying regular dividends. Also, to date alarge portion of our dividends to stockholders consisted of distributions
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by our Conduit Operations subsidiary to our Long-Term Investment Operations entity. However, our Conduit
Operations was not, and is not, required under the REIT provisions to make these distributions. Since we are trying to
retain earnings for future growth, we may not cause our Conduit Operations subsidiary to make these distributionsin the
future. Thiswould materially affect the amount of dividends, if any, paid by usto our stockholders.

Our Prior History is Not Reflective of Future Performance

Our historical financial performance is of limited relevance in predicting our future performance. We began our
operations in November 1995. Our future operating results will depend largely upon our ability to expand our long-term
investment operations, our conduit operations and our warehouse lending operations. We cannot assure you that we
will be able to successfully grow or that our operations will be profitable in the future. We cannot assure you that any
prior rates of growth can be sustained or that they are indicative of future results. It is unlikely that any of our future
dividends will be equal to or more than those dividends we have paid in the past.

The loans we purchased to date and included in our securitizations have been outstanding for a relatively short
period of time and our delinquency and loss experience to date may not be indicative of future results. It is unlikely that
we will be able to maintain our delinquency and loan loss ratios at their present levels as our portfolio becomes more
seasoned.

Our Borrowings and Substantial L everage May Cause L osses
Risks of Use of Collateralized Mortgage Obligations

To grow our investment portfolio, we borrow a substantial portion of the market value of substantially all of our
investments in mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities. We currently prefer to use mllateralized mortgage
obligations as financing vehicles to increase our leverage, since mortgage loans held for collateralized mortgage
obligation collateral are retained for investment rather than sold in a secondary market transaction. Retaining mortgage
loans as collateralized mortgage obligation collateral exposes our operations to greater credit losses than the use of
securitization techniques that are treated as sales. In creating a collateralized mortgage obligation, we make a cash equity
investment to fund collateral in excess of the amount of the securities issued. If we experience credit losses on the pool
of loans subject to the collateralized mortgage obligation greater than we expected, the value of our equity investment
decreases and we would have to adjust the value of the investment in our financial statements.

Cost of Borrowings May Exceed Return on Assets

The cost of borrowings under our financing facilities corresponds to a referenced interest rate plus or minus a
margin. The margin varies depending on factors such as the nature and liquidity of the underlying collateral and the
availability of financing in the market. We will experience net interest losses if the returns on our assets financed with
borrowed funds fail to cover the cost of our borrowings.

Default Risks Under Financing Facilities

If we default under our collateralized borrowings, our lenders could force usto liquidate the collateral. If the value of
the collateral is less than the amount borrowed, we would be required to pay the difference in cash. If we were to declare
bankruptcy, some of our reverse repurchase agreements may obtain special treatment and our creditors would then be
allowed to liquidate the collateral without any delay. On the other hand, if a lender with whom we have a reverse
repurchase agreement declares bankruptcy, we might experience difficulty repurchasing our collateral, or enforcing our
claim for damages, and it is possible that our claim could be repudiated and we could be treated as an unsecured creditor.
If this occurs, our claims would be subject to significant delay and we may receive substantially less than our actual
damages.

Risk of Lack of Return of Investment on Liquidation

We have pledged a substantial portion of our assets to secure the repayment of collateralized mortgage obligations
issued in securitizations, our financing facilities or other borrowings. We will also pledge substantially all of our current
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and future mortgage loans to secure borrowings pending their securitization or sale. The cash flows we receive from our
investments that have not yet been distributed, pledged or used to acquire mortgage |oans or other investments may be
the only unpledged assets available to our unsecured creditors and you if our company were liquidated.

Interest Rate Fluctuations May Adversely Affect Our Operating Results

Our operations, each as a mortgage loan originator and warehouse lender, may be adversely affected by rising and
falling interest rates. Higher interest rates may discourage potential borrowers from refinancing mortgages, borrowing to
purchase homes or seeking second mortgages. This may decrease the amount of mortgages available to be acquired by
our conduit operations and decrease the demand for warehouse financing provided by our warehouse lending
operations to originators of mortgage loans. If short-term interest rates exceed long-term interest rates, thereis a higher
risk of increased loan prepayments, as borrowers may seek to refinance their mortgage loans at lower long-term interest
rates. Increased loan prepayments could lead to a reduction in the number of loans we service, the fees we receive for
loan servicing and our loan servicing income.

We are subject to the risk of rising mortgage interest rates between the time we commit to purchase mortgages at a
fixed price and the time we sell or securitize those mortgages. An increase in interest rates will generally result in a
decrease in the market value of mortgages that we have committed to purchase at a fixed price, but have not yet sold or
securitized.

Risks of Repricing of Assetsand Liabilities

Our principal source of revenue is net interest income or net interest spread, which is the difference between the
interest we earn on our interest earning assets and the interest we pay on our interest bearing liabilities. The rates we pay
on our borrowings are independent of the rates we earn on our assets and may be subject to more frequent periodic rate
adjustments. Therefore, we could experience a decrease in net interest income or a net interest |oss because the interest
rates on our borrowings could increase faster than the interest rates on our assets. If our net interest spread becomes
negative, we will be paying more interest on our borrowings than we will be earning on our assets and we will be exposed
to asignificant risk of loss.

Additionally, the rates paid on our borrowings and the rates received on our assets may be based upon different
indices (i.e., LIBOR, U.S. Treasuries, etc.). If the index used to determine the rate on our borrowings increases faster than
the index used to determine the rate on our assets, we will experience a declining net interest spread which will have a
negative impact on our profitability and may result in losses.

Risks of Adjustable Rate Mortgages

A significant portion of the mortgage assets held by our long-term investment operations are adjustable rate
mortgages or bear interest based upon short-term interest rate indices. We generally fund these mortgage assets with
borrowings. To the extent that there is a difference between the interest rate index used to determine the interest rate on
our adjustable rate mortgage assets and the interest rate index used to determine the borrowing rate for our related
financing, our business may be negatively impacted.

Interest Rate Caps
Adjustable rate mortgages typically have interest rate caps which limit interest rates charged to the borrower during
any given period. Our borrowings are not subject to similar restrictions. In a period of rapidly increasing interest rates,
the interest rates we pay on our borrowings could increase without limitation, while the interest rates we earn on our
adjustable rate mortgage assets would be capped. If this occurs, our net earnings could be significantly reduced or we
could suffer anet interest loss.

Payment Caps

Some of our adjustable rate mortgages may be subject to payment caps meaning some portion of the interest
accruing on the mortgage is deferred and added to the principal outstanding. Our borrowings do not have similar
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provisions. This could cause us to receive less cash on our adjustable rate assets than the interest due on our related
borrowings. Also, the increased principal amount outstanding as aresult of interest deferral may result in ahigher rate of
defaults on these loans.

Our Quarterly Operating Results May Fluctuate

Our results of operations, and more specifically our earnings, may significantly fluctuate from quarter to quarter
based on several factors, including:

changesin the amount of loans we originate;

differences between our cost of funds on borrowings and the average interest rates earned on our
|oans;

inability or decisions not to complete significant bulk whole loan sales or securitizationsin a particular
quarter; and

problems generally affecting the mortgage loan industry.

A delay in closing a particular mortgage loan sale or securitization would also increase our exposure to interest rate
fluctuations by lengthening the period during which our variable rate borrowings under our warehouse facilities are
outstanding. If we were unable to sell a sufficient number of mortgage loans at a premium during a particular reporting
period, our revenues for that period would decline, which could have a material adverse affect on our operations. As a
result, our stock price could also fluctuate.

Our Share Prices Have Been and May Continueto be Highly Volatile

Historically, the market price of our common stock has been extremely volatile. During the fourth quarter of 1998 our
stock reached a high of $13.50 and a low of $2.75. On December 31, 1999, the closing sale price was $4.13. The market
price of our common stock is likely to continue to be highly volatile and could be significantly affected by factors
including:

availability of liquidity;

volatility in the securitization market;

wholeloan sale pricing;

margin calls by warehouse lenders;

actual or anticipated fluctuationsin our operating results;
interest rates;

prepayments on mortgages;

valuations of securitization related assets;

cost of funds; and

general market conditions.

In addition, significant price and volume fluctuations in the stock market have particularly affected the market prices
for the common stocks of specialty finance companies such as ours. These broad market fluctuations have adversely
affected and may continue to adversely affect the market price of our common stock. If our results of operations fail to
meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors in a future quarter, the market price of our common stock could
also be materially adversely affected.

Prepayments of Mortgage Loans May Adversely Affect Our Operations

Mortgage prepayments generally increase when fixed mortgage interest rates fall below the then-current interest
rates on outstanding adjustable rate mortgage loans. Prepayments on mortgage loans are also affected by the terms and
credit grades of the loans and general economic conditions. Most of our adjustable rate mortgages and those backing
mortgage-backed securities are originated within six months of the time we purchased the mortgages and generally bear
initial interest rates which are lower than their “fully -indexed” amount (the applicable index plus the margin). If we acquire
these mortgages at a premium and they are prepaid prior to or soon after the time of adjustment to afully-indexed rate, we
would not have received interest at the fully-indexed rate during such period. This means we would lose the opportunity

21



to earn interest at that rate over the expected life of the mortgage. Also, if prepayments on our adjustable rate mortgage
loans increase when interest rates are declining, our net interest income may decrease if we cannot reinvest the
prepayments in mortgage assets bearing comparabl e rates.

We currently acquire mortgages on a “servicing released” basis, meaning we acquire both the mortgages and the
rights to service them. This strategy requires us to pay a higher purchase price or premium for the mortgages. If any
mortgage loans that we acquired at a premium are prepaid, generally accepted accounting principles require us to
immediately write-off any remaining capitalized premium amount, which would decrease our interest income.

Value of Our Portfolio of Mortgage-Backed Securities May be Adversely Affected

We invest in mortgage-backed securities known as “interest-only,” “principa-only,” residual interest and
subordinated securities. These securities are either created through our own securitizations or those of third parties.
Investmentsin residual interest and subordinated securities are much riskier than investments in senior mortgage-backed
securities because these subordinated securities bear all credit losses prior to the related senior securities. On a
percentage basis, the risk associated with holding residual interest and subordinated securities is greater than holding
the underlying mortgage loans directly due to the concentration of losses in the subordinated securities.

We estimate future cash flows from these securities and value them utilizing assumptions based in part on projected
discount rates, mortgage loan prepayments and credit losses. If our actual experience differs from our assumptions we
would be required to reduce the value of these securities. The market for our asset-backed securities is extremely limited
and we cannot assure you that we could sell these securities at their reported value or at all or that we could recoup our
initial investment.

We also bear the risk of loss on any mortgage-backed securities we purchase in the secondary mortgage market. If
third parties have been contracted to insure against these types of losses, we would be dependent in part upon the
creditworthiness and claims paying ability of the insurer and the timeliness of reimbursement in the event of a default on
the underlying obligations. The insurance coverage for various types of losses is limited, and we bear the risk of any
lossesin excess of the limitation or outside of the insurance coverage.

In addition, we may not obtain our anticipated yield or we may incur losses if the credit support available within
certain mortgage-backed securities is inadequate due to unanticipated levels of losses, or due to difficulties experienced
by the credit support provider. Delays or difficulties encountered in servicing mortgage-backed securities may cause
greater losses and, therefore, greater resort to credit support than was originally anticipated, and may cause a rating
agency to downgrade certain classes of our securities.

We Undertake Additional Risks by Acquiring and I nvesting in Mortgage L oans
Risk of Failureto Obtain Credit Enhancements

We do not obtain credit enhancements such as mortgage pool or special hazard insurance for al of our mortgage
loans and investments. Borrowers may obtain private mortgage insurance, but we only require this insurance in limited
circumstances. During the time we hold mortgage loans for investment, we are subject to risks of borrower defaults and
bankruptcies and special hazard losses that are not covered by standard hazard insurance (such as losses occurring from
earthquakes or floods). If aborrower defaults on a mortgage |oan that we hold, we bear the risk of loss of principal to the
extent there is any deficiency between the value of the related mortgaged property and the amount owing on the
mortgage loan. In addition, since defaulted mortgage loans are not considered eligible collateral under our borrowing
arrangements, we bear the risk of being required to finance these loans with funds other than borrowed funds until they
are ultimately liquidated.

Greater Credit Risks from Non-Conforming Mortgage Loans
Non-conforming residential mortgage loans are residential mortgages that do not qualify for purchase by

government sponsored agencies such as the Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Our operations may be negatively affected
due to our investments in non-conforming loans or securities evidencing interests in such loans. Credit risks associated
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with non-conforming mortgage loans are greater than conforming mortgage loans. The interest rates we charge on non-
conforming loans are often higher than those charged for conforming loans. The combination of different underwriting
criteria and higher rates of interest leads to greater risk including higher prepayment rates and higher delinquency rates
and/or credit losses.

Second Mortgages Entail Greater Risks

Our security interest in the property securing second mortgages is subordinated to the interest of the first mortgage
holder. If the value of the property is equal to or less than the amount needed to repay the borrower’ s obligation to the
first mortgage holder upon foreclosure, al or a portion of our second mortgage loan will not be repaid.

Geographic Concentration of Mortgage Loans Has Higher Risks

We do not set limitations on the percentage of our mortgage asset portfolio composed of properties located in any
one area (whether by state, zip code or other geographic measure). Concentration in any one area increases our exposure
to the economic and natural hazard risks associated with that area. We estimate that a high concentration of the loans
included in securitizations in which we hold subordinated interests are secured by properties in California. Certain parts
of California have experienced an economic downturn in past years and have suffered the effects of certain natural
hazards.

Potential Losses Related to Recourse Obligations

M ortgage-backed securities issued in connection with our securitizations have been non-recourse to us, except in
the case of a breach of standard representations and warranties made by us when the loans are securitized. While we
have recourse against the sellers of mortgage loans, we cannot assure you that they will honor their obligations. We also
engaged in bulk whole loan sales pursuant to agreements that provide for recourse by the purchaser against us. In some
cases, the remedies available to a purchaser of mortgage loans from us are broader than those available to us against
those who sell us these loans. If a purchaser exercises its rights against us, we may not always be able to enforce
whatever remedies we may have against our sellers.

We Undertake Additional Risksin Providing Warehouse Financing

As a warehouse lender, we lend money to mortgage bankers on a secured basis and we are subject to the risks
associated with lending to mortgage banks, including the risks of fraud, borrower default and bankruptcy, any of which
could result in credit losses for us. Our claims as a secured lender in a bankruptcy proceeding rmay be subject to
adjustment and delay.

Value of our Mortgage Servicing Rightsis Subject to Adjustment

When we purchase loans that include the associated servicing rights, the allocated cost of the servicing rightsis
reflected on our financial statements as mortgage servicing rights. To determine the fair value of these servicing rights,
we use assumptions to estimate future net servicing income including projected discount rates, mortgage loan
prepayments and credit losses. If actual prepayments or defaults with respect to loans serviced occur more quickly than
we originally assumed, we would have to reduce the carrying value of our mortgage servicing rights. We do not know if
our assumptions will prove correct.

Our Operating Results Will be Affected by the Results of Our Hedging Activities

To offset the risks associated with our conduit operations, we enter into transactions designed to hedge our interest
rate risks. To offset the risks associated with our long-term investment operations, we attempt to match the interest rate
sensitivities of our adjustable rate mortgage assets held for investment with the associated financing liabilities. Our
management determines the nature and quantity of the hedging transactions based on various factors, including market
conditions and the expected volume of mortgage loan purchases. We do not limit management’s use of certain
instruments in such hedging transactions. Although our hedging program currently qualifies for hedge accounting
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under generally accepted accounting principles, we cannot assure you that our hedging transactions will offset our risks
of loss, and we could incur significant losses.

Reduction in Demand for Residential Mortgage Loans and Our Non-Conforming Loan Products May Adversely
Affect Our Operations

The availability of sufficient mortgage loans meeting our criteria is dependent in part upon the size and level of
activity in the residential real estate lending market and, in particular, the demand for non-conforming mortgage loans,
which is affected by:

interest rates;
regional and national economic conditions;
fluctuationsin residential property values; and
general regulatory and tax developments.

If our mortgage loan purchases decrease, we will have:

decreased economies of scale;

higher origination costs per loan;

reduced fee income;

smaller gains on the sale of non-conforming mortgage loans; and

an insufficient volume of loans to effect securitizations which requires us to accumulate loans over a
longer period.

Our Delinquency Ratios and Our Performance May be Adversely Affected by the Performance of Parties Who
Sub-Service our Loans

We contract with third-party sub-servicers for the sub-servicing of all our loans, including those in our
securitizations, and our operations are subject to risks associated with inadequate or untimely servicing. Poor
performance by a sub-servicer may result in greater than expected delinquencies and losses on our loans. A substantial
increase in our delinquency or foreclosure rate could adversely affect our ability to access the capital and secondary
markets for our financing needs. Also, with respect to loans subject to a securitization, greater delinguencies would
adversely impact the value of any “interest-only,” “principal-only” and subordinated securities we hold in connection
with that securitization.

In a securitization, relevant agreements permit us to be terminated as servicer under specific conditions described in
these agreements, such as the failure of a sub-servicer to perform certain functions within specific time periods. If, asa
result of a sub-servicer’s failure to perform adequately, we were terminated as servicer of a securitization, the value of
any servicing rights held by uswould be adversely impacted.

I ntense Competition for Mortgage Loans May Adversely Affect Our Operations
We compete in purchasing non-conforming mortgage loans and issuing mortgage-backed securities with:

other mortgage conduit programs;
investment banking firms;

savings and |oan associations;

banks;

thrift and loan associations;

finance companies,

mortgage bankers;

insurance companies;

other lenders; and

other entities purchasing mortgage assets.
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Continued consolidation in the mortgage banking industry may adversely affect us by reducing the number of
current sellers to our conduit operations and our potential customer base. As aresult, we may have to purchase alarger
percentage of mortgage loans from a smaller number of sellers which could cause us to have to pay higher premiums for
|oans.

If We Fail to Maintain Our REIT Status We May be Subject to Taxation asa Regular Corporation
Consequencesif We Fail to Qualify asa REIT

We believe that we have operated and intend to continue to operate in a manner that enables us to meet the
requirements for qualification as a REIT for Federal income tax purposes. We have not requested, and do not plan to
request, aruling from the Internal Revenue Service that we qualify asaREIT.

Y ou should be aware that opinions of counsel are not binding on the IRS or any court. Moreover, no assurance can
be given that legislation, new regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions will not significantly change
the tax laws with respect to qualification asa REIT or the federal income tax consequencesof such qualification. Both the
validity of the opinion of counsel and our continued qualification as a REIT will depend on our satisfaction of certain
asset, income, organizational and stockholder ownership requirements on a continuing basis.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT, we would not be allowed a deduction for distributions to stockholders in computing
our taxable income and would be subject to Federal income tax at regular corporate rates. We also could be subject to the
Federal aternative minimum tax. Unless we are entitled to relief under specific statutory provisions, we could not elect to
be taxed as a REIT for four taxable years following the year during which we were disqualified. Therefore, if we lose our
REIT status, the funds available for distribution to you would be reduced substantially for each of the yearsinvolved.

Effect of Distribution Requirements

AsaREIT, we are subject to annual distribution requirements, which limit the amount of cash we have available for
other business purposes, including amountsto fund our growth.

Other Tax Liabilities

Evenif we qualify asa REIT, we may be subject to certain Federal, state, and local taxes on our income, property and
operations that could reduce operating cash flow.

Recent Devel opments

The Tax Relief Extension Act of 1999 was recently enacted and it contains several tax provisions regarding REITs. It
includes a provision which reduces the annual distribution requirement for REIT taxable income from 95% to 90%. It also
changes the 10% voting securities test under current law to a 10% vote or value test. Thus, subject to certain exceptions,
a REIT will no longer be allowed to own more than 10% of the vote or value of the outstanding securities of any issuer,
other than a qualified REIT subsidiary or another REIT. One exception to this new test, which is also an exception to the
5% asset test under current law, allows a REIT to own any or all of the securities of a “taxable REIT subsidiary.” A
taxable REIT subsidiary can perform non-customary services as well as engage in non-real estate activities. A taxable
REIT subsidiary will be taxed as a regular C corporation but will be subject to earnings stripping limitations on the
deductibility of interest paid to its REIT. In addition, the REIT will be subject to a 100% excise tax to the extent any
transaction between the taxable REIT subsidiary and the REIT is not conducted on an arm’s length basis securities of a
taxable REIT subsidiary will constitute non-real-estate assets for purposes of determining whether at least 75% of a
REIT’s assets consist of real estate assets. In addition, no more that 20% of a REIT's total assets can consist of
securities of taxable REIT subsidiaries. These new tax provisions are not effective until January 1, 2001. In addition,
grandfather protection is provided with respect to the 10% value test for securities of a corporation held by a REIT on
July 12, 1999, but such protection ceases to apply after the corporation engages in a substantial new line of business or
acquires any substantial asset and also ceases to apply after the acquisition of additional securities of the corporation
by the REIT after July 12, 1999.
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Because we currently own more than 10% of the value of IFC, we may have to restructure the ownership of IFC or
have it elect to be ataxable REIT subsidiary of the Company in 2001.

Potential Characterization of Distributions or Gain on Sale as Unrelated Business Taxable Income to Tax-Exempt
Investors

If (1) we are subject to the rules relating to taxable mortgage pools or we are a “pension-held REIT,” or (2) a tax
exempt stockholder has incurred debt to purchase or hold our common stock is not exempt from Federal income taxation
under certain special sections of the Internal Revenue Code, or (3) the residual REMIC interests we buy generate “excess
inclusion income,” then distributions to and, in the case of a stockholder described in (2), gains realized on the sale of
common stock by, such taxexempt stockholder may be subject to Federal incorre tax as unrelated business taxable
income under the Internal Revenue Code.

Classification asa Taxable Mortgage Pool Could Subject Usto | ncreased Taxation

If we have borrowings with two or more maturities and, (1) are secured by mortgage loans or mortgage-backed
securities and, (2) the payments made on the borrowings are related to the payments received on the underlying assets,
then the borrowings may be classified as a “taxable mortgage pool” under the Internal Revenue Code. If any part of our
company was treated as a taxable mortgage pool, then our REIT status would not be impaired, but a portion of the
taxable income we generated may, under regulations to be issued by the Treasury Department, be characterized as
“excessinclusion” income and allocated to our stockholders. Any excess inclusion income would:

not be allowed to be offset by a stockholder’ s net operating losses;

be subject to atax as unrelated businessincome if a stockhol der were atax-exempt stockholder;

be subject to the application of federal income tax withholding at the maximum rate (without reduction
for any otherwise applicable income tax treaty) with respect to amounts alocable to foreign
stockholders; and

be taxable (at the highest corporate tax rate) to us, rather than to our stockholders, to the extent the
excess inclusion income relates to stock held by disqualified organizations (generally, tax-exempt
companies not subject to tax on unrelated business income, including governmental organizations).

We take the position that our existing financing arrangements do not create a taxable mortgage pool. However, the
IRS may successfully maintain that our financing arrangements do qualify as a taxable mortgage pool. In addition, we
may enter into arrangements creating excess inclusion income in the future.

Our Operations May be Adversely Affected if We are Subject to the I nvestment Company Act

We intend to conduct our business at all times so as not to become regulated as an investment company under the
Investment Company Act. The Investment Company Act exempts entities that are primarily engaged in the business of
purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other liens on and interests in real estate. In order to qualify for this
exemption we must maintain at least 55% of our assets directly in mortgage loans, qualifying pass-through certificates
and certain other qualifying interests in real estate. Our ownership of certain mortgage assets may be limited by the
provisions of the Investment Company Act. If the Securities and Exchange Commission adopts a contrary interpretation
with respect to these securities or otherwise believes we do not satisfy the above exception, we could be required to
restructure our activities or sell certain of our assets. To insure that we continue to qualify for the exemption we may be
required at times to adopt less efficient methods of financing certain of our mortgage assets and we may be precluded
from acquiring certain types of higher-yielding mortgage assets. The net effect of these factorswill be to lower at times
our net interest income. If we fail to qualify for exemption from registration as an investment company, our ability to use
leverage would be substantially reduced, and we would not be able to conduct our business as described. Our business
will be materially and adversely affected if wefail to qualify for this exemption.
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Future Revisions in Policies and Strategies at the Discretion of Our Board of Directors May be Affected Without
Stockholder Consent

Our board of directors, including a majority of our unaffiliated directors, has established our investment and
operating policies and strategies. We may:

invest in the securities of other REITs for the purpose of exercising control;
offer securitiesin exchange for property; and
offer to repurchase or otherwise reacquire our shares or other securitiesin the future.

In October 1998, we adopted a repurchase plan to repurchase up to $5.0 million of our common stock in the open
market. In September 1999, the board of directors approved common stock repurchases up to an additional $5.0 million, or
atotal of $10.0 million. As of December 31, 1999, we had repurchased 2.0 million shares for $9.9 million. We may aso
underwrite the securities of other issuers, although we have no present intention to do so. Any of the policies, strategies
and activities may be modified or waived by our board of directors, subject in certain cases to approval by a majority of
our unaffiliated directors, without stockholder consent.

Effect of Future Offerings May Adversely Affect Market Price of Our Securities

We intend to increase our capital resources by making additional private or public offerings of securities in the
future. We do not know:

the actual or perceived effect of these offerings;

thetiming of these offerings;

the dilution of the book value or earnings per share of our securities then outstanding; and
the effect on the market price of our securities then outstanding.

Risk Relating to Common Stock

The sale or the proposed sale of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market could materially
adversely affect the market price of our common stock or other outstanding securities.

Risk Relating to Preferred Stock

Our charter authorizes our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to classify or reclassify any
unissued shares of common stock or preferred stock into one or more classes or series of stock. The preferred stock may
be issued from time to time with terms as determined by our board of directors. Qur preferred stock is available for our
possible future financing of acquisitions and for our general corporate purposes without further stockholder
authorization. In October 1998, our board announced a dividend to all common stockholders of rights for certain shares
of our Series A Junior Preferred Stock. Our Series A Junior Preferred Stock has terms and conditions which could have
the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a hostile change in control of our company. Our board could authorize the
issuance of shares of another class or series of preferred stock with terms and conditions which could also have the
effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company which could involve a premium price for
holders of common stock or otherwise be in their best interest. The preferred stock, if issued, may have a preference on
dividend payments, which could reduce the assets we have available to make distributions to our common stockholders.

Maryland Business Combination Statute

The Maryland General Corporation Law establishes special requirements for “business combinations’ between a
Maryland corporation and “interested stockholders’ unless exemptions are applicable. An interested stockholder is any
person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our then-outstanding voting stock. Among other
things, the law prohibits for a period of five years a merger and other similar transactions between our company and an
interested stockholder unless the board of directors approved the transaction prior to the party becoming an interested
stockholder. The five-year period runs from the most recent date on which the interested stockholder became an
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interested stockholder. The law also requires a supermajority stockholder vote for such transactions after the end of the
five-year period. This means that the transaction must be approved by at |east:

80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding voting shares,
66% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding voting shares other than shares held by
theinterested stockholder with whom the business combination is to be effected.

The business combination statute could have the effect of discouraging offers to acquire us and of increasing the
difficulty of consummating any such offers, even if our acquisition would be in our stockholders best interests.

Maryland Control Share Acquisition Statute

Maryland law provides that “control shares’ of a Maryland corporation acquired in a “control share acquisition”
have no voting rights except to the extent approved by a stockholder vote. Two-thirds of the shares eligible to vote must
vote in favor of granting the “control shares’ voting rights. “Control shares’ are shares of stock that, taken together
with al other shares of stock the acquirer previously acquired, would entitle the acquirer to exercise at least 20% of the
voting power in electing directors. Control shares do not include shares of stock the acquiring person is entitled to vote
as aresult of having previously obtained stockholder approval. A “control share acquisition” means the acquisition of
control shares, subject to certain exceptions.

If a person who has made (or proposes to make) a control share acquisition satisfies certain conditions (including
agreeing to pay expenses), he may compel our board of directors to call a special meeting of stockholders to be held
within 50 days to consider the voting rights of the shares. If such a person makes no request for a meeting, we have the
option to present the question at any stockholders' meeting.

If voting rights are not approved at a meeting of stockholders then we may redeem any or all of the control shares
(except those for which voting rights have previously been approved) for fair value. We will determine the fair value of
the shares, without regard to voting rights, as of the date of either:

thelast control share acquisition, or
any meeting where stockholders considered and did not approve voting rights of the control shares.

If voting rights for control shares are approved at a stockholders' meeting and the acquirer becomes entitled to vote
amajority of the shares of stock entitled to vote, all other stockholders may exercise appraisal rights. This means that
you would be able to force us to redeem your stock for fair value. Under Maryland law, the fair value may not be less
than the highest price per share paid in the control share acquisition. Furthermore, certain limitations otherwise
applicable to the exercise of dissenters' rights would not apply in the context of a control share acquisition. The control
share acquisition statute would not apply to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if we were a
party to the transaction. The control share acquisition statute could have the effect of discouraging offersto acquire us
and of increasing the difficulty of consummating any such offers, even if our acquisition would be in our stockholders'
best interests.

Possible Adverse Consequences of Limits on Ownership of Shares

Our Charter limits ownership of our capital stock by any single stockholder to 9.5% of our outstanding shares. Our
Charter also prohibits anyone from buying shares if the purchase would result in us losing our REIT status. This could
happen if a share transaction results in fewer than 100 persons owning all of our shares or in five or fewer persons,
applying certain broad attribution rules of the Internal Revenue Code, owning 50% or more of our shares. If you or
anyone else acquires shares in excess of the ownership limit or in violation of the ownership requirements of the Internal
Revenue Codefor REITS, we:

will consider the transfer to be null and void;

will not reflect the transaction on our books;

may institute legal action to enjoin the transaction;

will not pay dividends or other distributions with respect to those shares,
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will not recognize any voting rights for those shares;

will consider the shares held in trust for the benefit of our Company; and

will either direct the affected person to sell the shares and turn over any profit to us, or we will redeem
the shares. If we redeem the shares, it will be at a price equal to the lesser of:

(a) theprice paid by the transferee of the shares, or
(b) the average of the last reported sales prices on the American Stock Exchange on the ten trading
daysimmediately preceding the date fixed for redemption by our board of directors.
An individual who acquires shares that violate the above rules bears the risk that (1) he may lose control over the
power to dispose of his shares, (2) he may not recognize profit from the sale of his sharesif the market price of the shares
increases and (3) he may be required to recognize aloss from the sale of his sharesif the market price decreases.

Limitations on Acquisition and Changein Control Ownership Limit

The 9.5% ownership limit discussed above may have the effect of precluding acquisition of control of our company
by athird party without consent of our board of directors.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The primary executive and administrative offices of the Company are located in Newport Beach, California. The
Company has entered into a 10-year lease to use approximately 74,000 square feet of office space at arate of $149,000 per
month. The Company believes that these facilities will adequately provide for the Company’ s future growth needs.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is aparty to litigation and claims which are normal in the course of its operations. While the results of
such litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company believes the final outcome of such matters
will not have a materially adverse effect on its results of operations or consolidated financial position.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSON OF MATTERSTO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to the security holders to be voted on during the fourth quarter of 1999.



PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'SCOMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The Company’s Common Stock is listed on the American Stock Exchange (*AMEX") under the symbol IMH. The
following table summarizes the high, low and closing sales prices for IMH’s Common Stock as reported by the AMEX for
the periods indicated:

1999 1998

L ow Close High Low Close
First QUaITES ..ot . $ 400 $ 500 ¢ 1825 ¢ 158 ¢ 1706
Second Quarter 438 5.06 17.75 14.00 15.56
THIrd QUAKTES ...t . 388 463 16.88 10.00 1350
FOUrth QUAITET.......ccveeecrceeeiee s reaeas . 338 413 1350 275 4.56

On March 14, 2000, the last reported sale price of the Common Stock on the AMEX was $3.31 per share. As of
March 14, 2000, there were 671 holders of record (including holders who are nominees for an undetermined number of
beneficial owners) of the Company’s Common Stock.

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan. Pursuant to IMH’s Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase
Plan (“DRSPP" or the “Plan”), stockholders can acquire additional shares of IMH Common Stock by reinvesting their
cash dividends at a 0% to 5% discount of the average high and low market prices as reported on the AMEX on the
Investment Date (as described in the Plan) to the extent shares are issued by IMH. Stockholders may also purchase
additional shares of IMH Common Stock through the cash investment option at a 0% to 5% discount of the average high
and low market prices as reported on the AMEX during the three trading days preceding the Investment Date. In July
1999, the Company suspended its DRSPP.

Share Repurchase Program. During 1999, the Company’ s Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase
up to $10.0 million of the Company’s Common Stock, $.01 par value, in open market purchases from time to time at the
discretion of the Company’s management; the timing and extent of the repurchases will depend on market conditions.
The Company intends to effect such repurchases, if any, h compliance with the Rule 10b-18 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. For the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company repurchased 2.0 million shares of its Common
Stock for $9.9 million. The acquired shares were canceled.

Stockholder Rights Plan. On October 7, 1998, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a Stockholder Rights Plan
in which Preferred Stock Purchase Rights were distributed as a dividend at the rate of one Right for each outstanding
share of Common Stock. The dividend distribution was made on October 19, 1998 payable to stockholders of record on
that date. The Rights are attached to the Company’s Common Stock. The Rights will be exercisable and trade separately
only in the event that a person or group acquires or announces the intent to acquire 10 percent or more of the
Company’s Common Stock. Each Right will entitle stockholders to buy one-hundredth of a share of a new series of junior
participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $30.00. If the Company is acquired in a merger or other transaction
after a person has acquired 10 percent or more of Company outstanding Common Stock, each Right will entitle the
stockholder to purchase, at the Right’s then-current exercise price, a number of the acquiring Company’ s common shares
having a market value of twice such price. In addition, if a person or group acquires 10 percent or more of the Company's
Common Stock, each Right will entitle the stockholder (other than the acquiring person) to purchase, at the Right’s then-
current exercise price, a number of shares of the Company's Common Stock having a market value of twice such price.
Following the acquisition by a person of 10 percent or more of the Company’s Common Stock and before an acquisition
of 50 percent or more of the Common Stock, the Board of Directors may exchange the Rights (other than the Rights
owned by such person) at an exchange ratio of one share of Common Stock per Right. Before a person or group acquires
beneficial ownership of 10 percent or more of the Company’s Common Stock, the Rights are redeemable for $.0001 per
right at the option of the Board of Directors. The Rights will expire on October 19, 2008. The Rights distribution is not
taxable to stockholders. The Rights are intended to enable all the Company stockholders to realize the long-term value of
their investment in the Company.
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Dividends

To maintainits qualification asaREIT, IMH intends to make annual distributions to stockholders of at |east 95% of
its taxable income, which may not necessarily equal net income as calculated in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP"), determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding any net
capital gains. Any taxable income remaining after the distribution of the regular quarterly or other dividends will be
distributed annually on or prior to the date of the first regular quarterly dividend payment date of the following taxable
year. The dividend policy is subject to revision at the discretion of the Board of Directors. All distributionsin excess of
those required for IMH to maintain REIT status will be made by IMH at the discretion of the Board of Directors and will
depend on the taxable earnings of IMH, the financial condition of IMH, and such other factors as the Board of Directors
deemsrelevant. The Board of Directors has not established a minimum distribution level.

Distributions to stockholders will generally be taxable as ordinary income, although a portion of such distributions
may be designated by IMH as capital gain or may constitute a tax-free return of capital. IMH annually furnishes to each
of its stockholders a statement setting forth distributions paid during the preceding year and their characterization as
ordinary income, capital gains or return of capital. Of the total dividends paid during 1999 and 1998, approximately $4.8
million and $8.9 million, respectively, represented a tax-free return of capital.

The following table summarizes dividends paid or declared by IMH:

Per Share

Stockholder Dividend

Period Covered Record Date Amount (1)
Quarter ended March 31, 1998........c.oeeeeeeeeeeeeieeesesse ettt sesens April 9, 1998 $0.48
Quarter ended June 30, 1998...................... July 1, 1998 $0.49
Quarter ended September 30, 1998 (1) October 9, 1998 $0.49
Quarter ended March 31, 1999.................. April 9, 1999 $0.10
Quarter ended JUNE 30, 1999 ..ot sss s senes June 30, 1999 $0.12
Quarter ended September 30, 1999.........c.oreeveceeeeeree ettt September 30, 1999 $0.13
Quarter ended December 31, 1999..........c.oreeeeceeeeeeeee et January 3, 2000 $0.13

() On September 28, 1998, the Company declared a third quarter dividend of $0.49 per share payable on October 26,
1998 to stockholders of record on October 9, 1998. However, on October 8, 1998 the Company announced that the
third quarter dividend would be delayed and paid on January 6, 1999. The Company paid interest in the form of an
additional cash dividend at a rate of 4% per annum for the period from the previously announced payment date
through January 6, 1999. The total amount of interest paid was $96,300, or $0.004 per share.

The Company did not declare a dividend for the quarter ended December 31, 1998. See “Item 1. Business—Risk
Factors—Inability to Generate Liquidity May Adversely Affect Our Operations.”

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated statements of operations data for each of the years in the five-year period
ended December 31, 1999, and the consolidated balance sheet data for the five-year period ended December 31, 1999
were derived from the Company’s and IFC’s financial statements audited by KPMG LLP (“KPMG"), independent
auditors, whose reports appear on pages F2 and 32, respectively. Such selected financial data should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes to the consolidated financial statements starting on
page F-1 and with Item 7. “Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC.

(dollar amountsin thousands, except per sharedata)

Year Ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
Statement of Operations Data:
Net interest income:
Total INtEreSt iNCOME ......vucveeerere et seesaenes $ 119458 $ 163658 $ 109533 $ 63673 $ 2851
Total INtErest EXPENSE......cccccueerereeerereresiereessesesseseaeees 89,795 121,695 76,577 44,144 1,715
Net iNterest iNCOME.......ccveereererereereeereeereeeseeeeeeene 29,663 41,963 32,956 19,529 1,136
Provision for 10an |0SSes.........cccccevenerererenecenene 5547 4,361 6,343 4,350 488
Net interest income after loan loss provision........ 24116 37,602 26,113 15,179 648
Non-interest income:
Equity in net earnings (10ss) of IFC.........ccccenieeninnen. 4,292 (13,876) 8316 903 1,489
Equity in net 10SSOf ICH ..o — (998) (239) — —
Loss on sale of mortgage |0ans........cccoveneeenieeeneeen: — (3111) — — —
Gain on sale of Securities .......ccoeveneuees 93 427 648 — —
Other INCOME....c.erereeereeereeeree e 2517 4,019 1,601 593 244
Total non-interest income 6,902 (13,539) 10,326 1,496 1,733
Non-interest expense:
Write-down on securities available-for-sdle............... 2,037 14,132 — — —
Loss on equity investment of ICH..........cccoenieeninnn. — 9,076 — — —
General and administrative and other operating
EXPENSE.....eiereeeee et 6,664 6,788 1,851 1,449 209
AdViSOry fEES ..o — — 6,242 3,347 33
Termination agreement expense — — 44,375 — —
Total Non-interest eXPENSE........cccvvererererereeeerereees 8,701 29,996 52,468 4,79 247
Earnings (10ss) beforeincometaxes.........c.cene. 22,317 (5,933 (16,029) 11,879 2134
Income taxes (DENEFit).........overreverrererreeeneereereeeeiene — — — — 76
Net €arnings (10SS) .....c.cuererrerrerreeressssessesesesesesens $ 22317 $ (5933 $ (16029 $ 11879 $ 2058
Net earnings (loss) per share— basic .................... $ 083 $ (025 $ (09 3 134 $ 005
Net earnings (loss) per share— diluted.................. $ 076 $ (025 $ (09 $ 132 $ 005
Dividends declared per SNare .........coc.eveeveveereereies $ 048 $ 146 3 168 $ 161 $ —
Net earnings (loss) per share before
Management termination expense (1) ............... $ 076 $ (025 % 174  $ 132 $ 005

(1) Per share amounts exclude the effect of expenses related to the termination in December 1997 (the “Termination
Agreement Expense”) of the Company’s Management Agreement with Imperial Credit Advisors, Inc. (“ICAI"), an

affiliate of ICII.
At December 31,
1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
Balance Sheet Data:
Investment securities available-for-sde................. g 93206 $ 93486 $ 67011 $ 63506 $ 2284
Mortgage |oans held-for-investment and
CMO coll@teral........coveueuneeeurieeireerieireeireeereeesenes 1,313112 1,181,847 1052610  502,65¢ —
Finance receivables 197,119 311,571 533,101 362,312 583,021
Investment in Impac Funding Corporation............ 17,372 13,246 27122 9,89¢ 86€
Investment in Impac Commercia Holdings, Inc.... — — 17,985 — —
TOtAl @SSELS ... 1,675,430 1,665,504 1,752,812 972,355 613,68¢
CMO DOITOWINGS.....cvieeeeerereeeeireresseseeesessssssesessssseees 850,817 1,072,316 741,907 47451% —
Reverse repurchase agreements.........ccoveeeeeervereenens 539,687 323,625 755,559 357,71€ 567,727
Total liabilities.....ccoveerecreeeriririeene 1,436,586 1,413,898 1523782 843,165 568,452
Total stockholders’ equity 238,844 251,606 229,030 129,1C 4523¢




IMPAC FUNDING CORPORATION
(dollar amountsin thousands, except Operating Data)

Statement of Operations Data:
Net interest income:
Total iNterest iINCOME .......c.oceeiereeerecireeeireeeiseeseeisenees
Total iNterest EXPENSE......cccverveveereererssessesseseesesens
Net interest income (EXPENSE)........ccouerrrreererrnnnns

Non-interest income:

Gain (loss) on sale of [0ans.........ccccevvveevceecsennans
Mark-to-market 1oss on investment securities.........
Gain (loss) on sale of investment securities.............
L 0an Servicing iNCOME.......ccouverereneresereresesesesesesesesenes
Gain on sale of servicing rights........cccoeeevvveceicnnnan.
Other INCOME.......ccverireccrer e

Total non-interest iNCoMe .........ccovvenererereneeeerenens

Non-interest expense:

General and administrative and other operating
EXPENSE ..ottt

Amortization of mortgage servicing rights...............

Write down of securities available-for-sale..............

Impairment of mortgage servicing rights.................

Provision for repurchases..........coocevevnceneceneceneeenn:
Total non-interest eXPense..........couwveeervererreerrenens

Earnings (loss) beforeincometaxes..........cccoeu....
Income taxes (DENEFit).......cccvrererrerreererereerereeeees
Net €arnings (10SS) .....cuvveeerereeeeinirenssesssesssesesenens

Balance Sheet Data:
Residual interestsin securitizations............c........
Mortgage loans held-for-sale...........ccovvvvcrerennns
Mortgage servicing rights.........cccveerereneeererennens
TOtal @SSELS ...t
Borrowingsfrom IWLG
Other DOrTOWINGS.......ovoveeereerreerereeeeereseseereseseeees
Dueto affilliates. ..o
Total HEDIITIES...ceeeeererereireereireeeeeee e
Total shareholders’ equity.......cccovvereerererseeerenens

Operating Data (in millions):
Mortgage loan acquisitions (volume)...................
Master servicing portfolio at period-end.............
Servicing portfolio at period-end ..........ccccevvrenne.

Year Ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
$ 21225 $ 48510 $ 48020 § 3R79 ¢ 1249
20,953 40,743 41,628 31,751 1,785
272 7,767 6,392 1,048 (536)
27,098 (11,663) 19414 1,747 4135
— (805) — — —

— (706) 550 — —
5221 7,071 4,109 1,250 5159
— — — — 370

979 420 93 — —
33,298 (5,683) 24,166 8,997 9,664
14,965 14,385 10,047 7,154 3,663
5331 6,361 2,827 613 2,892
4,252 — — — —
1,078 3,722 — — —
385 367 3,148 687 —
26,011 24,835 16,022 8,454 6,555
7,559 (22,751) 14,536 1591 2,573
3,227 (8,738) 6,136 679 1,069
$ 432 $ (14013) $ 8400 ¢ 912 § 154

At December 31,

1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
$ — 3 — 3 — § 46949 ¢ —
68,084 252,568 620,549 334,104 544,275
15,621 14,062 15,568 8,785 —
116,246 313,872 656,944 399,171 552,631
66,125 192,900 454,840 327,422 550,291
181 67,058 148,307 — —
14,500 24,382 6,198 54,803 —
98,698 301,009 629,548 389,175 551,757
17,548 12,863 27,396 9,996 874
$ 1672 % 2249 $ 2571 ¢ 1542 ¢ 1133
2,879 3714 3,029 1,550 512
2,393 3714 3,029 1,550 512



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Certain information contained in the following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 and the
Exchange Act of 1934 which can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as“may,” “will,” “expect,”
“intend,” “should,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” or “believe” or comp arable terminology. The Company’s actual results may
differ materialy from those contained in the forward-looking statements. Factors which may cause such differences to
occur arediscussed in “Item 1. Business—Risk Factors” aswell asthose factors discussed below.

General

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. was incorporated in Maryland in August 1995. The Company, together with its
subsidiaries and related companies, primarily operates three businesses: (1) the Long-Term Investment Operations, (2)
the Conduit Operations, and (3) the Warehouse Lending Operations. The Long-Term Investment Operations invests
primarily in non-conforming residential mortgage loans and securities backed by such loans. The Conduit Operations
purchases and sells and securitizes primarily non-conforming mortgage loans. The Warehouse Lending Operations
provides warehouse and repurchase financing to originators of mortgage loans.

The Company is entitled to 99% of the earnings or losses of IFC through its ownership of all of the non-voting
preferred stock of IFC. As such, the Company records its investment in IFC using the equity method. Under this
method, original investments are recorded at cost and adjusted by the Company’s share of earnings or losses. The
Company is a mortgage REIT that elects to be taxed at the corporate level as a REIT for federal income tax purposes,
which generally allows the Company to pass through income to stockholders without payment of federal income tax at
the corporate level.

Reationshipswith Impac Entities

On May 5, 1999, Impac Commercial Holdings, Inc. (“ICH") executed a stock purchase agreement pursuant to which it
issued to Fortress Partners LP (“Fortress’) $12.0 million of series B convertible preferred stock of ICH. In addition, FIC
Management Inc. (“FIC"), an affiliate of Fortress, entered into a definitive agreement with RAI Advisors, LLC (“RAI”) for
the assignment of RAI’s rights and interests in the management agreement with ICH. In connection with these
transactions, the submanagement agreement among RAI, IMH and IFC was terminated and a new submanagement
agreement was entered into among FIC, IMH and IFC and the right of first refusal agreement among RAI, ICH, ICCC,
IMH and IFC was terminated. Under the new submanagement agreement, IMH and IFC provide various services
including, accounting, data processing and secondary marketing to ICH, as Fortress deems necessary. Messrs. Joseph
R. Tomkinson, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of IMH, and Frank P. Filipps, an unaffiliated director of IMH, remain
on the board of directors of ICH.

Many of the officers and directors of the Company are officers, directors and owners of IFC. The Company owns all
of the preferred stock of, and 99% of the economic interest in, IFC, while Joseph R. Tomkinson, William S. Ashmore,
President and Chief Operating Officer, and Richard J. Johnson, Executive Vice President and Chief Financia Officer, are
the holders of all of the outstanding voting stock of, and 1% of the economic interest in, IFC.

Significant Transactions
Common Stock Exchange Offering

In March 1999, certain stockholders of the Company exchanged 1,359,507 shares of their Common Stock, at an
average price of $5.70 per share, for 11% senior subordinated debentures due to mature on February 15, 2004. The
debentures are unsecured obligations of the Company subordinated to all indebtedness of the Company's subsidiaries.
The debentures bear interest at 11% per annum from their date of issuance, payable quarterly, commencing May 15, 1999,
until the debentures are paid in full. The debentures mature on February 15, 2004, at which the date may be extended
once by the Company to a date not later than May 15, 2004, provided that the Company satisfies certain conditions.
Commencing on February 15, 2001, the debentures are redeemable, at the Company's option, in whole at any time or in
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part from time to time, at the principal amount to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the redemption
date.

Exchange of Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock for Series C Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock

In February 2000, al shares of Series B 10.5% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (“ Series B Preferred Stock”)
was exchanged for Series C 10.5% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series C Preferred Stock”) and the
conversion rate was adjusted to $4.72 per share convertible into 5.29661 shares of Common Stock or an aggregate of
6,355,932 shares of Common Stock. Other than the foregoing, the Series C Preferred Stock has the same rights,
preferences and privileges as the Series B Preferred Stock.

Collateralized Mortgage Obligations (“CMOs")

The Company issued two CMOs during the year ended December 31, 1999. The first CMO was issued in February
1999 for $183.1 million and was collateralized by $120.8 million of adjustable rate mortgages and $77.8 million of residential
loans secured by second trust deeds. The second CMO was issued in June 1999 for $115.0 million and was collateralized
by $117.6 million of primarily adjustable rate mortgages. The issuance of CMOs provides the Company with immediate
liquidity, alocked-in net interest rate spread and eliminates the Company's exposure to margin calls on such loans.

Real Estate Mortgage | nvestment Conduits (“REMICs")

The Company issued two REMICs during the year ended December 31, 1999. The first REMIC was issued in
September 1999 for $133.2 million and was collateralized by $137.3 million of adjustable rate mortgages. The second
REMIC was issued in December 1999 for $226.9 million and was collateralized by $230.1 million of fixed rate mortgages.
The REMICs were accounted for as sales of the mortgage loans, which resulted in again of $6.5 million.

Definitive Agreement to Acquirea California Thrift and Loan

During the first quarter of 1999, the Company compl eted a definitive agreement to acquire a California Thrift and Loan
(“Bank”). As provided for in the agreement, the Company submitted its application in the second quarter of 1999 for a
change of control to the state and federal regulatory agencies for their approval. During the process of reviewing the
application, the federal agency raised certain issues. The Company was not able to give the federal agency sufficient
comfort with respect to those issues without modifying its proposal. The Company submitted a new application to state
and federal regulatory agencies in the first quarter of 2000. The new application was modified from the previous
application in several key areas and to more clearly define the Bank as a stand-alone operation that is not reliant upon the
Company for its success. It is anticipated that the Bank will market its own unique loan products, which will include
mortgages, consumer equity loans and loans on small commercial and multi-family properties. However, there are no
assurances that the new application for change of control will be received favorably by either of the state or federal
regulatory agencies. In the event that the Company is unsuccessful in its efforts to obtain the Bank charter, management
believesthat it will have no adverse impact on the future profitability of the Company.

Advance to | mpac Funding Corporation

During the second quarter of 1999, IMH advanced to IFC $14.5 million in cash, in exchange for an interest only note
at an interest rate of 9.50% with a maturity of June 30, 2004, in anticipation of the initial capitalization of the Bank and to
fund the operations of IFC and other strategic opportunities deemed appropriate by IFC.

Business Oper ations

Business Strategy: During 1999, the Company restructured its balance sheet in order to increase book value per
common share, generate additional liquidity and improve overall credit quality of its investment portfolio. The following
transactions were completed during 1999: (1) the exchange of 1.4 million shares of Common Stock for 11.0% senior
subordinated debt due 2/15/2004, (2) a stock repurchase program to repurchase up 10.0 million shares of outstanding
Common Stock and (3) the re-securitization of a portion of itsinvestment securities portfolio. In addition, the Long-Term
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Investment Operations acquired from IFC $349.8 million, in unpaid principal balance, of adjustable rate mortgages to be
held for long-term investment during the fourth quarter of 1999. During January 2000, the Company completed the
issuance of a $460.0 million CMO that was primarily collateralized by the adjustable rate mortgages acquired from IFC
during the fourth quarter of 1999.

The exchange of Common Stock for 11.0% senior subordinated debt and the repurchase of outstanding Common
Stock during 1999 was accretive to book value by $0.65, or 7%. Book value at December 31, 1999 was $9.76 (calculated
assuming liquidation value of the Company’s Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock) as compared to $9.11 on a
pro-forma basis. Overall, book vaue increased 8% to $9.76 at December 31, 1999 as compared to $9.02 at December 31,
1998. Based on the Company’s business plan for 2000 and the retention of reported earnings in excess of minimum
distribution requirements, the Company expectsto increase its book value per share in the future.

The Company completed a re-securitization of a portion of its investment securities available-for-sale in October
1999, which raised additional liquidity for the Company of approximately $23.4 million after repaying short-term
borrowings secured by the investment securities portfolio. The cash proceeds were used to acquire mortgages from | FC,
increase outstanding lending by the Warehouse Lending Operations, repurchase Common Stock and other business
expansion. The Company reduced its reliance on reverse repurchase agreements to finance its investment securities to
zero at December 31, 1999 as compared to $24.1 million at December 31, 1998. The Company continued to maintain
reduced leverage and strong liquidity levels during the fourth quarter of 1999. The Company's debt-to-equity ratio
increased to 6.0:1 at December 31, 1999 as compared to 5.6:1 at December 31, 1998, which was well within the Company’s
target range.

Throughout 1999, the Company acquired an aggregate of $638.3 million of mortgages from IFC for its Long-Term
Investment Operations. These mortgages consisted of $506.6 million, or 79%, of A quality, non-conforming mortgages.
Of the $638.3 million of mortgages acquired, $539.7 million, or 85%, were adjustable rate mortgages. In addition, $222.9
million, or 35%, of mortgages acquired during 1999 for long-term investment had prepayment penalties as compared to
$147.6 million, or 18%, of mortgages with prepayment penalties acquired during 1998. The Company expects that the
higher percentage of mortgages acquired for long-term investment with prepayment penalties will lead to a reduction in
overall prepayments. Constant prepayment rates (“CPR”) on the Company’s CM O portfolio during the fourth quarter of
1999 decreased to 28% CPR as compared to 34% CPR during the fourth quarter of 1998. The loan delinquency rate of
mortgages held for long-term investment which were 60 or more days past due, inclusive of foreclosures and delinquent
bankruptcies, decreased to 5.43% at December 31, 1999 as compared to 7.58% at December 31, 1998.

The Company’s Board of Directors announced a dividend policy for 2000 that allows the Company to expand its
business operations and focus on rebuilding the Gmpany’s balance sheet without the diluted effect of offering
additional shares of Common Stock at current market levels. During 2000, the Company plans to only distribute 100% of
taxable earnings. During 1999, the Company paid dividends in excess of taxable earnings, which represented areturn of
capital to its stockholders, of approximately $4.8 million over minimum distribution requirements. Of the total dividend
distributions paid to common stockholders during 1999, 39% represented ordinary income and 61% represented a return
of capital.

Long-Term Investment Operations During the year ended December 31, 1999, the Long-Term Investment
Operations, conducted by IMH and IMH Assets, acquired $638.3 million of mortgages from |FC as compared to $866.7
million acquired during 1998. Mortgages purchased by the Long-Term Investment Operations during 1999 consisted of
$262,000 of FRMs and $545.2 million of ARMs secured by first liens on residential property and $92.8 million of fixed rate
second trust deeds secured by residential property. IMH Assets issued CMOs totaling $298.1 million, which were
collateralized by $316.2 million of mortgage loans, during 1999 as compared to CMOs totaling $768.0 million, which were
collateralized by $788.2 million of mortgage loans, during 1998. As of December 31, 1999, the Long-Term Investment
Operations' portfolio of mortgage loans consisted of $949.7 million of mortgage loans held in trust as collateral for CMOs
and $363.4 million of mortgage loans held-for-investment, of which approximately 34% were FRMs and 66% were ARMs.
The weighted average coupon of the Long-Term Investment Operations portfolio of mortgage loans was 9.26% at
December 31, 1999 with aweighted average margin of 4.37%. The portfolio of mortgage loans included 77% of “A” credit
quality, non-conforming mortgage loans and 23% of B/C Loans, as defined by the Company. The Long-Term Investment
Operations sold $10.8 million, in unpaid principal balance, of mortgage loans to |FC and none to third party investors as
conpared to no loan sales to IFC and $73.2 million of loans sold to third party investors during 1998. During 1999, the
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Long-Term Investment Operations acquired $22.0 million of securities created by IFC through the issuance of REMICs as
compared to $60.6 million during 1998. In addition, the Long-Term Investment Operations had outstanding finance
receivables of $197.1 million and investment securities available-for-sale of $93.2 million a December 31, 1999. Of the
$93.2 million of investment securities available-for-sale, $56.8 million were subordinated securities collateralized by
mortgages, $30.8 million were “interest only” securities, and $5.6 million were subordinated securities collateralized by
other loans.

Conduit Operations: The Conduit Operations, conducted by IFC, supports the Long-Term Investment Operations
of the Company by supplying IMH and IMH Assets with mortgages for IMH’ s long-term investment portfolio. As such,
IFC sold $638.3 million, in unpaid principal balance, of mortgages to IMH as compared to $866.7 million, in unpaid
principal balance, of loans sold during 1998. IFC’'s mortgage acquisitions decreased 23% to $1.7 billion during 1999 as
compared to $2.2 hillion of mortgages acquired during 1998. After excluding bulk acquisitions, IFC's acquisitions
decreased 11% to $1.6 billion during 1999 as compared to $1.8 billion during 1998. During 1999, IFC securitized $360.1
million, in unpaid principal balance, of mortgages and sold whole loans to third party investors totaling $824.1 million, in
unpaid principal balance, of mortgages. This compares to loan securitizations of $907.5 million, in unpaid principal
balance, of mortgages and whole loan sales to third party investors of $856.2 million, in unpaid principal balance, of
mortgages during 1998. Loan securitizations and sales during 1999 resulted in gain on sale of loans of $27.1 million as
compared to loss on sale of loans of $11.7 million during 1998. IFC had deferred revenue of $7.6 million at December 31,
1999 as compared to $10.6 million at December 31, 1998. IFC’s master servicing portfolio decreased 22% to $2.9 hillion at
December 31, 1999 as compared to $3.7 billion at December 31, 1998. Of the $2.9 hillion of mortgage |oans master serviced
by IFC a December 31, 1999, IFC is the master servicer for $1.4 hillion of loans collateralizing REMIC securities and
$885.2 million of mortgage loans collateralizing CMOs. In addition, of the $2.6 billion of loans master serviced by IFC, IFC
owns servicing rights on $2.4 billion in unpaid principal balance of mortgages. Mortgages collateralized by properties
located in California represented 40% of IFC's master servicing portfolio at December 31, 1999 and 1998. The loan
delinquency rate of mortgages in IFC's master servicing portfolio which were 60 or more days past due, inclusive of
foreclosures and delinquent bankruptcies, was 4.37% and 4.82% at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Warehouse Lending Operations: At December 31, 1999, the Company, conducted by IWLG, had $1.4 billion of
warehouse lines of credit available to 49 borrowers (including IFC), of which $197.1 million was outstanding, including
$66.1 million outstanding to IFC, $1.2 million outstanding to ILG and $48,000 outstanding to WSI. James Walsh,
Executive Vice President of WSI, isalso aDirector of IMH.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS—
IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC.

Year Ended December 31, 1999 as compared to Year Ended December 31, 1998
Net Earnings (L 0ss)

Net earnings for the year ended December 31, 1999 of $22.3 million, or $0.76 per diluted common share, compared to a
net loss of $(5.9) million, or $(0.25) per diluted common share, for 1998. The loss for 1998 was primarily due to a global
liquidity crisis in the mortgage-backed securitization market, which occurred during the latter half of 1998. The
deterioration of the mortgage-backed securitization market created liquidity problems as the Company’s lenders made
margin calls on their repurchase agreements. In order to meet margin calls and reduce borrowings on its outstanding
reverse repurchase agreements, the Company sold mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities at significant losses.
In addition, the Company recorded impairment charges on itsinvestment securities available-for-sale and recorded aloss
on the sale of its equity investment in ICH. However, as the mortgage-backed securitization market stabilized during
1999, the Company returned to overall profitability, which in large part was due to the profitability on the sale of its
mortgage loans at | FC.

Net I nterest Income
Net interest income decreased 29% to $29.7 million during 1999 as compared to $42.0 million during 1998. Interest

income is primarily interest earned on Mortgage Assets and includes interest income earned on cash and cash
equivalents and due from efiliates. Interest expense is primarily interest paid on borrowings on Mortgage Assets and
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includes interest expense paid on due to affiliates and senior subordinated debt. Mortgage Assets include CMO
collateral, mortgage loans held-for-investment, finance receivables and investment securities available-for-sale.
Borrowings on Mortgage Assets include CM O financing, reverse repurchase agreements and borrowings on investment
securities available-for-sale. The decrease in net interest income during 1999 as compared to 1998 was primarily the result
of lower average Mortgage Assets, which decreased 20% to $1.6 billion during 1999 as compared to $2.0 billion during
1998. Average Mortgage Assets decreased during 1999 as compared to 1998 principally due to the sale of mortgage
loans during the fourth quarter of 1998 in order to increase liquidity and meet margin calls. The Company continued to
raise liquidity and reduce leverage throughout 1999 as IFC completed monthly whole loan sales on a servicing released
basis. As such, the Long-Term Investment Operations' |oan acquisitions from |FC decreased 26% to $638.3 million as
compared to $866.7 million acquired during 1998. Additionally, due to IFC’s decreased loan production and the shorter
accumulation and holding period between monthly whole loan sales, average finance receivables to affiliates (primarily
IFC) decreased 42% to $232.7 million during 1999 as compared to $403.9 million during 1998. Net interest income aso
decreased as the net interest margin on Mortgage Assets decreased to 1.84% during 1999 as compared to 2.14% during
1998. The decrease in net interest margin on Mortgage Assets was primarily the result of a decrease in the net interest
margin on CMO collateral to 0.79% during 1999 as compared to 1.26% during 1998. The decrease in the net interest
margin on CMO collateral during 1999 was primarily due to an increase in amortization of net premiums as a result of
higher loan prepayments. CMO collateral significantly affects changes in net interest income as it represents the largest
percentage of total Mortgage Assets. Average CMO collateral accounted for 71% of total average Mortgage Assets
during 1999 and 63% of total average Mortgage Assets during 1998.



The following table summarizes average balance, interest and weighted average yield on Mortgage Assets and
borrowings for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 and includes interest income on Mortgage Assets and
interest expense related to borrowings on Mortgage Assets only (dollarsin thousands):

For the year ended December 31, 1999

For the year ended December 31, 1998

Weighted Weighted
Average Avg. % of Average Avg. % of
Balance I nter est Yield Portfolio Balance I nter est Yield Portfolio
MORTGAGE ASSETS
Subordinated securities
collateralized by mortgages $ 87,107 $ 12,604 1447 % 556% $ 88544 $ 11,219 1267 % 4.47 %
Subordinated securities
collateralized by other loans 7,433 834 11.22 0.47 5,364 709  13.22 0.27
Total investment securities
available-for-sae 94,540 13438 14.21 6.03 93,908 11,928 12.70 474
L oan receivables:
CMO collateral 1,119,813 74,096 6.62 71.48 1,244,458 92,011 7.39 62.87
M ortgage loans
held-for-investment 34,767 2,345 6.74 222 149,131 14,373 9.64 754
Finance receivables:
Affiliated 232,741 19,566 841 14.86 403,935 34,166 8.46 20.41
Non-affiliated 84,783 7,779 9.18 541 87,855 8,242 9.38 444
Total finance receivables 317,524 27,345 8.61 20.27 491,790 42,408 8.62 24.85
Total Loan Receivables 1,472,104 103,786 7.05 93.97 1,885,379 148,792 7.89 95.26
Total Mortgage Assets $ 1,566,644 $ 117,224 748 % 100.00% $ 1,979,287 $ 160,720 8.12 % 100.00 %
BORROWINGS
CMO borrowings $ 1,017,992 $ 65212 6.41 % 7425% $ 1153985 $ 76,309 6.61 %  64.63 %
Reverse repurchase
agreements—mortgages 331,179 21,545 6.51 24.16 605,486 40,439 6.68 33.91
Borrowings secured by
securities available-for-sale 6,445 686  10.64 0.47 — — — —
Reverse repurchase
agreements—securities 15,377 998 6.49 112 26,051 1,700 6.53 1.46
Total Borrowingson
M ortgage Assets $ 1,370,993 $ 88441 6.45 % 100.00% $ 1,785522 $ 118,448 6.63 %  100.00 %
Net Interest Spread (1) 1.03 % 1.49 %
Net Interest Margin (2) 1.84 % 214 %

(1) Calculated by subtracting the yield on total borrowings on Mortgage Assets from the yield on total Mortgage

Assets.

(2) Calculated by subtracting interest on total borrowings on Mortgage Assets from interest on total Mortgage Assets

and dividing the result by the average balance of total Mortgage Assets.

Interest income on Mortgage Assets: Interest income on CMO collateral decreased 19% to $74.1 million during 1999
as compared to $92.0 million during 1998 as average CMO collateral decreased 8% to $1.1 hillion as compared to $1.2
billion, respectively. Average CMO collateral decreased as the Long-Term Investment Operations issued CM Os totaling
$298.1 million during 1999, which were collateralized by $316.2 million of mortgages, as compared to CMOs totaling $768.0
million, which were collateralized by $788.2 million of mortgages, during 1998. Average CMO collateral also decreased
due to higher mortgage loan prepayments, which increased 16% to $490.0 million during 1999 as compared to $424.1
million during 1998. CPR on CMO collateral was 37% CPR during 1999 as compared to 30% CPR during 1998. However,
$222.9 million, or 35%, of mortgages acquired during 1999 by the Long-Term Investment Operations, had prepayment
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penalties as compared to $147.6 million, or 18%, of mortgages acquired with prepayment penalties during 1998. The
Company expects that the higher percentage of mortgages acquired for long-term investment with prepayment penalties
will lead to areduction in overall prepayments.

A decrease in the weighted average yield on CMO collateral also contributed to an overall decrease in interest
income on CMO collateral during 1999 as compared to 1998. The weighted average yield on CMO collateral decreased to
6.62% during 1999 as compared to 7.39% during 1998. The decrease in yield on CMO collateral during 1999 was primarily
due to amortization of net premiums paid in acquiring the mortgage loans held as CM O collateral and a decrease in short-
term interest rates, which are used as an index to determine interest rate adjustments on adjustable rate CM O collateral.
During 1999, the Company amortized net premiums on CMO collateral of $14.4 million as compared to $11.7 million during
1998. Amortization of net premiums on CMO collateral increased during 1999 as compared to 1998 primarily due to the
increase in the CPR, as previously mentioned. However, during 1999 IFC limited premiums paid on loans without
prepayment penalties. During 1999, IFC acquired mortgage loans at a weighted average price paid of 101.5 as compared
to a weighted average price paid of 102.3 during 1998. As of December 31, 1999, net premiums on CMO collateral was
$28.8 million as compared to $39.4 million at December 31, 1998.

Interest income on mortgage loans held-for-investment decreased 84% to $2.3 million during 1999 as compared to
$14.4 million during 1998 as average mortgage loans held-for-investment decreased 77% to $34.8 million as compared to
$149.1 million, respectively. Average mortgage loans held-for-investment decreased due to a decrease in mortgage loan
acquisitions by the Long-Term Investment Operations during 1999 as compared to 1998. Mortgage loans acquired from
IFC by the Long-Term Investment Operations decreased 26% to $638.3 million as compared to $866.7 million acquired
during 1998. As the Company focused on increased liquidity and reduced leverage during 1999, the Long-Term
Investment Operations reduced its acquisition of mortgage loans to be held for long-term investment and concentrated
on selling mortgage loans at IFC. Additionally, the decrease in the weighted average yield on mortgage |oans held-for-
investment during 1999 as compared to 1998 contributed to the decrease in interest income. The weighted average yield
decreased to 6.74% during 1999 as compared to 9.64% during 1998. The decrease in the yield on mortgage loans held-for-
investment during 1999 was primarily due to the sale of high-yielding 125 Loans by the Long-Term Investment
Operationsto IFC in December of 1998 and a decrease in mortgage rates during 1999. The majority of 125 L oans that were
held by the Long-Term Investment Operations were sold to IFC. Interest income on mortgage |oans held-for-investment
includes the effect of amortization of net premiums paid in acquiring the mortgage loans. As of December 31, 1999, net
premiums on mortgage loans held-for-investment was $2.0 million as compared to $482,000 as of December 31, 1998.

Interest income on finance receivables decreased 36% to $27.3 million during 1999 as compared to $42.4 million
during 1998 as average finance receivables decreased 35% to $317.5 million as compared to $491.8 million, respectively.
The decrease in interest income on finance receivables during 1999 was primarily the result of monthly whole loan sales
by IFC as compared to quarterly securitizations during 1998 and a decrease in loan acquisitions during 1999 as compared
to 1998. IFC’s loan accumulation and holding period shortened during 1999 as the Company sought to minimize interest
rate and market risk exposure on its mortgage loans held-for-sale and maintain strong liquidity levels through monthly
whole loan sales. In addition, IFC's loan acquisitions decreased to $1.7 billion during 1999 as conpared to $2.2 hillion
during 1998. As such, average outstanding finance receivables to affiliates (primarily 1FC) decreased to $232.7 million
during 1999 as compared to $403.9 million during 1998, which resulted in a decrease in interest income to $19.6 million as
compared to $34.2 million, respectively. The weighted average yield on affiliated finance receivables decreased to 8.41%
during 1999 as compared to 8.46% during 1998 as the average prime rate, which is the index the Company uses to
determine interest rates on finance receivables, was lower during 1999 as compared to 1998. Interest income on finance
receivables to non-affiliates decreased 5% to $7.8 million during 1999 as compared to $8.2 million during 1998 as average
outstanding finance receivables to non-affiliates decreased to $84.8 million as compared to $87.9 million, respectively.
Interest income on finance receivables to non-affiliates al so decreased as the weighted average yield decreased to 9.18%
during 1999 as compared to 9.38% during 1998 as the average prime rate was lower in 1999 as compared to 1998.

Interest income on investment securities available-for-sale increased 13% to $13.4 million during 1999 as compared
to $11.9 million during 1998 as average investment securities increased 1% to $94.5 million as compared to $93.9 million,
respectively. Interest income on investment securities primarily increased during 1999 as the weighted average yield on
investment securities increased to 14.21% during 1999 as compared to 12.70% during 1998. The yield on investment
securities increased during 1999 as compared to 1998 as the Long-Term Investment Operations acquired $18.3 million of



securities from IFC that had a higher weighted average yield than the weighted average yield of the total investment
securities portfolio and also due to achange in yield estimates on the remaining securities portfolio.

Interest expense on borrowings: Interest expense on CMO borrowings decreased 15% to $65.2 million during 1999
as compared to $76.3 million during 1998 as average borrowings on CMO collateral decreased 17% to $1.0 billion as
compared to $1.2 hillion, respectively. Average CMO borrowings decreased as the Long-Term Investment Operations
issued CMOs totaling $298.1 million during 1999 as compared to CM Ostotaling $768.0 million during 1998. Theincrease
in loan prepayments also contributed to the overall decrease in average CMO borrowings during 1999 as compared to
1998. The weighted average yield of CMO borrowings decreased to 6.41% during 1999 as comp ared to 6.61% during 1998
as average one-month LIBOR, which isthe index used to determine rates on adjustable rate CM O borrowings, was lower
during 1999 as compared to 1998. In addition, interest expense on CMO borrowings is affected by the amortization of
securitization costs. Securitization costs are incurred when a CMO is issued and securitization costs are capitalized and
amortized over the life of the CMO borrowings as an adjustment to the yield. During 1999, the Company amortized
securitization costs of $4.2 million as compared to $2.6 million during 1998 due to an increase in loan prepayments during
1999 as compared to 1998. As of December 31, 1999, unamortized securitization costs were $11.9 million as compared to
unamortized securitization costs of $12.3 million at December 31, 1998.

Interest expense on reverse repurchase borrowings, which are used to fund the acquisition of mortgage loans and
finance receivables, decreased 47% to $21.5 million during 1999 as compared to $40.4 million during 1998 as average
reverse repurchase agreements decreased 45% to $331.2 million as compared to $605.5 million, respectively. The decrease
in average finance receivables was primarily related to the previously discussed decrease in average finance receivables
to IFC. The Warehouse Lending Operations uses reverse repurchase agreements with investment banks to fund its
short-term loans to affiliates (primarily IFC) and non-affiliates. As IFC shortened the accumulation and holding period on
its mortgage loans held-for-sale and acquired fewer loans during 1999 as compared to 1998, | FC required lower borrowing
levels during 1999. The weighted average yield of reverse repurchase agreements collateralized by mortgage loans
decreased to 6.51% during 1999 as compared to 6.68% during 1998 as average one-month LIBOR, which isthe index used
by the Company’s lenders to determine interest rates on reverse repurchase borrowings, decreased during 1999 as
compared to 1998.

During most of 1999, the Company used investment securities available-for-sale as collateral to borrow under
reverse repurchase agreements to fund the purchase of mortgage-backed securities and to act as an additional source of
liquidity for the Company’s operations. During October 1999, the Company issued notes collateralized by its investment
securities available-for-sale to provide a more stable financing source for these assets. Therefore, combined interest
expense on reverse repurchase agreements and borrowings secured by investment securities available-for-sale remained
unchanged at $1.7 million during 1999 and 1998. The combined average balance on reverse repurchase agreements and
borrowings secured by investment securities available-for-sale decreased 16% to $21.8 million as compared to $26.1
million, respectively. The weighted average yield on these combined borrowings increased to 7.72% during 1999 as
compared to 6.53% during 1998.

Non-I nterest Income

Non-interest income increased to $6.9 million during 1999 as compared to $(13.5) million during 1998. Non-interest
income increased primarily due to an increase in equity in net earnings (loss) of IFC. Equity in net earnings (loss) of IFC
improved during 1999 as compared to 1998 due to increased profitability from the sale of mortgage loans. In addition, IFC
recorded non-cash write-downs on MSRs and investment securities held-for-sale during the fourth quarter of 1998. As
discussed previously, loss on loan sales and asset write-downs were due to a deterioration of the mortgage-backed
securitization market, which occurred during the latter part of 1998. As the mortgage market stabilized during 1999, IFC
returned to overall profitability, which in large part was due to profitability onloan sales.

Equity in Net Earnings (Loss) of IFC
Equity in net earnings (loss) of IFC increased to $4.3 million during 1999 as compared to $(13.9) million during 1998.
The Company records 99% of the earnings or losses from IFC, as the Company owns 100% of IFC's preferred stock,

which represents 99% of the economic interest in IFC. For more information on the results of operations of IFC, refer to
“%, Results of Operations¥s Impac Funding Corporation.”
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Equityin Net Loss of ICH

The Company’ s equity in net loss of |CH decreased to zero for 1999 as compared to aloss of $(998,000) for 1998. The
Company recorded no earnings or loss from ICH during 1999 as the Company sold its holdings of ICH Common Stock
during the fourth quarter of 1998. Prior to the fourth quarter of 1998, the Company recorded equity in net earnings (10ss)
in ICH by virtue of the Company’s ownership of 9.8% of ICH’s voting Common Stock and 100% of Class A non-voting
Common Stock.

Non-Interest Expense

Non-interest expense decreased to $8.7 million during 1999 as compared to $30.0 million during 1998. Non-interest
expense decreased primarily due to a decrease in write-down of investment securities available-for-sale, loss on equity
investment and general and administrative and other expense.

Write-down of | nvestment Securities Available-for-Sale

Write-down of investment securities available-for-sale decreased to $2.0 million during 1999 as compared to $14.1
million during 1998 as the mortgage market recovered from the problems that occurred during the latter half of 1998.

Loss on Equity I nvestment

Loss on equity investment decreased to zero during 1999 as compared to $9.1 million during 1998 as the Company
sold 100% of its Common Stock investment in ICH at aloss during the fourth quarter of 1998.

General and Administrative and Other Expense

General and administrative and other expense decreased to $1.3 million during 1999 as compared to $2.3 million
during 1998 as the Company sold its remaining 50% ownership interest in a commercia office building, where the
Company maintains its current headquarters, to ICH during the fourth quarter of 1998. Expenses related to the 50%
ownership interest in the property decreased to none during 1999 as compared to $622,000 during 1998.

Credit Exposures

Non-performing Assets. Non-performing assets consist of loans that are 90 days or more delinquent (“non-accrual
loans”), including loans in foreclosure and delinquent bankruptcies, and real estate acquired in settlement of loans, or
other real estate owned. It isthe Company’s policy to place a mortgage loan on non-accrual status when aloan becomes
90 days delinquent. Any previously accrued interest will be reversed from income. Non-accrual loans are included in
mortgage loans held-for-sale at IFC and mortgage loans held-for-investment and CMO collateral at IMH. The
outstanding unpaid principal balance of non-performing assets totaled $63.3 million at December 31, 1999 as compared to
$80.7 million a December 31, 1998. The decrease in non-performing assets was primarily due to the sale of delinquent
mortgage loans held-for-sale at IFC. Of the total non-performing assets at December 31, 1999 and 1998, other real estate
owned represented $9.7 million and $9.2 million, respectively, in unpaid principal balance. The carrying amount of other
real estate owned, after writing down the mortgage |oan to the broker’ s price opinion or appraised value, was $8.8 million
and $8.5 million at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively. The Company recorded |osses on the disposition of other
real estate owned of $2.2 million and $1.7 million during 1999 and 1998, respectively.

The Company monitors its sub-servicers to make sure that they perform loss mitigation, foreclosure and collection
functions according to the Company’s written policies. This includes an effective and aggressive collection effort in
order to minimize mortgage loans from becoming non-performing assets. However, when resolving non-performing
assets, the Company’s sub-servicers are required to take timely and aggressive action. The sub-servicer is required to
determine collectibility under various circumstances, which will result in maximum financial benefit to the Company. This
is accomplished by either working with the borrower to bring the loan current or by foreclosing and liquidating the
property. The Company performs ongoing reviews of loans that display weaknesses and believes it maintains adequate
|oss allowances on the mortgage loans.
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The following table summarizes the unpaid principal balance of the Company’s non-performing assets included in
its mortgage loan portfolios for the periods shown (in thousands):
At December 31,

1999 1998
Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale;
N LT ol (U PP g 2572 ¢ 15,328
Other real @StAtE OWNEM.........c.coieeeiereciretree ettt Ya Ya
Total mortgage 10ans held-FOr-SAlE........cvirrcscce s 2572 15,328
Mortgage Loans Held-for-Investment:
INON-BECTUBL ...ttt bbbt e bbbttt 8,229 6,870
[N ProCESS FOrECIOSUIES ......vueececietesecie ettt s nans 306 1,437
Total mortgage loans held-for-investment 8,535 8,307
CMO collateral:
[N o= o ox U= | OO 42,792 49,305
Other real ESLALE OWNEM.........ociiieeereeeririrerecie et a bbbttt 9,411 7,739
TOtAl CMO COHALEIA ...ttt ettt et b st se s sesessseesenens 52,203 57,044
Total Mortgage [0an POrtfOliOS. ... werrererrerrereereereesneeseeseesseessessessseessssesessessssssesssssssseees g 63310 § 80,679

Delinquent Loans. When a borrower fails to make required payments on aloan and does not cure the delinquency
within 60 days, the Company generally records a notice of default and commences foreclosure proceedings. If theloanis
not reinstated within the time permitted by law for reinstatement, the property may then be sold at a foreclosure sale. In
foreclosure sales, the Company generally acquires title to the property. At December 31, 1999, loans that were delinquent
30 days or more, as a percentage of the outstanding servicing balance of the mortgage loan portfolios, was 10.98% as
compared to 12.80% at December 31, 1998.

The following table summarizes the unpaid principal balance of the Company’s delinquent mortgage loans included
inits mortgage loan portfolios for the periods shown (in thousands):

At December 31,

1999 1998
Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale:
30-59 daAY'S AEIINQUENL........ceeeeeeeececeeeeeeteetee ettt bbb s g 9140 ¢ 6,976
60-89 day'S AEIINQUENL.......c.creriiieecres s sttt s anns 1,838 1,448
90 or more dayS deliNQUENT (1) .....cccvovrreiinereessrss s sssssesesasasesasns 2572 15,328
Total mortgage 10ans held-fOr-SAle.........ccvcrrrr s 13,550 23,752
Mortgage L oans Held-for-Investment:
30-59 days delinguent 7,029 2,334
60-89 days delinguent 1453 271
90 or more days delinquent (1) 8,229 6,870
Total mortgage |0ans hel d-fOr-INVESIMENL .........c.ovrerrerece e 16,711 9,525
CMO caollateral:
30-59 day'S AElINQUENL........cuevieireeereceririsesresee s ss s e sse st snsnssssesnsnsesnen 50,822 63,953
60-89 day'S AElINQUENL........coevreereeirecririresesie st sss e st sn s essesnsnsesnes 12,398 18,695
90 or more days delinquent (2)............. 2,792 49,305
Total CMO collateral...........ccoceenene. 106,012 131,953

Total mortgage |oan portfolios. § 136273 § 165,230

(1) Includesloansin foreclosure and delinquent bankruptcies.

Provision for Loan Losses. The Company’ stotal allowance for |oan lossesexpressed as a percentage of Gross Loan
Receivables which includes loans held-for-investment, CMO collateral and finance receivables, decreased to 0.27% at
December 31, 1999 as compared to 0.47% at December 31, 1998. The Company recorded net |oan loss provisions of $5.5



million during 1999 as compared to $4.4 million during 1998. The amount provided for loan losses during 1999 increased
primarily dueto an increase in foreclosures and the subsequent disposition of other real estate owned. The allowance for
loan losses is determined primarily on the basis of management’s judgment of net loss potential including specific
allowances for known impaired loans, changes in the nature and volume of the portfolio, value of the collateral and
current economic conditions that may affect the borrowers' ability to pay.

Year Ended December 31, 1998 as compared to Year Ended December 31, 1997
Net Earnings (L 0ss)

The Company recorded a net loss of $(5.9) million, or $(0.25) per basic and diluted common share, during the year
ended December 31, 1998 as compared to a net loss of $(16.0) million, or $(0.99) per basic and diluted common share, for
the year ended December 31, 1997. The Company’s net loss for 1998 was primarily the result of atax adjusted loss of $7.3
million on the sale of mortgage loans held-for-sale at IFC and atax adjusted non-cash charge of $2.9 million on the write-
down of IFC's MSRs and investment securities available-for-sale. In addition, the Company’s 1998 earnings were
negatively affected by a $9.1 million loss on the sale of its equity investment in ICH, which reflects the price the
Company received on the sale of its ICH common stock on October 19, 1998, an impairment charge of $14.1 million on
investment securities available-for-sale, a loss on sde of mortgage loans of $3.1 million, and aloss on disposition of real
estate owned of $1.7 million. Excluding the consolidated tax adjusted losses on mortgage loan sales of $10.4 million,
consolidated tax adjusted non-cash charges of $17.0 million, and the loss on sale of equity investment in ICH of $9.1
million, the Company’s earnings for the year ended December 31, 1998 would have been $30.6 million, or $1.28 per basic
and diluted common share, as compared to earnings of $28.3 million, or $1.74 per basic and diluted common share, for the
same period of 1997, after excluding a non-cash charge of $44.4 million for the Company’s buyout of its management
agreement. Earnings per share for 1998, including the adjustments described above, were lower as compared to earnings
per share for 1997 due to an increase in the number of common shares outstanding during 1998.

The loss on the sale of mortgage loans and the write-down of mortgage assets by the Company and IFC was
precipitated by the deterioration of the mortgage-backed securitization market during the third and fourth quarters of
1998. The deterioration of the mortgage-backed securitization market in 1998 created liquidity problems for the Company
as the Company’s lenders made margin calls on their reverse repurchase facilities. These margin calls resulted in the
Company delaying its third quarter dividend, which was paid on January 6, 1999, and selling mortgage loans and
mortgage-backed securities at losses in order to reduce outstanding borrowings on thesefacilities. Although aloss was
recorded for 1998, the Company was successful in improving liquidity and protecting stockholder value by selling out of
its mortgage loan positions rather than continuing to expose the Company to further market risk while accumulating
these loans for securitization.

Net | nterest Income

Net interest income increased 27% to $42.0 million during 1998 as compared to $33.0 million during 1997. Interest
income is primarily interest earned on Mortgage Assets and includes interest income earned on cash and cash
equivalents and due from affiliates. Interest expense is primarily interest paid on borrowings on Mortgage Assets and
includes interest expense paid on due to affiliates. Mortgage Assets include CMO collateral, mortgage loans held-for-
investment, finance receivables and investment securities available-for-sale. Borrowings on Mortgage Assets include
CMO borrowings and reverse repurchase agreements. The increase in net interest income during 1998 as compared to
1997 was primaily the result of higher average Mortgage Assets, which increased 54% to $2.0 billion during 1998 as
compared to $1.3 billion during 1997. The net interest spread on Mortgage Assets decreased to 1.49% during 1998 as
compared to 1.89% during 1997. The decrease in net interest spread on Mortgage Assets was primarily the result of a
decrease in the net interest spread on CMO collateral, which represents the largest portion of Mortgage Assets on a
weighted-average basis. The net interest spread on CMO collateral was 0.78% during 1998 as compared to 1.40% during
1997. The decrease in net interest spread on CMO collateral during 1998 was primarily due to higher rates of mortgage
|oan prepayments and correspondingly higher rates of premium amortization expense as compared to 1997.



The following table summarizes average balance, interest and weighted-average yield on Mortgage Assets and
borrowings for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997 and includes interest income on Mortgage Assets and
interest expense related to borrowings on Mortgage Assets only (dollars in thousands):

For the year ended December 31, 1998 For the year ended December 31, 1997
Weighted Weighted
Average Avg. % of Average Avg. % of
Balance I nter est Yield Portfolio Balance I nter est Yield Portfolio

MORTGAGE ASSETS
Subordinated securities

collateralized by mortgages $ 88544 $ 11,219 1267 % 447% $ 58956 $ 7,519 12.75% 451 %
Subordinated securities

collateralized by other loans 5,364 709 1322 0.27 5,980 1,028  17.19 0.46
Total investment securities
available-for-sae 93,908 11,928 1270 4,74 64,936 8547 13.16 4,97
L oan receivables:
CMO collateral 1,244,458 92,011 7.39 62.87 626,831 47,967 7.65 47.93
Mortgage loans
held-for-investment 149,131 14,373 9.64 7.54 182,215 14,535 7.98 13.93
Finance receivables:
Affiliated 403,935 34,166 8.46 20.41 403,931 34,299 8.49 30.88
Non-affiliated 87,855 8,242 9.38 4.44 29,963 2,991 9.98 2.29
Total finance receivables 491,790 42,408 8.62 24.85 433,894 37,290 8.59 33.17
Total Loan Receivables 1,885,379 148,792 7.89 95.26 1,242,940 99,792 8.03 95.03

Total Mortgage Assets $ 1,979,287 $ 160,720 812 % 1000% $ 1,307,876 $ 108,339 828 %  100.00 %

BORROWINGS
CMO borrowings $ 1,153985 $ 76,309 6.61 % 6463% $ 586463 $ 36,665 6.25 % 49.06 %
Reverse repurchase

agreements—mortgages 605,486 40,439 6.68 33.91 580,908 37,881 6.52 48.59
Reverse repurchase

agreements—securities 26,051 1,700 6.53 1.46 28,109 1,836 6.53 2.35
Total Borrowingson

M ortgage Assets $ 1,785522 $ 118,448 6.63% 10000% $ 1,195480 $ 76,382 6.39 %  100.00 %
Net Interest Spread 1.49 % 1.89 %
Net Interest Margin 214 % 244 %

Interest income on Mortgage Assets: Interest income on CMO collateral increased 92% to $92.0 million during 1998
as compared to $48.0 million during 1997 as average CMO collateral increased 91% to $1.2 billion as compared to $626.8
million, respectively. Average CMO collateral increased as the Long-Term Investment Operations issued CM Os totaling
$768.0 million during 1998, which were collateralized by $788.2 million of mortgages held by the Long-Term Investment
Operations. The weighted average yield on CMO collateral decreased to 7.39% during 1998 as compared to 7.65% during
1997. The decrease in the yield on CMO collateral during 1998 was primarily due to higher rates of mortgage loan
prepayments and correspondingly higher rates of premium amortization expense as compared to 1997. Interest income on
CMO collateral includes the effect of amortization of net premiums paid in acquiring the mortgage loans. As of December
31, 1998, net premiuns on CMO collateral was $39.4 million.

Interest income on mortgage loans held-for-investment decreased 1% to $14.4 million during 1998 as compared to
$14.5 million during 1997 as average mortgage loans held-for-investment decreased 18% to $149.1 million as compared to
$182.2 million, respectively. The weighted average yield on mortgage loans held-for-investment increased to 9.64%
during 1998 as compared to 7.98% during 1997. The increase in the yield on mortgage loans held-for-investment during
1998 was primarily due to higher average balance of 125 Loans outstanding and held in portfolio during 1998 as
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compared to 1997. Most of the 125 Loans that were held by the Long-Term Investment Operations were sold to IFC in
December 1998. Interest income on mortgage loans held-for-investment includes the effect of amortization of net
premiums paid in acquiring the mortgage loans. As of December 31, 1998, net premiums on mortgage loans held-for-
investment was $482,000.

Interest income on finance receivables increased 14% to $42.4 million during 1998 as compared to $37.3 million
during 1997 as average finance receivables increased 13% to $491.8 million as compared to $433.9 million, respectively.
The increase in interest income on finance receivables was primarily the result of an increase of 193% in average finance
receivables to non-affiliated mortgage banking companies to $87.9 million during 1998 as compared to $30.0 million
during 1997. Interest income on finance receivables to non-affiliates increased 173% to $8.2 million during 1998 as
compared to $3.0 million during 1997. The weighted average yield on non-affiliated finance receivables decreased to
9.38% during 1998 as compared to 9.98% during 1997. Average finance receivables outstanding to affiliates was constant
at $403.9 million during 1998 and 1997. Interest income on finance receivables to affiliates decreased to $34.2 million
during 1998 as compared to $34.3 million during 1997. The weighted average yield on affiliated finance receivables
decreased to 846% during 1998 as compared to 8.49% during 1997. The overall weighted average yield on finance
receivablesincreased to 8.62% during 1998 as compared to 8.59% during 1997.

Interest income on investment securities available-for-sale increased 40% to $11.9 million during 1998 as compared
to $8.5 million during 1997 as average investment securities available-for-sale increased 45% to $93.9 million as compared
to $64.9 million, respectively. The increase in average securities avail able-for-sale during 1998 was the result of the Long-
Term Investment Operations purchasing and retaining mortgage-backed securities of $60.6 million that were issued by
IFC as REMICs. The weighted average yield on investment securities avail able-for-sale decreased to 12.70% during 1993
as compared to 13.16% during 1997 due to the purchase of lower-yielding securities during 1998.

Interest expense on borrowings: Interest expense on CMO borrowings increased 108% to $76.3 million during 1998
as compared to $36.7 million during 1997 as average borrowings on CMO collateral increased 105% to $1.2 billion as
compared to $586.5 million, respectively. Average CMO borrowings increased as the Long-Term Investment Operations
issued CMOs totaling $768.0 million during 1998. The weighted average yield of CMO borrowings increased to 6.61%
during 1998 as compared to 6.25% during 1997. This increase was the result of the Company issuing fixed-rate CMOs
totaling $583.0 million during 1998 at higher interest rates than the initial interest rates on varigble-rate CMOs the
Company issued prior to 1998. Although borrowing rates on the fixed-rate CMOs are generally higher than the initial
interest rates on variable-rate CMOs, the Company receives a comparable interest rate spread on fixed-rate CMOs as it
doesonitsvariable-rate CMOs.

Interest expense on reverse repurchase borrowings used to fund the acquisition of mortgage loans and finance
receivables increased 7% to $40.4 million during 1998 as compared to $37.9 million during 1997 as the average balance of
reverse repurchase agreements increased 4% to $605.5 million during 1998 as compared to $580.9 million during 1997. The
increase in average finance receivables was primarily related to an increase in finance receivables made to non-affiliates
of the Company and to the longer time period IFC’s mortgage loans were outstanding on IWLG'’ s warehouse facilities
during 1998. As the market for mortgage-backed securitizations and whol e loan sal es deteriorated during the latter half of
1998 and made it more difficult for IFC to securitize or sell mortgage loans, the average number of days that IFC
warehoused its mortgage loans with IWLG increased during 1998 as compared to 1997. The weighted average yield of
reverse repurchase agreements collateralized by mortgage loans increased to 6.68% during 1998 as compared 6.52%
during 1997.

The Company also uses mortgage-backed securities as collateral to borrow under reverse repurchase agreements to
fund the purchase of mortgage-backed securities and to act as an additional source of liquidity for the Company’s
operations. Interest expense on these reverse repurchase agreements decreased 6% to $1.7 million during 1998 as
compared to $1.8 million during 1997 as the average balance on these reverse repurchase agreements decreased 7% to
$26.1 million as compared to $28.1 million, respectively. The weighted average yield of reverse repurchase agreements
collateralized by mortgage-backed securities remained constant at 6.53% during 1998 and 1997.



Non-Interest Income
Equity in Net Earnings (loss) of IFC

The Company’s equity in net loss of IFC decreased to aloss of $(13.9) million for 1998 as compared to earnings of
$8.3 million for 1997. The decrease in equity in net earnings (loss) of IFC during 1998 was primarily the result of net
losses on sale of mortgage loans and non-cash charges for the write-down of M SRs and investment securities avail able-
for-sale. The net loss on sale of mortgage loans and the non-cash charges were due to the deterioration of the mortgage-
backed securitization market, as previously discussed. The Company records 99% of the earnings or losses from IFC as
the Company owns 100% of IFC’s preferred stock, which represents 99% of the economic interest in IFC. For more
information on the results of operations of IFC, refer to “ %2 Results of Operations¥s Impac Funding Corporation.”

Equity in Net Loss of ICH

The Company’s equity in net loss of ICH increased to a loss of $(998,000) for 1998 as compared to a loss of
$(239,000) for 1997. The increase in equity in net loss of ICH during 1998 was primarily the result of a deficit in equity in
net earnings (loss) of ICCC of $(19.2), which ICH records on its consolidated financial statements, and an impairment
charge of $1.7 million that ICH recorded on its residual interest in securitization held-for-trading. ICH records 95% of the
earnings or losses from ICCC as ICH owns 100% of ICCC's preferred stock, which represents 95% of the economic
interest in ICCC. Prior to October 19, 1998, the Company recorded equity in net lossin ICH by virtue of the Company’s
ownership of 9.8% of ICH’s voting Common Stock and 100% of Class A non-voting Common Stock. On October 19,
1998, ICH repurchased from IMH 937,084 shares of ICH Common Stock and 456,916 shares of ICH Class A Common
Stock, which represented all ICH Common Stock that IMH owned, and eliminating any recognition of earnings or losses
from ICH. For more information on the results of operations of ICH, refer to Impac Commercial Holdings, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 26, 1999.

Non-I nterest Expense
General and Administrative and Other Expense

General and administrative and other expense increased to $2.3 million during 1998 as compared to $836,000 during
1997. The increase in general and administrative and other expense was primarily related to property expense on a
commercial office building in which the Company had a 50% ownership interest, which was sold to ICH in October 1998.
Property expense increased to $623,000 during 1998 as compared to $109,000 during 1997.

Professional Services

Professional services increased to $2.2 million during 1998 as compared to $1.1 million during 1997. Professional
services primarily includes intercompany allocations of MIS, accounting and executive management services from |FC
which increased to $968,000 during 1998 as compared to $385,000 during 1997. Professional services also includes
outside legal, accounting and tax work performed for the Company.

Advisory Fees

Earnings were positively affected by a reduction in advisory fees resulting from the Company’s buyout of its
management agreement with ICAI in December 1997. Asaresult of the buyout, there were no advisory fees paid by IMH
during 1998 as compared to $6.2 million in advisory fees paid by IMH during 1997.

Provision for Loan Losses
The Company recorded loan loss provisions of $4.4 million during 1998 as compared to $6.8 million during 1997. The
amount provided for loan losses during 1998 decreased primarily due to areduction in exposure to future losses through

the sale of delinquent loans and the transfer of certain loans from the held-for-investment to the held-for-sale portfolio
(asexplained below).
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Credit Exposures

Non-performing Assets. The outstanding unpaid principal balance of non-performing assets totaled $80.7 million at
December 31, 1998 as compared to $50.1 million at December 31, 1997. The increase in non-performing assets was
primarily due to delinquent mortgage loans with high loan-to-value ratios, which were purchased in 1997, and the
seasoning of mortgage loans held for long-term investment. Of the total non-performing assets at December 31, 1998 and
1997, other rea estate owned represented $9.2 million and $5.7 million, respectively, in unpaid principal balance. The
carrying amount of other real estate owned, after writing down the mortgage loan to the broker’s price opinion or
appraised value, was $8.5 million and $5.7 million at December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively. The Company recorded
losses on the disposition of other real estate owned of $1.7 million during 1998 as compared to gains on disposition of
other real estate owned of $433,000 during 1997.

The following table summarizes the unpaid principal balance of the Company’s non-performing assets included in
its mortgage loan portfolios for the periods shown (in thousands):

At December 31,
1998 1997

Mortoaoe Loans Held-for-Sale:
NON-ACCIUAL ...t 4 15328 ¢ 5,740

Other real estate owned a4 Ya
Tota mortaage loans held-for-sale 15,328 5,740

Mortgage L oans Held-for-Investment:
[N LoT g = ox 4 U | TR 6,870 7,627
Other real EStAte OWNE.........coveveeeeeeeecee ettt se st ae e aeaean 1,437 1,415
Total mortaage |0ans held-fOr-iNVESIMENT ..ot 8.307 9,042

CMO collateral:

[} Lo = ol U= O 49,305 31,056
Other real EStALE OWNEM........c.coiceeeeieeceeeee ettt ettt b s 7,739 4,247
TOtal CMO COHBEIAL ...ttt et se b 57,044 35,303
Total mortgage 10an POrtfolios.........coucriiceneiee e seees $ 80.679 ¢ 50,085

Delinquencies. At December 31, 1998, loans that were delinquent 30 days or more, as a percentage of the
outstanding servicing balance of the mortgage loan portfolios, was 10.98% as compared to 9.81% at December 31, 1997.
The following table summarizes the unpaid principal balance of the Company’s delinquent mortgage loansincluded in its
mortgage |oan portfolios for the periods shown (in thousands):

At December 31,

1998 1997
Mortaace Loans Held-for-Sale:
30-59 days delinguent 4 6,976 ¢ 21,309
60-89 days delinquent 1,448 3,395
90 or more days delingquent (1) 15,328 5,740
Total mortaade 10aNS NElA-FOr-SAE.........cou et 23,752 30,444
Mortaage L oans Held-for-Investment:
30-59 days delinquent 2,384 2,999
60-89 days delinquent 271 3,375
90 or more days delinguent (1) 6,870 7,627
Total mortgage loans held-for-investrrent 9,525 14,001
CMO collateral:
30-59 dAyS AEIINQUENL........ooveeeeeecteee ettt ettt ettt ae e e et ss et se e et se e naes 63,953 59,223
60-89 days delinquent 18,695 16,034
90 or MOre dayS AElINQUENT (L) ......cceeeiiieeiiesecicesi et sb e bbb b sbans 49,305 31,056
TOtal CMO COHBEIAL ...ttt se bbb sn e baanas 131,953 106,313
Total mortgage 10an POrtfolios.........ccceiiceninee et aes 4 165230 § 150,758



(1) Includesloansin foreclosure and delinquent bankruptcies.

Provision for Loan Losses. The Company’stotal allowance for |oan losses expressed as a percentage of Gross Loan
Receivables which includes loans held-for-investment, CM O collateral and finance receivables, increased to 0.47% at
December 31, 1998 as compared to 0.32% at December 31, 1997. The Company recorded net |oan loss provisions of $4.4
million during 1998 as compared to $6.8 million during 1997. The amount provided for loan losses during 1998 decreased
primarily due to areduction in exposure to future losses through the sale of delinquent loans and the transfer of certain
loans from the held-for-investment to the held-for-sale portfolio, which resulted in a mark-to-market adjustment. The
allowance for loan losses is determined primarily on the basis of management’s judgment of net loss potential including
specific allowances for known impaired loans, changes in the nature and volume of the portfolio, value of the collateral
and current economic conditions that may affect the borrowers’ ability to pay.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS—
IMPAC FUNDING CORPORATION

Year Ended December 31, 1999 as compared to Year Ended December 31, 1998
Net Earnings (L 0ss)

IFC recorded net earnings of $4.3 million during 1999 as compared to a net loss of $(14.0) million during 1998.
Earnings increased during 1999 as compared to 1998 primarily as the mortgage market stabilized and recovered from the
liquidity crisis, which occurred during the latter part of 1998. Asthe mortgage market recovered during 1999, | FC returned
to overal profitability, which in large part was due to the profitability on the sale of its mortgage loans. During 1998, IFC
sold loans at significant losses to meet margin calls and raise liquidity. In addition, |FC recorded non-cash write-down on
MSRs and investment securities available-for-sale.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income decreased to $272,000 during 1999 as compared to $7.8 million during 1998 as average mortgage
loans held-for-sale decreased 50% to $240.1 million as compared to $476.1 million, respectively. Average mortgage loans
held-for-sale decreased due to the shorter accumulation and holding period of mortgage loans held-for-sale and a
decrease in mortgage loan acquisitions. During 1999, IFC primarily sold loans monthly on awhole loan basis as opposed
to quarterly securitizations, which occurred during 1998. Monthly whole loan sales were completed during 1999 in order
to reduce interest rate and market risk exposures and to maintain strong liquidity levels. In addition, mortgage loan
acquisitions decreased 23% to $1.7 billion during 1999 as compared to mortgage loan acquisitions of $2.2 billion during
1998. Mortgage loan acquisitions decreased during 1999 as compared to 1998 due to the residual effects of the
deterioration of the mortgage-backed securitization market, which occurred during the latter part of 1998. In response to
the liquidity crisis, IFC raised interest rates on its loan programs and decreased the amount of premiums paid on itsloan
acquisitions, which caused some of IFC’s correspondent sellers to use other sources for the funding of their mortgage
loans. During 1999, IFC continued to rebuild its mortgage loan acquisitions to previous levels by offering its sellers
competitive and flexible mortgage products. As such, mortgage |oan acquisitions increased 48% to $548.2 million during
the fourth quarter of 1999 as compared to $370.5 million during the fourth quarter of 1998.

Non-I nterest Income

Non-interest income increased to $33.3 million during 1999 as compared to $(5.7) million during 1998 as gain on sale
of loans increased to $27.1 million during 1999 as compared to $(11.7) million during 1998. In line with the Company’s
overal strategy to reduce interest rate and market risk exposure and to maintain strong liquidity levels, IFC sold
mortgage loans on awhole loan basis for cash during 1999, as opposed to sales through asset-backed securitizations for
non-cash gains, which occurred during 1998. During 1999, IFC sold mortgages totaling $824.1 million, on a servicing
released basis, to third party investors as compared to loan sales of $856.2 million during 1998. The sale of loans on a
servicing released basis during 1999 reduced IFC's exposure to further prepayment risk. IFC also securitized $360.1
million in REMICs during 1999 as compared to $907.5 million in REMICs during 1998. The increase in gain on sale of
loans was partially offset by adecreasein loan servicing income during 1999 as compared to 1998. L oan servicing income
decreased to $5.2 million during 1999 as compared to $7.1 million during 1998 as |FC sold M SRs and completed |oan sales
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on a servicing released basis. Total unpaid principal balance of mortgage loans at the time MSRs were sold was $2.3
billion.

Non-Interest Expense

Non-interest expense increased 5% to $26.0 million during 1999 as compared to $24.8 million during 1998. Non-
interest expense during 1999 was positively affected by decreases in personnel expense and impairment and amortization
of MSRs. Personnel expense decreased 18% to $7.3 million as compared to $8.9 million during 1998. Personnel expense
decreased primarily due to a reduction in staff which occurred during the fourth quarter of 1998 and carried into 1999.
During the fourth quarter of 1998, IFC reduced staff in anticipation of decreased loan acquisitions due to the
deterioration of the mortgage-backed securitization market. The reduction in staff also contributed to increased liquidity
from operating activities. Impairment of MSRs decreased to $1.1 million during 1999 as compared to $3.7 million during
1998 as the mortgage market recovered during 1999. Impairment of MSRs recorded in 1998 was primarily due to the
deterioration of the mortgage-backed securitization market. Amortization of MSRs decreased to $5.3 million as compared
to $6.4 million as IFC sold M SRs and compl eted whole |oan sales on a servicing rel eased basis.

The decreases in personnel expense and impairment and amortization of MSRs were offset by increases in write-
down on securities available-for-sale and general and administrative and other expense. Write-down on securities
available-for-sale increased to $4.3 million during 1999 as compared to zero during 1998. The write-down on securities
available-for-sale was due to the complete write-off of an investment security deemed to have no value. The increase in
general and administrative and other expense during 1999 was primarily due to costs associated with the operation of the
wholesale and retail origination division, which began operations in 1999, and costs associated with the application of
the Bank charter.

Year Ended December 31, 1998 as compared to Year Ended December 31, 1997
Net Earnings (L 0ss)

IFC recorded a net loss of $(14.0) million for the year ended December 31, 1998 as compared to net earnings of $8.4
million for the same period in 1997. Earnings decreased for the year ended December 31, 1998 as compared to the same
period in 1997 primarily as a result of net losses on sale of mortgage loans and non-cash charges for the write-down of
MSRs and investment securities available-for-sale. The net loss on sale of mortgage |oans and non-cash charges was
due to the deterioration of the mortgage-backed securitization market, as previously discussed. In addition, earnings for
the year ended December 31, 1998 were negatively affected by increasesin personnel expense, amortization of MSRs and
general and administrative and other expense.

Net | nterest Income

Net interest income increased 22% to $7.8 million during 1998 as compared to $6.4 million during 1997. Although
mortgage loan acquisitions decreased 15% to $2.2 hillion during 1998 as compared to $2.6 billion during 1997, IFC had
higher average mortgage loan balances outstanding as the mortgage-backed securitization and whole loan sales market
deteriorated during the latter half of 1998 and made it more difficult for IFC to securitize or sell mortgage loans. Average
mortgage loans held-for-sale increased 5% to $476.1 million during 1998 as compared to $455.3 million during 1997. The
weighted average yield on mortgage loans held-for-sale increased to 9.47% during 1998 as compared to 9.31% during
1997.

In addition, IFC’s total net interest spread increased to 1.29% during 1998 as compared to 1.10% during 1997. The
increase in total net interest spread was primarily due to a reduction of borrowings on residual interests in securities,
which occurred in December of 1997. These borrowings were paid off as part of the Company’s termination of its
management agreement with ICAI. Total interest expense on these borrowings was $3.7 million during 1997 with ayield
of 11.81%.

Non-I nterest Income



Non-interest income decreased to $(5.7) million during 1998 as compared to $24.2 million during 1997. Non-interest
income decreased primarily due to a reduction of $31.1 million in gain on sale of loans, a mark-to-market loss of $805,000
on investment securities available-for-sale, and a decrease of $1.3 million on gain on sale of investment securities.

During 1998, IFC securitized $907.5 million of mortgages and sold whole loans to third party investors totaling
$856.2 million, resulting in net loss on sale of loans of $11.7 million, during 1998. This compares to securitizations of
$878.0 million and whole loan sales to third parties of $501.7 million, resulting in net gain on sale of loans of $19.4 million,
during 1997. The increase in loan sales to third parties during 1998 as compared to 1997 was the result of IFC selling
mortgage loans to reduce its outstanding borrowings on its reverse repurchase facilities in order to meet margin calls
from its lenders. The loss on loans sold during 1998 as compared to gain on loans sold during 1997 was the result of
lower prices IFC received on its loans. The Company felt it was important to protect shareholder value and increase
liquidity by selling out of its mortgage |oan positions at |osses rather than take additional interest rate and market risk by
retaining the loans for securitization.

Loan servicing income increased 73% to $7.1 million for 1998 as compared to $4.1 million for 1997 due to the
continued increasein IFC’ s servicing portfolio. IFC continues to build its loan servicing portfolio as I|FC generally retains
loan servicing rights on mortgage loans acquired. Total loans serviced at December 31, 1998 were 33,414, or $3.7 billionin
principal balance of mortgages, as compared to 28,494, or $3.0 billion in principal balance of mortgages, at December 31,
1997.

Non-Interest Expense

Non-interest expense increased to $24.8 million during 1998 as compared to $16.0 million during 1997. Theincreasein
expense was primarily the result of increases in personnel expense of $2.1 million, amortization of MSRs of $3.5 million
and a non-cash impairment charge on MSRs of $3.7 million.

Personnel expense increased 31% to $8.9 million during 1998 as compared to $6.8 million during 1997 primarily due
to an increase in staff and incentive compensation during the first nine months of 1998 as IFC’s production volumes
increased. However, in October of 1998 | FC reduced staff by approximately 25% as production volumes decreased during
the fourth quarter of 1998 due to interest rate and purchase price adjustments |FC made on itsloan programs.

Amortization of MSRs increased to $6.4 million during 1998 as compared to $2.8 million during 1997 due to
continued growth of IFC’s servicing portfolio. Since December 31, 1997, the Company has securitized $907.5 million in
principal balance of mortgage loans and, accordingly, has capitalized M SRs related to those securitizations which are
amortized in proportion to, and over the period of expected net servicing income. In addition, during 1998 |IFC recorded
an impairment charge of $3.7 million onitsMSRs as aresult of adecrease in their value.

Liquidity and Capital Resour ces
Overview

Historically, the Company’s business operations are primarily funded from monthly interest and principal payments
from its mortgage loan and investment securities portfolios, adjustable- and fixed-rate CMO financing, reverse
repurchase agreements secured by mortgage loans, borrowings secured by mortgage-backed securities, proceeds from
the sale of mortgage loans and the issuance of REMICs and proceeds from the issuance of Common Stock through
secondary stock offerings, DRSPP, and its structured equity shelf program (“ SES Program”). The acquisition of mortgage
loans and mortgage-backed securities by the Long-Term Investment Operations are primarily funded from monthly
principal and interest payments, reverse repurchase agreements, CM O financing, and proceeds from the sale of Common
Stock. The acquisition of mortgage loans by the Conduit Operations are funded from reverse repurchase agreements, the
sale of mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities and the issuance of REMICs. Short-term warehouse financing,
finance receivables, provided by the Warehouse Lending Operations are primarily funded from reverse repurchase
agreements. During 1999, the Company issued no new shares of Common Stock through stock offerings or through its
SES Program and issued only minimal shares of Common Stock through its DRSPP. In addition, during 1999 the Company
suspended the issuance of any new shares of Common Stock under the DRSPP.
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The Company’s ability to meet its long-term liquidity requirements is subject to the renewal of its credit and
repurchase facilities and/or obtaining other sources of financing, including additional debt or equity from time to time.
Any decision by the Company’s lenders and/or investors to make additional funds available to the Company in the
future will depend upon a number of factors, such as the Company’s compliance with the terms of its existing credit
arrangements, the Company’s financial performance, industry and market trends in the Company’s various businesses,
the general availability of and rates applicable to financing and investments, such lenders’ and/or investors' own
resources and policies concerning loans and investments, and the relative attractiveness of alternative investment or
lending opportunities.

Results of Liquidity during 1999

The deterioration of the mortgage-backed securitization market during the latter half of 1998 created a lack of
liquidity for the Company as the Company’s lenders made margin calls on their reverse repurchase agreements. Margin
calls result from the Company’s lenders evaluating the market value of underlying collateral securing the reverse
repurchase agreements and requiring additional equity or collateral on the reverse repurchase agreements. These margin
calls resulted in the Company delaying its third quarter dividend, which was paid on January 6, 1999, and selling
mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities, during the fourth quarter of 1998, at significant losses. During the
fourth quarter of 1998, the Company completed the sale of $250.4 million of mortgage loans and $8.9 million of mortgage-
backed securities, which increased the Company’ s liquidity by $13.6 million, at the time of sale, after paying down related
reverse repurchase agreements. By selling mortgage loans and paying down outstanding borrowings on reverse
repurchase facilities, the Company reduced its exposure to future margin calls.

However, the market disruptions during 1998 caused several public companies to file for protection from their
creditors under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. This had the effect of causing reduced investor confidence with certain
sectors of the financial servicesindustry, particularly REITs, which in turn caused stock pricesto fall sharply. As aresult
of this decline in stock prices, the Company suspended any purchases of its Common Stock through its DRSPP and was
unable to access the capital markets and raise additional cash. In response to these market conditions and availability of
capital, the Company increased the pricing of its loans and limited the amount of premiums paid in acquiring mortgage
loans. In anticipation of reduced production from increased |oan rates and decreased loan pricing, the Company reduced
staffing levels, thereby increasing liquidity from operating activities.

As the mortgage market stabilized during 1999, the Company restructured its balance sheet and generated cash
internally to meet its funding needs. IFC completed monthly whole loan sales on a servicing released basis, which
provided liquidity throughout 1999 to acquire mortgage loans and fund operations. The Company also completed a re-
securitization of a portion of its investment securities available-for-sale in October 1999, which raised additional cash of
approximately $23.4 million after repaying short-term borrowings secured by the investment securities. The cash
proceeds were used to acquire mortgages from IFC, increase outstanding lending by the Warehouse Lending
Operations, repurchase Common Stock and other business expansion. The Company successfully repurchased 2.0
million shares of Common Stock for $9.9 million with the cash generated by the re-securitization and reduced its reliance
on reverse repurchase agreements. Reverse repurchase agreements to finance its investment securities decreased to zero
at December 31, 1999 as compared to $24.1 million at December 31, 1998. The Company continued to maintain reduced
leverage and strong liquidity levels during 1999. The Company’s debt-to-equity ratio increased slightly to 6.0:1 at
December 31, 1999 as compared to 5.6:1 at December 31, 1998, which was well within the Company’s target range. This
compares to a debt-to-equity ratio of 7.9:1 at September 30, 1998, which was prior to the deterioration of the mortgage-
backed securitization market during the fourth quarter of 1998. During 1999, the Company experienced no margin calls on
itsreverse repurchase facilities.

The Company believes that current liquidity levels, available financing facilities and additional liquidity provided by
operating activities, as projected for 2000, will adequately provide for the Company’s projected funding needs, asset
growth and the payment of dividends. As such, the Board of Directors has announced a dividend policy for 2000 that
allows the Company to expand its business operations and focus on rebuilding the Company’s balance sheet without
the diluted effect of offering additional shares of Common Stock at current market levels. During 2000, the Company
plans to distribute 100% of taxable earnings. However, any future margin calls and, depending upon the state of the
mortgage industry, terms of any sale of Mortgage Assets may adversely affect the Company’s ability to pay dividends
in future periods or subject the Company to future losses.

52



Definitive Agreement to Acquire Thrift and Loan Charter. During the first quarter of 1999, the Company completed
adefinitive agreement to acquire a Bank. As provided for in the agreement, the Company submitted its application in the
second quarter of 1999 for a change of control to the state and federal regulatory agencies for their approval. During the
process of reviewing the application, the federal agency raised certain issues. The Company was not able to give the
federal agency sufficient comfort with respect to those issues without modifying its proposal. The Company submitted a
new application to state and federal regulatory agencies in the first quarter of 2000. The new application was modified
from the previous application in several key areas and to more clearly define the Bank as a stand-al one operation that is
not reliant upon the Company for its success. It is anticipated that the Bank will market its own unique loan products,
which will include mortgages, consumer equity loans and loans on small commercial and multi-family properties.
However, there are no assurances that the new application for change of control will be received favorably by either of
the state or federal regulatory agencies. In the event that the Company is unsuccessful in its efforts to obtain the Bank
charter, management believesthat it will have no adverse impact on the future profitability of the Company.

Sources of Liquidity

Long-Term Investment Operations. The Long-Term Investment Operations uses QMO borrowings to finance
substantially all of its mortgage loan portfolio. Terms of the CMO borrowings require that an independent third party
custodian hold the mortgages. The maturity of each classis directly affected by the rate of principal prepayments on the
related collateral. Equity in the CMOs is established at the time the CMOs are issued at levels sufficient to achieve
desired credit ratings on the securities from rating agencies. The amount of equity invested in CMOs by the Long-Term
Investment Operations is also determined by the Company based upon the anticipated return on equity as compared to
the estimated proceeds from additional debt issuance. Total credit loss exposure is limited to the equity invested in the
CMQOs at any point in time. At December 31, 1999, the Long-Term Investment Operations had $850.8 million of CMO
borrowings used to finance $949.7 million of CMO collateral.

Prior to October 1999, the Long-Term Investment Operations pledged mortgage-backed securities as collateral to
borrow funds under reverse repurchase agreements. The terms under these reverse repurchase agreements were
generaly for 30 days with interest rates ranging from one-month LIBOR plus 0.45% to 2.00% depending on the type of
collateral provided. However, during October 1999, the Company re-securitized a portion of its mortgage-backed
securities portfolio with notes. As of December 31, 1999, the Long-Term Investment Operations had $31.3 million
outstanding under these notes, which were secured by $49.6 million in fair market value of mortgage-backed securities.
The Company still has the ability to borrow funds under the reverse repurchase agreements.

During 1999, the Company raised capital of $1.0 million from the sale of 216,156 shares of Common Stock issued
through its DRSPP.

Conduit Operations: The Conduit Operations has entered into warehouse line agreements to obtain financing of up
to $600.0 million from the Warehouse Lending Operations to provide | FC mortgage loan financing during the period that
IFC accumulates mortgage loans until the mortgage loans are securitized or sold. The margins on IFC's reverse
repurchase agreements are based on the type of collateral provided and generally range from 95% to 98% of the fair
market value of the collateral. The interest rates on the borrowings are indexed to prime, which was 8.50% at December
31, 1999. As of December 31, 1999, the Conduit Operations had $66.1 million outstanding under the warehouse line
agreements. |FC also has an uncommitted warehouse line agreement to obtain financing from a major investment bank.
As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, there was $181,000 and $25.0 million outstanding under the warehouse line.

During 1999, the Conduit Operations securitized $360.1 million of mortgage loans as REMICs and sold $824.1 million,
in unpaid principal balance, of mortgage loans to third party investors. In addition, IFC sold $638.3 million, in unpaid
principal balance, of mortgage loans to the Long-Term Investment Operations during 1999.

Warehouse Lending Operations: The Warehouse Lending Operations finances the acquisition of mortgage loans
by the Long-Term Investment Operations and Conduit Operations primarily through borrowings on reverse repurchase
agreements with third party lenders. IWLG has an uncommitted repurchase facility with a major investment bank to
finance the Warehouse Lending Operations as needed. Terms of the reverse repurchase agreement requires that the
mortgages be held by an independent third party custodian giving the Warehouse Lending Operations the ability to
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borrow against the collateral as a percentage of the outstanding principal balance. The borrowing rates vary from 85
basis points to 200 basis points over one-month LIBOR, depending on the type of collateral provided. The margins on
the reverse repurchase agreement is based on the type of mortgage collateral provided and generally range from 70% to
98% of the fair market value of the collateral. At December 31, 1999, the Warehouse Lending Operations had $539.7
million outstanding on the reverse repurchase facility.

Cash Flows

Operating Activities - During 1999, net cash provided by operating activities was $55.8 million. Cash provided by
operating activities was primarily from net earnings of $22.3 million.

Investing Activities - During 1999, net cash used in investing activities was $64.1 million. Cash used in investing
activities was primarily due to the acquisition of mortgage loans from IFC. Cash used to acquire mortgage loans was
partially offset by cash provided from repayment of CMO collateral and finance receivables.

Financing Activities - During 1999, net cash used in financing activities was $5.5 million. Cash used in financing
activitieswas primarily due to repayments of CM Os, payment of cash dividends and repurchase of Common Stock. Cash
used in financing activities was offset by cash provided from increased borrowings on reverse repurchase agreements
and from the issuance of new CMOs.

Inflation

The Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, which require the
measurement of financial position and operating results in terms of historical dollars without considering the changesin
the relative purchasing power of money over time due to inflation. The impact of inflation is reflected in the increased
costs of the Company’s operations. Unlike industrial companies, nearly all of the assets and liabilities of the Company’s
operations are monetary in nature. As a result, interest rates have a greater impact on the Company’s operations’
performance than do the effects of general levels of inflation. Inflation affects the Company’s operations primarily
through its effect on interest rates, since interest rates normally increase during periods of high inflation and decrease
during periods of low inflation. During periods of increasing interest rates, demand for mortgage loans and a borrower’s
ability to qualify for mortgage financing in a purchase transaction may be adversely affected. During periods of
decreasing interest rates, borrowers may prepay their mortgages, which in turn may adversely affect the Company’syield
and subsequently the value of its portfolio of Mortgage Assets.

Y ear 2000 Compliance

After completing all phases of its Year 2000 Project Plan, the Company experienced no problems as aresult of Year
2000 issues. Both in-house information technology systems and non-information technology systems functioned
according to the Company’s internal Year 2000 Project Plan. In addition, the Company’s vendors, who provide the
Company with both integrated and non-integrated systems data, functioned without any Y ear 2000 related problems as
well. Even though the Company does not expect any “residual” Y ear 2000 issues to affect the Company’s operations,
there can be no assurance that the Company will not be affected in the future. The Company paid a total of $273,000 to
an outside vendor for Y ear 2000 project work during the year ended December 31, 1999.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURESABOUT MARKET RISK
General

A significant portion of the Company’s revenues and earnings are derived from net interest income and,
accordingly, the Company strives to manage its interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities to generate what
management believes to be an appropriate contribution from net interest income. When interest rates fluctuate, the
Company can be adversely affected by changes in the fair market value of its assets and liabilities and by the interest
spread the Company earns on interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. The Company derivesincome from
the differential spread between interest earned on interest-earning assets and interest paid on interest-bearing liahilities.
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Any change in interest rates affect both income received and income paid from these assets in varying and typically in
unequal amounts and may compress the Company’ sinterest rate spread and adversely affect overall earnings.

Therefore, the Company seeks to control the volatility of the Company’s performance due to changes in interest
rates through asset/liability management. The Company attempts to achieve an appropriate relationship between interest
rate sensitive assets and interest rate sensitive liabilities. Although the Company manages other risks, such as credit,
operational and liquidity risk in the normal course of business, management considers interest rate risk to be a significant
market risk which could potentially have the largest material effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of
operations. As the Company has only invested or borrowed in U.S. dollar denominated financial instruments, the
Company is not subject to foreign currency exchange risk.

As part of its asset/liability management process, the Company performs various interest rate simulations that
calculate the affect of potential changes in interest rates on its interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and
their affect on overall earnings. This analysis assumes instantaneous parallel shiftsin the yield curve and to what degree
those shifts affect net interest income. In addition, various modeling techniques are used to value interest sensitive
mortgage-backed securities, including interest-only securities. The value of mortgage-backed securities is determined
using a discounted cash flow model using prepayment rate, discount rate and credit |oss assumptions.

I nterest Rate Sensitive Assets and Liabilities

Interest rate risk management is the responsibility of the Company’s Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCQO"),
which reports to the Company’s Board of Director’s on a monthly basis. ALCO establishes policies that monitor and
coordinate the Company’s sources, uses and pricing of its funds. ALCO also attempts to reduce the volatility in net
interest income by managing the relationship of interest rate sensitive assets to interest rate sensitive liabilities.

The matching of assets and liabilities may be analyzed by examining the extent to which such assets and liabilities
are “interest rate sensitive” and by monitoring an institution’ s interest rate sensitivity “gap.” An asset or liability is said
to beinterest rate sensitive within a specific time period if it will mature or reprice within that time period. The interest rate
sensitivity gap is defined as the difference between the amount of interest-earning assets maturing or repricing within a
specific time period and the amount of interest-bearing liabilities maturing or repricing within that time period. A gap is
considered positive when the amount of interest rate sensitive assets exceeds that amount of interest rate sensitive
liabilities. A gap is considered negative when the amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities exceeds the amount of
interest rate sensitive assets. During a period of falling interest rates, the net earnings of an institution with a positive
gap, theoretically, may be adversely affected due to its interest-earning assets repricing to a greater extent than its
interest-bearing liabilities. Conversely, during a period of ising interest rates, theoretically, the net earnings of an
institution with a positive gap position may increase as it is able to invest in higher yielding interest-earning assets at a
more rapid rate than its interest-bearing liabilities reprice. However, the gap analysis does not take into consideration
constraints on the repricing of interest rates of ARM assets in a given period resulting from periodic and lifetime cap
features, the behavior of various indexes applicable to the Company’s assets and liabilities or the affects of off-balance
sheet financial instruments, particularly interest rate caps, on net interest income, see “ % Changesin Interest Rates.”

The Company manages its interest rate risk by (1) retaining adjustable-rate mortgages to be held for long-term
investment, (2) selling fixed-rate mortgages on a whole-loan basis, (3) securitizing both adjustable- and fixed-rate
mortgages through the issuance of CMOs, and (4) the purchase of LIBOR interest rate caps, see “¥% Hedging.” The
Company retains adjustable-rate mortgages, which are generally indexed to six-month LIBOR and reprice every six
months, to be held for investment or as CMO collateral. The Company also securitizes both variable- and fixed-rate
mortgages as CM Osto reduce itsinterest rate risk as CM Os provide a net interest spread between the interest income on
the mortgages and the interest and other expenses associated with the CMO financing. In addition, the Company
purchases LIBOR interest rate caps to provide some protection against any resulting basis risk shortfall on the related
liabilities. The interest rate caps purchased are based upon the principal balance that would result under an assumed
prepayment speed.

The Company does not currently maintain a securities trading portfolio. As aresult, the Company is not exposed to

market risk as it relates to trading activities. The Company’s investment securities portfolio is available-for-sale, which
requires the Company to perform market valuations of the portfolio in order to properly record the portfolio at the lower
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of cost or market. Therefore, the Company continually monitors the interest rates of itsinvestment securities portfolio as
compared to prevalent interest rates in the market.

The following table summarizes the amount of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities outstanding at
December 31, 1999 (dollar amounts in thousands), which are anticipated by the Company to reprice or mature in each of
the future time periods shown. The amount of assets and liabilities shown which reprice or mature during a particular
period were determined in accordance with the earlier of term to repricing or the contractual term of the asset or liability
as adjusted for scheduled and unschedul ed repayments. Unschedul ed prepayment rates are assumed on substantially all
of the Company’s mortgage-backed security and loan portfolios and are based on historic loan prepayment experience
and anticipated future prepayments. The table does not include assets and liabilities that are not interest rate sensitive
such asinterest receivables and payables, prepaid expenses and accrued expenses.

Over 5 Fair
Years
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 (4 Total Value
Interest sensitive assets:
Cash equivalents § 20,152 ¢ 72 78 E78 78 ¥ ¢ 20,152 § 20,152
Average interest rate 4.28 % % % % % Y% % Y% % % % 4.28 %
Investment securities (1) 11,942 8,384 9,514 10,487 10,786 42,093 93,206 93,206
Average interest rate 13.79 % 13.79 % 13.79 % 13.79 % 13.79 %  13.79 % 13.79 %
Finance receivables 197,119 Yy Yy Yy Yy Yy 197,119 197,119
Average interest rate 8.97 % % % % % Y% % Y% % % % 8.97 %
CMO collateral (2) 286,01
409,262 108,720 56,424 48,092 41,164 5 949,677 938,784
Average interest rate 8.11 % 8.38 % 8.51 % 8.54 % 8.58 % 7.54 % 8.03 %
Loans held-for-investment (3) 207,91
32,212 47,941 24,235 30,585 20,551 1 363,435 366,066
Average interest rate 7.89 % 8.30 % 8.76 % 8.75 % 8.75 % 7.16 % 7.70 %
Due from affiliates 14,500 Ys Ya Ya Ya Ya 14,500 14,500
Average interest rate 8.33 % % % % % Y % ¥ % % % 8.33 %
Total interest-sensitive assets 536,01 1,638,08 1,629,82
¢ 685,187 ¢ 165,045 ¢ 90,173 § 89,164 ¢ 72,501 ¢ 9 9 9 ¢ 7
Average interest rate 8.34 % 8.63 % 9.14 % 9.23 % 9.40 % 7.88 % 8.36 %
Interest sensitive
liabilities:
CMO borrowings 140,45
¢ 591,144 ¢ 36,296 ¢ 31,276 § 26,944 § 23,207 ¢ 3 § 849,320 ¢ 844,852
Average interest rate 7.15 % 7.15 % 7.15 % 7.15 % 7.15 % 7.15 % 7.15 %
Reverse repurchase agreements 539,687 Yy Yy Yy Yy Yy 539,687 539,687
Average interest rate 6.41 % ¥ % Y % Y % ¥ % 3 % 6.41 %
Borrowings secured by
Securities available-for-sale 9,178 6,505 4,607 3,261 2,306 5,476 31,333 34,393
Average interest rate 13.00 % 13.00 % 13.00 % 13.00 % 13.00 %  13.00 % 13.00 %
Senior subordinated debt Ya Ya Ya Ya 6,691 Vs 6,691 6,198
Average interest rate ¥ % ¥ % ¥ % Y % 11.00 % ¥ % 11.00 %
Dueto affiliates 2,945 Ya Ya Ya Ya Ya 2,945 2,945
Average interest rate 8.00 % Y % ¥, % Yy % Y, % ¥, % 8.00 %
Total interest-sensitive  1,142,95 145,92 1,429,97 1,428,07
ligbilities bl 4 ¢ 42801 ¢ 35883 ¢ 30,205 9§ 32,204 ¢ 9 6 ¢ 5
Average interest rate 6.85 % 8.04 % 7.90 % 7.78 % 8.37 % 7.37 % 7.02 %
Interest rate sensitivity gap (5) (457,767 390,09
R ) 122,244 ¢ 54290 ¢ 58959 § 40,297 ¢ 0 ¢ 208,113
Cumulative interest rate (457,767 (335,523 (281,233 (222,274 (181,977 208,11
Sensitivity gap R ) ¢ ) ¢ ) 9 ) 9 ) ¢ 3
Cumulative gap ratio % (27.95) % (20.48) %  (17.17) % (13.57) % (11.11) % 12.70 %
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(1) Theover 5year category includes “interest-only” securities of $30.8 million.

(2 Includes unamortized net premiums and unamortized securitization costs of $28.8 million and $11.9 million,
respectively.

(3) Includes unamortized net premiums of $2.0 million.

(4 CMO collatera and loans held-for-investment include non-accrua loans of $42.8 million and $8.3 million,
respectively.

(5) Interest rate sensitivity gap represents the difference between interest-earning assets and interest-bearing
liabilities.

As the Company’s estimated interest rate sensitivity gap is negative during 2000, net interest income could be
negatively affected by an increase in interest rates as more interest-bearing liabilities could reprice upwards during 2000
than interest-bearing assets. Conversely, a decrease in interest rates could have a positive affect on net interest income
during 2000 as more interest-bearing liabilities could reprice downwards during 2000 than interest-bearing assets. The
estimated cumulative negative gap during 2000 of $457.8 million compares to an estimated cumulative positive gap for
1999 of $303.6 million. The shift from an estimated cumulative positive gap in 1999 to an estimated cumulative negative
gap in 2000 is primarily the result of the Company retaining $321.6 million of mortgage loans, during the fourth quarter of
1999, that have fixed interest ratesfor initial two-, three-, and five-year periods, which subsequently change to adjustable
interest rates thereafter. Since these estimates are based upon numerous assumptions, such as the expected maturities of
the Company’s interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, the Company’s actual sensitivity to interest rate
changes could vary significantly if actual experience differs from those assumptions used in making the calculations. In
addition, the estimated impacts of parallel shiftsin interest rates and the resulting effect on net interest income does
consider increases or decreases in premium amortization and securitization expenses due to possible increases or
decreases in loan prepayments, which could also vary if actual experience differs from the prepayment assumptions
used.

Changesin I nterest Rates

Although the static gap methodology is widely accepted in identifying interest rate risk, it does not take into
consideration changes that may occur in investment and financing strategies, changes in the yield curve, changes in
hedging strategy, changes in prepayment speeds and changes in business volumes. Therefore, in addition to measuring
interest rate risk via a gap analysis, the Company measures the sensitivity of its net interest income to changes in
interest rates affecting interest sensitive assets and liabilities using simulations. The simulations consider the affect of
interest rate changes on interest sensitive assets and liabilities as well as interest rate caps (off-balance sheet items).
Changes in interest rates are defined as instantaneous and sustained movements in interest rates in 100 basis point
increments. The Company estimates its net interest income for the next twelve months assuming no changes in interest
rates from those at period end. Once the base case has been estimated, calculations are made for each of the defined
changes in interest rates, to include any associated differences in the anticipated prepayment speed of loans. Those
results are then compared against the base case to determine the estimated change to net interest income.

The following table (dollar amounts in millions) estimates the financial impact to net interest income from various
instantaneous and parallel shifts in interest rates based on the Company’s on- and off-balance sheet structure as of
December 31, 1999 and 1998. Since, these estimates are based upon numerous assumptions, such as expected
prepayment rates and the shape of the yield curve, the Company’ s actual sensitivity to interest rate changes could differ
significantly as compared to actual results.

2000 1999

Changesin Interest Rates Changein Net Changein Net
(In Basis Paints) Interest Income (1) Interest Income (1)
6] (%) 9 (%)

+200 9.2 (25) (1.9 (6)

+100 4.2 (12 4.9 (14)

-100 26 7 21 7

-200 10 3 49 16
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(1) The dollar and percentage changes represent net interest income, for the next twelve months, in a stable interest
rate environment versus the change in net interest income in the various instantaneous, parallel rate change
simulations.

The estimated decreasesin net interest income in an increasing rate environment during 2000 as compared to 1999 is
primarily due to (1) an estimated negative gap during year 2000 of $457.8 million, as shown in the static gap table above,
and (2) the lag in the repricing of the indices to which the Company’s adjustable rate loans and mortgage-backed
securities are tied as compared to the borrowings that fund these assets. As interest rates increase, an estimated $1.1
billion of the Company’s interest rate sensitive liabilities contractually mature or reprice during 2000 as compared to
$685.2 million of interest rate sensitive assets that are estimated to contractually mature or reprice during 2000. As of
December 31, 1999, mortgage loans held-for-investment, of which approximately $350.0 million were retained during the
fourth quarter of 1999, were financed by reverse repurchase agreements, which are subject to daily repricing based on
one-month LIBOR plus a spread. Therefore, as of December 31, 1999, loans held-for-investment with primarily two- to
five-year repricing dates were matched against (financed with) liabilities with daily repricing characteristics. However,
during January 2000, these loans were used as collateral for CMOs that have lower financing costs than reverse
repurchase agreements but were not reflected in the gap analysis or the cal culations of changesin net interest income as
the CMO was completed subsequent to year-end. Additionally, because the Company’s adjustable rate CMO collateral
is tied to various indices, primarily six-month LIBOR, and the corresponding CMO financing is primarily tied to one-
month LIBOR, the Company’s interest rate sensitive liabilities reprice faster than its interest rate sensitive assets, which
could create negative results in net interest income over the near term (12-month horizon) during periods of increasing
interest rates.

The following table presents the extent to which changesin interest rates and changes in the volume of interest rate
sensitive assets and interest rate sensitive liabilities have affected the Company’s interest income and interest expense
during the periods indicated. Information is provided on Mortgage Assets and borrowings on Mortgage Assets, only,
with respect to (1) changes attributable to changes in volume (changes in volume multiplied by prior rate), (2) changes
attributable to changes in rate (changes in rate multiplied by prior volume), (3) changesin interest due to both rate and
volume, and (4) the net change.

Year Ended December 31,
1999 over 1998
Rate/ Net
Volume Rate Volume Change
(in thousands)

Increase/(decrease) in:

Subordinated securities collateralized by Mortgages..........ccoeeeeveeeeeveereeernen. $ (182 ¢ 1593 ¢ (26 ¢ 138
Subordinated securities collateralized by other [0ans.........ccocoeevevecvrerceeen, 274 (107) (42) 125
Total investment securities available-for-sae.........oocvvvccinnecccnececiennen, 92 1,486 (68) 1510
L oan receivables:
CMO COHBENEL ... bbb (9,211) (9,621) 917  (17,915)
Mortgage loans held-for-inVeStMENt...........c.cooeeevecensesce e (11,025) (4,317) 3314  (12,028)
Finance receivables:
AFFIHBEEA ..ot (14,483 (215) 98  (14,600)
NON-BFfIHTAEEM. ..o (288) (180) 5 (463)
Total fiNaNCereCaVaADIES.........ccvvicersee e (14,771) (395) 103  (15,063)
Total Loan RECEIVADIES ... (35,007) (14,333) 4334  (45,006)
Changein interest income on Mortgage ASSELS........ooeeeeneeenerennerenens (34,915 (12,847) 4266 (43,496
CMO DOITOWINGS. ... cevreeeeieeeeieesieessreess e sess s s sssesssenaes (8,989) (2,355) 247 (11,097)
Reverse repurchase agreementS—mortgages.........cocveerreeerreerereenesesneessesesnesenns (18,324) (1,056) 486  (18,8%4)
Borrowings on secured by securities available-for-sale..........ooonenicnicnns — — 686 686
Reverse repurchase agreementS—SeCUNtieS ........ooerecrreereereneenessrneeneeeneeens (697) (10) 5 (702
Changein interest expense on borrowingson Mortgage Assets.......... (28,010) (3421 1424  (30,007)




Changein NEt iNtEreSt INCOME .......c.evererrerrereeeeereeseeeseseeseessseseesesssnennes § (6905 § (9426) § 2842 § (13489
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Year Ended December 31,
1998 over 1997
Rate/ Net
Volume Rate Volume Change
(in thousands)

Increase/(decrease) in:

Subordinated securities collateralized by MOrtgages..........coc.oeceeeeeevevveressrereennn. $ 3772 ¢ @47 ¢ (25 ¢ 3700

Subordinated securities collateralized by other loans..........cccccovvevevveccssecnenn, (106) (237) 24 (319
Total investment securities available-for-sale.........ovnceveseccesecsees 3,666 (284) @ 3,381

L oan receivables:

CMO COHBLEIEL ... s seseesesessssees 47248  (1630) (1,574 44044

M ortgage loans held-for-investment (2,640 3,025 (47) (162)

Finance receivables:

AFFHIBEEO ..o — (121) (12) (133)
Non-affiliated........cccovrreereereereenns 5,778 (180) (347 5,251
Total finance receivables 5,778 (301) (359) 5,118
Total Loan RECEIVADIES ...t 50,386 1,094 (2,480) 49,000
Changein interest income on Mortgage ASSELS.........ceeneemrrnenerneernenns 54,052 810 (2,481) 52,381
CMO DOMTOWINGS. ... eeceereeeeeireseeeees st esesae s sess e sesssssesessss e sssessessassessenssnens 35470 2,111 2,063 39,644
Reverse repurchase agreementS—mOortgages.........cveereeerrerrereeneeeresesneeessssessseeens 1,602 929 27 2,558
Reverse repurchase agreementS—SeCUNtieS ........oceeerreeeererrneeneeneesneeesee s (134) — (2 (136)
Changein interest expense on borrowingson Mortgage ASsets.............. 36,938 3,040 2,088 42,066
Changein net iNterest iNCOME .......c.ccuceeeeeeeerereeee s sesees $§17114 §(2230) ¢ (4569 ¢ 10315

Hedging

The Company conducts certain hedging activities in connection with both its Long-Term Investment Operations
and its Conduit Operations.

Long-Term Investment Operations. To the extent consistent with IMH’s election to qualify as a REIT, the Company
follows a hedging program intended to protect against interest rate changes and to enable the Company to earn net
interest income in periods of generally rising, as well as declining or static, interest rates. Specifically, the Company’s
hedging program is formulated with the intent to offset the potential adverse effects resulting from (1) interest rate
adjustment limitations on its mortgage loans and securities backed by mortgage loans, and (2) the differences between
the interest rate adjustment indices and interest rate adjustment periods of its adjustable rate mortgage loans and
mortgage-backed securities secured by such loans and related borrowings. As part of its hedging program, the Company
also monitors on an ongoing basis the prepayment risks that arise in fluctuating interest rate environments.

The Company’s hedging program encompasses a number of procedures. First, the Company structures its
commitments so that the mortgage loans purchased will have interest rate adjustment indices and adjustment periods
that, on an aggregate basis, correspond as closely as practicable to the interest rate adjustment indices and interest rate
adjustment periods of the anticipated financing source. In addition, the Company structures its borrowing agreements to
have a range of different maturities (although substantially all have maturities of less than one year). As aresult, the
Company adjusts the average maturity of its borrowings on an ongoing basis by changing the mix of maturities as
borrowings come due and are renewed. In this way, the Company minimizes any differences between interest rate
adjustment periods of mortgage loans and related borrowings that may occur due to prepayments of mortgage loans or
other factors.

The Company, based on market conditions, may purchase interest rate caps to limit or partially offset adverse

changes in interest rates associated with its borrowings. In a typical interest rate cap agreement, the cap purchaser
makes an initial lump sum cash payment to the cap seller in exchange for the seller’ s promise to make cash payments to
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the purchaser on fixed dates during the contract term if prevailing interest rates exceed the rate specified in the contract.
In thisway, the Company generally hedges as much of the interest rate risk arising from lifetime rate caps on its mortgage
loans and from periodic rate and/or payment caps as the Company determines is in the best interest of the Company,

given the cost of such hedging transactions and the need to maintain IMH’ s status as a REIT. Such periodic caps on the
Company’s mortgage loans may also be hedged by the purchase of mortgage derivative securities. Mortgage derivative
securities can be effective hedging instruments in certain situations as the value and yields of some of these instruments
tend to increase as interest rates rise and tend to decrease in value and yields as interest rates decline, while the
experience for others is the converse. The Company intends to limit its purchases of mortgage derivative securities to
investments that qualify as Qualified REIT Assets or Qualified Hedges so that income from such investments will

constitute qualifying income for purposes of the 95% and 75% gross income tests. To a lesser extent, the Company,

through its Conduit Operations, may enter into interest rate swap agreements, buy and sell financial futures contracts
and options on financial futures contracts and trade forward contracts as a hedge against future interest rate changes;
however, the Company will not invest in these instruments unless the Company is exempt from the registration
requirements of the Commodity Exchange Act or otherwise comply with the provisions of that Act. The REIT provisions
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code"), may restrict the Company’s ability to purchase certain
instruments and may severely restrict the Company’s ability to employ other strategies. In al it’s hedging transactions,
the Company intends to deal only with counterparties that the Company believes are sound credit risks. At December 31,
1999 and 1998, the Company had $422.0 million and none, in notional amount, of interest rate caps and interest rate
swaps, respectively.

Conduit Operations. In conducting its Conduit Operations, IFC is subject to the risk of rising mortgage interest
rates between the time it commits to purchase mortgage loans at a fixed price and the time it sells or securitizes those
mortgage loans. To mitigate this risk, IFC enters into transactions designed to hedge interest rate risks, which may
include mandatory and optional forward selling of mortgage loans or mortgage-backed securities, interest rate caps,
floors and swaps, and buying and selling of futures and options on futures. The nature and quantity of these hedging
transactions are determined by the management of IFC based on various factors, including market conditions and the
expected volume of mortgage loan purchases.

Forward Contracts

IFC sells mortgage-backed securities through forward delivery contracts with major dealers in such securities. At
December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC had $110.0 million and $46.0 million, respectively, in outstanding commitments to sell
mortgage |oans through mortgage-backed securities. These commitments allow IFC to enter into mandatory commitments
when IFC notifies the investor of itsintent to exercise a portion of the forward delivery contracts. |FC was not obligated
under mandatory commitments to deliver loans to such investors at December 31, 1999 and 1998. The credit risk of
forward contracts relates to the counterparties’ ability to perform under the contract. |FC evaluates counterparties based
on their ability to perform prior to entering into any agreements.

Futures Contracts

IFC sells future contracts against five and ten-year Treasury notes with major dealers in such curities. At
December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC had $10.0 million and none, respectively, in outstanding commitments to sell Treasury
notes which expire within 90 days.

Options

In order to protect against changes in the value of mortgage loans held for sale, IFC may sell call or buy put options
on U.S. Treasury bonds and mortgage-backed securities. IFC generally sells call or buys put options to hedge against
adverse movements of interest rates affecting the value of its mortgage loans held for sale. Therisk in writing a call
option isthat IFC gives up the opportunity for profit if the market price of the mortgage |oans increases and the option is
exercised. |FC also has the additional risk of not being able to enter into aclosing transaction if aliquid secondary market
does not exist. The risk of buying a put option is limited to the premium IFC paid for the put option. IFC had written
option contracts with an outstanding principa balance of $20.0 million and $25.0 million at December 31, 1999 and 1998,
respectively.
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ITEM 8 FINANCIAL STATEMENTSAND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by this Item 8 is incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
Consolidated Financial Statements and Independent Auditors' Report beginning at page F-1 of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. DISAGREEMENTSON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORSAND EXECUTIVE OFFICERSOF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc.’s 1999 fiscal year.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc.’s 1999 fiscal year.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERSAND MANAGEMENT

The information required by this Item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc.’s 1999 fiscal year.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPSAND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s

definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc.’s 1999 fiscal year.



PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) All schedules have been omitted because they are either not applicable, not required or the information required
has been disclosed in the Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements at page F-1, or otherwise included in this Form 10-K.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K—None

(c) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Description
31 Charter of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit number to the

3.1(a)

3.1(b)

3.1(c)

3.1(d)

3.1(e)

31(f)

3.1(0)

32

41

4.2

4.2(3)

Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S-11, as amended (File No. 33-96670), filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on September 7, 1995).

Certificate of correction of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1(a) of the Registrant’s
10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998).

Articles of Amendment of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1(b) of the Registrant’s
10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998).

Articles of Amendment for change of name to Charter of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to
exhibit number 3.1(a) of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed February 11, 1998).

Articles Supplementary and Certificate of Correction for Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of
the Registrant (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1(d) of the Registrant’s 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1998).

Articles Supplementary for Series B 10.5% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of the Registrant
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1b of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
December 23, 1998).

Articles Supplementary for Series C 10.5% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of the Registrant.
Certificate of Correction for Series C Preferred Stock of the Registrant.

Bylaws of the Registrant, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit
number of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 1998).

Form of Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit number
to the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S-11, as amended (File No. 33-96670), filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 7, 1995).

Rights Agreement between the Registrant and BankBoston, N.A. (incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.2
of the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form 8-A as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on October 14, 1998).

Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement between the Registrant and BankBoston, N.A. (incorporated by

reference to exhibit 4.2(a) of the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form 8-A/A asfiled with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on December 23, 1998).
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43

44

45

4.6

10.1

10.2

103

10.4(a)

10.4(b)

10.4(c)

105

10.5(a)

10.5(b)

10.5(c)

Form of Series B 10.5% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to
exhibit 4.9 of the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 23, 1998).

Form of Series C 10.5% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock Certificate.

Indenture between the Registrant and I1BJ Whitehall Bank & Trust Company, dated March 29, 1999
(incorporated by reference to exhibit a(11) of the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on April 9, 1999).

First Supplemental Indenture to Indenture between the Registrant and IBJ Whitehall Bank & Trust
Company, dated March 29, 1999 (incorporated by reference to exhibit a(12) of the Registrant’s Form
8K filed on April 9, 1999).

1995 Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending
March 31, 1998).

Form of Indemnity Agreement between the Registrant and its Directors and Officers (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S-11, as amended (File
No. 33-96670), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 7, 1995).

Form of Tax Agreement between the Registrant and Imperial Credit Industries, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S-11, as amended (File
No. 33-96670), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 7, 1995).

Sublease, dated February 12, 1997, between the Registrant and Imperial Credit Industries, Inc. regarding
Santa AnaHeights facility (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.5(a) of the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997).

Sublease Amendment, dated July 24, 1997, between the Registrant and Imperial Credit Industries, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.5(b) of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1997).

Sublease Amendment, dated February 6, 1998, between the Registrant and Imperial Credit Industries, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.5(c) of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1997).

Form of Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with I Cl Funding Corporation (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as amended, for the quarter
ended June 30, 1998).

List of Officers and termsrelating to Form of Amended and Restated Employment Agreement
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.8(a) to the Registrant’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as
amended, for the quarter ended June 30, 1998).

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Impac Funding
Corporation (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1(a) of the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed June 2, 1998).

List of Officersand terms relating to Form of Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated
Employment Agreement with Impac Funding Corporation (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1(b)
of the Registrant’s Current Report of Form 8-K, filed June 2, 1998).



106

10.7

10.8

109

10.10

10.10(a)

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

211

231

232

Form of Loan Purchase and Administrative Services Agreement between the Registrant and Impac
Funding Corporation (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’ s Registration
Statement on Form S-11, as amended (File No. 33-96670), filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on September 7,1995).

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to, and the
prospectus included in, the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S-3/A (File No. 333-52335), as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 4, 1998).

Servicing Agreement effective November 11, 1995 between the Registrant and Impac Funding Corporation
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant’ s Registration Statement on Form S-11, as
amended (File No. 333-04011), filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 17, 1996).

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. 1996 Stock Option Loan Plan (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.15 to
the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996).

Real Estate Purchase, Sale and Escrow Agreement by and between TW/BRP Dove, LLC and IMH/ICH
Dove Street, LLC, dated as of August 25, 1997 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.16 to the
Registrant’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as amended, for the quarter ended June 30, 1997).

Contract of Sale between the Registrant and Impac Commercia Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
exhibit 10.11(a) of the Registrant’s 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998).

Termination Agreement, effective December 19, 1997, between the Registrant, Impac Funding
Corporation, Imperial Credit Industries, Inc. and Imperia Credit Advisors, Inc. and Joseph R.
Tomkinson, William S. Ashmore and Richard J. Johnson (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.18 to
the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8-K, as amended, dated December 19, 1997).

Services Agreement, dated December 29, 1997, between the Registrant, Impac Funding Corporation and
Imperia Credit Advisors, Inc. (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant’ s Current
Report on Form 8-K, as amended, dated December 19, 1997).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 29, 1997, between Registrant and Imperial Credit
Advisors, Inc. (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8- K, as amended, dated December 19, 1997).

Sales Agency Agreement between the Registrant and PaineWebber, Incorporated, dated May 12, 1998
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 1.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed June 2,
1998).

L ease dated June 1, 1998 regarding Dove Street facilities (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.17 of the
Registrant’s 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998).

Employment L etter between Impac Funding Corporation and Ronald Morrison dated May 28, 1998
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.18 of the Registrant’s 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1998).

Note dated June 30, 1999 between the Registrant and |mpac Funding Corporation.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to exhibit 21.1 of the Registrant’s 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1998).

Consent of KPMG LLP regarding the Registrant.

Consent of KPMG LLP regarding |mpac Funding Corporation.
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Power of Attorney (included on signature page).
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SGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Newport
Beach, State of California, on the 17th day of March, 2000.

IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC.

by /s/ JOSEPH R. TOMKINSON
Joseph R. Tomkinson
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer

We, the undersigned directors and officers of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., do hereby constitute and appoint
Joseph R. Tomkinson and Richard J. Johnson, or either of them, our true and lawful attorneys and agents, to do any and
al acts and things in our name and behalf in our capacities as directors and officers and to execute any and all
instruments for us and in our names in the capacities indicated below, which said attorneys and agents, or either of them,
may deem necessary or advisable to enable said corporation to comply with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and any rules, regulations, and requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, in connections with
thisreport, including specifically, but without limitation, power and authority to sign for us or any of usin our names and
in the capacities indicated below, any and all amendments to this report, and we do hereby ratify and confirm all that the
said attorneys and agents, or either of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, thisreport has been signed by the following persons
on behalf of theregistrant and in the capacitiesand on the datesindicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ JOSEPH R. TOMKINSON Chairman of the Board and March 17, 2000
Joseph R. Tomkinson Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
/sl RICHARD J. JOHNSON Chief Financial Officer (Principa March 17, 2000
Richard J. Johnson Financial and Accounting Officer)
/sl IAMES WALSH Director March 17, 2000
James Walsh
/sl FRANK P. FILIPPS Director March 17, 2000
Frank P. Filipps
/sl STEPHAN R. PEERS Director March 17, 2000
Stephan R. Peers
/sl WILLIAM S. ASHMORE Director March 17, 2000

William S. Ashmore
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

The Board of Directors
Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
earnings (loss), changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 1999. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility isto express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonabl e basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in al materia respects, the
consolidated financia position of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the yearsin the three-year period ended December 31, 1999
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

KPMG LLP

Orange County, California

January 31, 2000, except as to Note T to
the consolidated financial statements,
which is as of February 29, 2000.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(dollar amountsin thousands, except shar e data)

At December 31,

1999 1998
ASSETS
Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENLS ........cccueeieeeeeeseie st s st seeses sttt s s st ss st se st s s s s sessessenans $ 20152 $ 33,876
Investment securities available-fOr-SAl €. 93,206 93,486
Loan Receivables.
(1LY @ oo 1= 1< =TT 949,677 1,161,220
FiNANCETECEIVADIES ...ttt et 197,119 311571
Mortgage loans held-for-investment 363,435 20,627
AlOWANCE FOr [OAN TOSSES ...ttt e b s bbb b b s (4,029) (6,959)
NEL 10aN FECAIVADIES ...ttt 1,506,202 1,486,459
Investment in Impac FUNding COorporation...........cceeeeceieeseceeseseeessses e seseens 17,372 13,246
DUE FrOM GffilI@ES. ....cucvcvereeeeccteece e e 14,500 17,904
Accrued interest receivable 11,209 10,039
Other real estate owned..........cccceveveueeeee. 8,820 8,456
OLNET @SSELS......oceeeeecteeeee ettt ettt sttt e et ese et et ebe s e s bese s seetese e sessaensseebensanssesesensane 3,969 2,038
TOLAl BSSELS.....cecvceeeeecrereecrere et bbb bs bbb be bbb e bbb e b sebsbebesessbesesebsbesesebebebesesebesens $ 1675430 1,665,504
LIABILITIESAND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
L@V @ o 0T 0 .Y/ oL $ 850817 ¢ 1072316
REVEIrSE rePUIrChaSse A0IEEIMENLS.......ccoveveeeeeeetee et e ettt eae e e e seete e e tese e ssssebesessssesenssesbessanssssesenssene 539,687 323,625
Borrowings secured by investment securities available-for-sale...........cceeeueucneneee. 31,333 —
11% senior subordinated debentures 6,691 —
Accrued dividends payable..................... 3,570 12,129
Dueto affiliates.....ccocevveeveveeeeeieeeeeeeenes 2,945 2,670
Other liahilities........cccceunenee 1,543 3,158
Totd liabilities 1.436.586 1.413.898
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 6,300,000 shares authorized; none issued and
outstanding at December 31, 1999 and 1998..........ccoocerrerriemrinnineseseee s — —
Series A junior participating preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 2,500,000 shares
authorized; none issued and outstanding at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively..... — —
Series B 10.5% cumulative convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value; liquidation
value $30,000; 1,200,000 shares authorized; and 1,200,000 issued and outstanding
at December 31, 1999 and 1998, reSPECHIVEY .......cccrreerrierrirrirseerese e eaees 12 12
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; 21,400,906 and
24,557,657 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively .... 214 246
Additional Paid-in CAPITAL..........ccoueueeieieeetee ettt e et renenan 327,632 342,945
Accumulated other compreheNSIVE 10SS ..o s (7,579) (1,736)
Notes receivable from common stock sales (905) (918)
Net accumul ated deficit:
Cumulative dividendS ECIArE ..ot be e (93,080) (79,176)
Retained earnings (accumulated defiCit).......ccveuieereereeeeereeee et 12550 (9,767)
Net aCCUMUIGLED AEFICIT .....vveeveerecereccteee ettt s st snaes (80.530) (88.943)
Total StoCKNOIAErS' EUUITY .......coveveeeeeececteeeeeeeee e 238,844 251,606

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$ 1675430 $ 1665504
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See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBS DIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS (LOSS)

(in thousands, except per share data)

INTEREST INCOME:
MOITJAZE ASSELS .....vveeecerereeecr e e
Other interest income.........ccoceeeveeennen.

Total interest income

INTEREST EXPENSE:
CIMO DOITOWINGS.c.ueceereeeseeiresessesisesesssssesessssssssesssssssssssssssssesssssessssssssesssssssssssssssssesesssnes
ReVErse repurchase agrEEMENES ..........eeeeererrerrereereesesseesessesssseesessessssssssesssssssssssssessees
OtNEr DOITOWINGS ...ueevreeeceeirirereeisesesse s sssssessessssssssesssssessesesssesssssssssssesssssssessenes
TOtal INTEIESt EXPENSE......cecvevrererieirerereeeeressssee st ss e ssss s sesssssesessesens

= T a1 == AT Lo 1= U
Provision fOr [0aN TOSSES ..ottt sses
Net interest income after provision for [0an [0SSES ........ccccvvervceveseessecee e

NON-INTEREST INCOME:
Equity in net earnings (loss) of Impac Funding Corporation...........cccccovveeeerrveeeee.
Equity in net loss of Impac Commercial Holdings, INC.......ccovvevenvevccnnecccevene
L 0SS ON SAl€ Of |08NS......cceireeecreri sttt naes
SEIVICING FEES ...ttt ettt n et n s
Gain on sale of Securities .......ccoeveruaes
Other iNCOME ...

Total non-interest income

NON-INTEREST EXPENSE:

ProfeSSiONal SEIVICES ..ottt bbbt
(Gain) loss on sale of other real estate OWNEd.........ccouveeucrreveceenrerse e
Write-down on investment securities available-for-sale..........oncnccnenene.
General and administrative and Other EXPENSE.......cccceveecrennese e
PEISONNEl BXPENSE.......oececeetecec et st b e aee
Loss on equity investment of Impac Commercia Holdings, InC........ccooeeeccvvenee.
AGVISOTY FEES ... sttt
Termination agreEMENt EXPENSE........cvuiererririnrieresserssesesssssse et esssssesssssassesesssssnes

Total NON-INTErESt EXPENSE.......cvieririrrerreeese s sasasas

NEL €ArNINGS ([OSS) ...cuvuieieiiiieesiseeresi s s
Less Cashdividendsoncumulaiveconveatibleprefered ok .........ovverceeeceescessienenns
Net earnings available to common Stockholders..........ooc e

Other comprehensive earnings (l10ss):
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities:
Unrealized holding gains (10sses) arising during period..............ccveereeneneerenennee
Less: Reclassification of lossesincluded iniNCOME ........coccverreerneneneeneneeneennee
Net unrealized gains (10sses) arising during Period.........c.coueeeerneeerrereerersenenn.
Comprehensive €arnings (10SS).......cceereereeineeee s sssesessssesees

Net earnings (10SS) per Share—bhaSiC ........cccvenieenrieenerere e
Net earnings (10ss) per share—diluted..........ccoeeeevececessccesseee s

F5

For the year ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997
$ 117224 $ 160720 $ 108339
2234 2,938 1,194
119458 163658 109533
65,212 76,300 36,665
23,229 42,139 39,717
1,354 3,247 19
89795 121695 76,577
29,663 41,963 32,956
5,547 4,361 6,843
24,116 37,602 26,113
4,292 (13,876) 8,316

— (998) (239)

— (3111) —
1,370 1,929 980

93 427 648

1,147 2,000 621
6,902 (13,539) 10,326
2,678 2,243 1,117
2,159 1,707 (433)
2,037 14,132 —
1,343 2,320 836
484 518 331

— 9,076 —

— — 6,242

— — 44,375
8,701 29,99 52,468
2,317 (5933  (16,029)
(3290) — —
19,027 (5933)  (16,029)
(5,539) 7,395 (2,657)
(305) (4,015) —
(5,843) 3,380 (2,657)

$ 16474 $ (2553) $ (18,686)
$ 08 $ (025 $ (099
$ 076 $ (025 $ (099




See accompanying notesto consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTSOF CHANGESIN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
(dollar amountsin thousands, except share data)

Notes
Number of Number of Accumulated Receivabl Retained
Preferred Common Additional Other e Cumulativ  Earnings Total
Shares Preferre Shares Commo Paid-In  Comprehensiv.  Common e (Accumulat Stockholder
Outstandi d Outstandi n Capital e Stock Dividends ed s
ng Stock ng Stock E?[nin)gs Sales Declared Deficit) Equity
0ss
Balance, December 31, 1996..........cccccvruenene — $ — 9,400,000 $ 94 $ 135521 $ (2459) $ (7200 $ (15441) $ 12,195 $ 129,190
Dividends declared ($1.68 per share) .......... — — — — — — — (28,486) — (28,486)
Net proceeds from public stock offerings... — — 3,229,906 32 83,088 — — — — 83,120
Proceeds from DRSPP ..........ccoccoiinrencnens — — 1,062,844 11 24,678 — — — — 24,689
Proceeds from exercise of stock options..... — — 72,966 1 935 — — — — 936
Payments on notes receivable from
€COMMON StOCK SAIES.......cveveereereierieiines — — — — — — (610) — — (610)
Stock issued for termination of
management agreement ..........ceevvveevreenenn — — 2,009,310 20 35,017 — — — — 35,037
Gain on sale of ICH preferred stock............ — — — — 3,840 — — — — 3,840
3-for-2 stock split — — 6,770,638 67 (67) — — — — —
Net [0SS, 1997 ..o — — — — — — — — (16,029) (16,029)
Other comprehensive loss.........ccccoeeeenee. — — — — — (2,657) — — — (2,657)
Balance, December 31, 1997........cccoeenenene — — 22,545,664 225 283,012 (5,116) (1,330) (43,927) (3,834) 229,030
Dividends declared ($1.46 per share) .......... — — — — — (35,249) — (35,249)
Net proceeds from preferred stock
OffONTNG. e 12 — — 28,758 — — — — 28,770
Proceeds from DRSPP..........ccccocveevvecvreneane. — 1,758,493 18 27,822 — — — — 27,840
Proceeds from SES Program — 245,700 3 3,245 — — — — 3,248
Proceeds from exercise of stock options..... — — 7,800 — 108 — — — — 108
Payments on notes receivable from
common StocK SAlES.......cvvevreeririeeiienns — — — — — — 412 — — 412
Net 10SS, 1998.......ccoooirierieeeereeeeeesieeas — — — — — — — — (5,933) (5,933)
Other comprehensive earnings..................... — — — — — 3,380 — — — 3,380
Balance, December 31, 1998..........cccccenuenene 1,200,000 12 24,557,657 246 342,945 (1,736) (918) (79,176) (9,767) 251,606
Dividends declared ($0.48 per common
SNAME) ... — — — — — — — (10,614) — (10,614)
Dividends declared on preferred shares....... — — — — — — — (3,290) — (3,290)
Proceeds from DRSPP..........cccccoveennninen. — — 216,156 — 946 — — — — 946
Repurchase of common stock...........ccceeee. — — (2,013,400) (29 (9,841) — — — — (9,860)
Exchange of Common Stock for
senior subordinated debt............ccccecenenee. — —  (1,359,507) (23 (6,418) — — — — (6,431)
Payments on notes receivable from
common Stock Sales.......coeeveeeereieneienene — — — — — — 13 — — 13
Net earnings, 1999........ccccoeveivereiereeeseens — — — — — — — — 22,317 22,317
Other comprehensive l0ss.........cccccveereneee — — — — — (5,843) — — — (5,843)
Balance, December 31, 1999.........ccccceveneevee. 1,200,000 $ 12 21400906 $ 214 $ 327632 $ (7579) $ (905) $ (93,080) $ 12550 $ 238,844




84

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTSOF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

For theyear ended December 31,
1999 1998 1997

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
NEL €ANINGS (|0SS)....veurereerirrererrererseressesesesesessssesssssessssesssesssssssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssees $ 22317 § (5933) ¢ (16,029
Adjustmentsto reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Equity in net (earnings) loss of Impac Funding Corporation............coceeeeeeeene. (4,292) 13,876 (8,316)
Equity in net loss of Impac Commercial Holdings, INC. .....cccevevvceeeveccecceinee — 998 239
Provision for [0aN [OSSES........ccieecce et sns 5,547 4,361 6,843
Buyout of management agreeMENT ..........coccveieeeecreeeee s sess e seseeses — — 44,375
Depreciation and amOrtiZaLION...........coceeeeeeeeeeeeeee et seseeaes — 355 75
Amortization of CMO premiums and deferred securitization costs................... 18,593 14,358 7,105
Losson sale of ICH commON SLOCK ..o — 9,076 —
Net change in accrued interest reCeivable.........cvcicccie s (1,270) 4,973 (7,749)
Write-down of investment securities available-for-sale..........coceeecvcvercrenenee. 2,037 14,132 —
Gain (10sS) 0N SAE Of REO........cioiiceceieceeee et (2,159) (1,707) 433
Gain on sale of investment securities available-for-sale.........ccoeoveveeeevcecveenene. (93) (427) (648)
Net change in other assets and [iabilitieS ........cooeeieeeeeeeeeeceeseee e 15,059 3,105 (10,707)
Net cash provided by operating actiVities ..........ccocevvevvvvressse s 55.838 57,167 15,621
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Net change in CMO COALEIal ..o 178,519 (385,568) (306,705)
Net change in finance receivables 113,969 221,100 (161,533)
Net change in mortgage |oans held-for-investment...........cceveeevccvesecceessenns (352,603) 225,301 (269,681)
Purchase of investment securities available-for-sale.........ooveeievccececeeerenne (18,295) (66,329) (12,555)
Sale of investment securities available-for-sale..........oeccceecceecee e 3,803 15,801 10,285
1SSUANCE Of NOLETO IFC ...ttt s neeaen (14,500) — —
Principal reductions on investment securities available-for-sale............cccuuuun.... 6,985 13,727 (3,244)
Purchase of equity inresidual interestsin securitizationsfrom IFC ...................... — — (9,338)
Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned .............ccoveeeeceeciccceceeeeeeee 18,027 11,777 7,902
Purchase of premises and eqUIPMENL...........ccccecceeiecesesiss e seenas — (2,489) (3,941)
Contributions to Impac Funding Corporation ............ceeeeeeeeseieeseeseeesesee s — — (8,910)
Contributions to Impac Commercial Holdings, INC. ......ccoeeeeeveceeiccceeceeeeeaes — — (15,123)
Dividends from investment in Impac Commercia Holdings, InC. .....ccccevveeneeee. — 1,812 739
Net cash provided by (used in) investing actiVities.........ccoeeeeeeereeeereveernenns (64.095) 35132 (772,104
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net change in reverse repurchase agreEMENtS........cccevceieeciesce e 247,395 (431,934) 397,843
Proceeds from CMO DOMTOWINGS .....cccucuiiiecieiieeeeese sttt s s seenas 298,076 768,012 521,746
Repayment of CMO DOITOWINGS ...ttt seenas (519,575) (437,602) (254,352)
Proceeds from pPreferred SEOCK. ...ttt seenas — 28,770 —
Proceeds from public stock OffErNgS, NEL........ccveeeeeeeeeereee e — — 83,120
[T AVZ L0 (<TgT0 53 = o (22,463) (33,491) (23,285)
Repurchase of COMMON SEOCK ...ttt (9,860) — —
Proceeds from sale of common stock issued through DRSPP and SES................. 6 31,088 24,689
Proceeds from exercise of StOCK OPtiONS ......ccciveciicciiesceseeee s — 108 936
Advances to purchase common stock 13 412 (610)
Net cash provided by (used in) finaNCiNg actiVities.........cccoeeeveeerreeeerseverinnns (5.468) (74,637) 750,087

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTSOF CASH FLOWS—(continued)

(in thousands)

Net change in cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS ..o (13,724) 17,662 (6,396)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning Of Year.........cccccvveeevvenrenreneseneseeeerees 33,876 16,214 22,610
Cash and cash equivalents at end Of YEar.......coccovevverrcrnerce s § 20152 § 33876 16,214
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:
INEEIESE PRI ...eocvevceeeeeececeete ettt bbb bbb bbb bt § 83989 § 122904 73,053
NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS:
Exchange of Common Stock for senior subordinated debt...........c.ccoeeeeverccrennnee. $ 6431 ¢ — —
Sale of Impac Commercia Holdings common StocK...........ccccerveecinnenecreeseeeennes — 6,099 —
Sale of Dove St. building and other assetsin exchange for debt ..........ccoeceeeene. — 6,000 —
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (10SS).......cocveeeveeeenenesienesseeseesesesenns (5,843) 3,380 (2,657)
Gain on sale of subsidiary preferred StocK..........ccovvenrecceinsecce e — — 3,840
Issuance of stock to ICAI for termination of management agreement................... — — 35,037
Transfer of loans held-for-investment to other real estate owned..........cccoceeuneeee. 1,318 7,924 6,780
Transfer of CMO collateral to other real estate OWNed ..........cccveevenerrencrreneireeinennes 14431 4,883 6,451
Dividends declared and UNPaid ..........ccccoeeureveceinnenisieeseee e sseens 3570 12,129 10,371

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note A—Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies
1. Financial Statement Presentation

The operations of the Company have been presented in the consolidated financial statements for the three-year
period ended December 31, 1999 and include the financia results of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (IMH), IMH Assets
Corporation (IMH Assets) and Impac Warehouse L ending Group (IWLG) as stand-al one entities and the financial results
of IMH's equity interest in net earnings (loss) in Impac Funding Corporation (IFC) as a stand-alone entity. The financial
results of IMH’s equity interest in net loss in Impac Commercial Holdings, Inc. (ICH) as a stand-alone entity are
presented in the consolidated financial statements for the two-year period ended December 31, 1998.

The Company is entitled to 99% of the earnings or losses of IFC through its ownership of all of the non-voting
preferred stock of IFC. As such, the Company records itsinvestment in IFC using the equity method. Under this method,
original investments are recorded at cost and adjusted by the Company's share of earnings or losses. Certain officers and
directors of the Company own al of the common stock of IFC and are entitled to 1% of the earnings or losses of IFC.
Gain on the sale of loans or securities by IFC to IMH are deferred and accreted for gain on sde over the estimated life of
the loans or securities using the interest method.

All significant intercompany balances and transactions with IMH’ s consolidated subsidiaries have been eliminated
in consolidation. Interest income on affiliated short-term advances, due from affiliates, has been earned at the rate of
8.00% per annum. Interest expense on affiliated short-term borrowings, due to affiliates, has been incurred at the rate of
8.00% per annum. Costs and expenses of affiliates have been charged to ICH in proportion to services provided per the
submanagement agreement between FIC Management Inc. (FIC), an affiliate of Fortress Partners LP (Fortress), IMH and
IFC, not to exceed an annual fee of $250,000. Certain amountsin the prior periods’ consolidated financial statements have
been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

Management of the Company has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets
and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period to prepare these financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash and money
market mutual funds. The Company considers investments with maturities of three months or less at date of acquisition
to be cash equivalents.

3. Investment Securities Available-for -Sale

The Company classifies investment and mortgage-backed securities as held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, and/or
trading securities. Held-to-maturity investment and mortgage-backed securities are reported at amortized cost, available-
for-sale securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses as a separate component of stockholders’
equity, and trading securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported in earnings. The
Company’s investment securities are held as available-for-sale, reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses
reported as a separate component of stockholders' equity. Gains and losses on sale of investment securities available-
for-sale are based on the specific identification method. As the Company qualifies as a Real Estate Investment Trust
(REIT), and no income taxes are paid, the unrealized gains and losses are reported gross in stockholders’ equity.
Premiums or discounts obtained on investment securities are accreted or amortized to interest income over the estimated
life of the investment securities using the interest method. Such investments may subject the Company to credit, interest
rate and/or prepayment risk.
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NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)

The Company determines the decline in fair value to be other than temporary if the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at arisk-free rate isless than the amortized cost basis of the security. In that event, the cost
basis of the security is written down to fair value as a new cost basis and the amount of the write down isincluded in
earnings.

IMH purchases a large portion of the residuals created by IFC's securitizations recorded at IFC as a result of the
sale of mortgage loans through securitizations. I1FC sells a portfolio of mortgage loans to a special purpose entity that
has been established for the limited purpose of buying and reselling the mortgage loans. |FC then transfers the same
mortgage loans to a special purpose entity or owners trust (the Trust). The Trust issues interest-bearing asset-backed
securities generally in an amount equal to the aggregate principal balance of the mortgage loans. IFC typically sells these
certificates at face value and without recourse except that representations and warranties customary to the mortgage
banking industry are provided by IFC. IMH or other investors purchase these certificates from the Trust and the
proceeds from the sale of the certificates are used as consideration to purchase the underlying mortgage loans from the
Company. In addition, IFC may provide a credit enhancement for the benefit of the investors in the form of additional
collateral held by the Trust. The over-collateralization account is required to be maintained at specified levels.

To determine the value of the securities, the Company must estimate future rates of prepayments, prepayment
penalties to be received by the Company, delinquencies, defaults and default loss severity and their impact on estimated
cash flows. At December 31, 1999, the Company used a 0.50% to 9% constant default rate estimate with a 1% to 20%
severity resulting in loss estimates of 0% to 5%. These estimates are based on historical |oss data for comparable |oans.
The Company estimates prepayments by evaluating historical prepayment performance of comparable mortgage loans
and trends in the industry. At December 31, 1999, the Company used a constant prepayment assumption of 12% to 31%
to estimate the prepayment characteristics of the underlying collateral.

The Company determines the estimated fair value of the residuals by discounting the expected cash flows using a
discount rate, which it believes is commensurate with the risks involved. At December 31, 1999, the Company used a
weighted average discount rate of approximately 12.7%.

4. CMO Codllateral and Mortgage L oans Held-for -l nvestment

The Company purchases non-conforming mortgage loans to be held as long-term investment or as Collateral
Mortgage Obligations (CMOs) collateral. M ortgage loans held-for-investment and CMO collateral are recorded at cost at
the date of purchase. Mortgage loans held-for-investment and CMO collateral include various types of fixed and
adjustable rate loans secured by mortgages on single-family residential real estate properties and fixed rate |oans secured
by second trust deeds on single-family residential real estate properties. Premiums and discounts, which may result from
the purchase or acquisition of mortgage loans in excess of the outstanding principal balance, are amortized to interest
income over their estimated lives using the interest method as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the loan. Prepaid
securitization costs related to the issuance of CMOs are amortized to interest expense over their estimated lives using the
interest method. Mortgage loans are continually evaluated for collectibility and, if appropriate, the mortgage loans may
be placed on non-accrual status, generally when the mortgage is 90 days past due, and previously accrued interest
reversed from income. Other than temporary impairment in the carrying value of mortgage loans held-for-investment, if
any, will be recognized as areduction to current operations.

5. Finance Receivables

Finance receivables represent transactions with customers, including affiliated companies, involving residential real
estate lending. As awarehouse lender, the Company is a secured creditor of the mortgage bankers and brokers to which
it extends credit and is subject to the risks inherent in that status including, the risk of borrower default and bankruptcy.
Any claim of the Company as a secured lender in a bankruptcy proceeding may be subject to adjustment and delay. The
Company’s finance receivables represent warehouse lines of credit with nortgage banking companies collateralized by
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NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)

mortgage loans on single family residences. Finance receivables are stated at the principal balance outstanding. Interest
income is recorded on the accrual basis in accordance with the terms of the loans. Finance receivables are continually
evaluated for collectibility and, if appropriate, the receivable is placed on non-accrual status, generally when 90 days
past due. Future collections of interest income are included in interest income or applied to the |loan balance based on an
assessment of the likelihood that the loans will be repaid.

6. Allowancefor Loan Losses

The Company maintains an allowance for losses on mortgage loans held-for-investment, collateral for CMOs, and
finance receivables at an amount which it believes is sufficient to provide adequate protection against future losses in
the mortgage loans portfolio. The allowance for losses is determined primarily on management’s judgment of net loss
potential including specific allowances for known impaired loans, changes in the nature and volume of the portfolio,
value of the collateral and current economic conditions that may affect the borrowers’ ability to pay. A provision is
recorded for loans deemed to be uncollectible thereby increasing the allowance for loan losses. Subsequent recoveries
on mortgage loans previously charged off are credited back to the allowance.

7. Premisesand Equipment

Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation or amortization. Depreciation on premises
and equipment is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of individual assets (three to
twenty years).

8. CMO Borrowings

The Company issues CMOs, which are primarily secured by non-conforming mortgage loans on sngle-family
residential real property, as a means of financing its Long-Term Investment Operations. CMOs are carried at their
outstanding principal balances including accrued interest on such obligations. For accounting and tax purposes,
mortgage loans financed through the issuance of CM Os are treated as assets of the Company and the CM Os are treated
as debt of the Company. Each issue of CMOsisfully payable from the principal and interest payments on the underlying
mortgage loans collateralizing such debt and any investment income on such collateral. The Company’s CMOstypically
are structured as one-month London interbank offered rate (LIBOR) “floaters’ and fixed-rate securities with interest
payable monthly. The maturity of each class of CMO is directly affected by the rate of principal prepayments on the
related CMO collateral. Each CMO series is aso subject to redemption according to specific terms of the respective
indentures. As a result, the actual maturity of any class of a CMO series is likely to occur earlier than the stated
maturities of the underlying mortgage |oans.

9. Income Taxes

IMH operates so as to qualify as a REIT under the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code (the Code).
Requirements for qualification as a REIT include various restrictions on ownership of IMH’s stock, requirements
concerning distribution of taxable income and certain restrictions on the nature of assets and sources of income. A REIT
must distribute at least 95% of its taxable income to its stockholders, the distribution of which 85% must be distributed
within the taxable year in order to avoid the imposition of an excise tax and the remaining balance may extend until timely
filing of its tax return in its subsequent taxable year. Qualifying distributions of its taxable income are deductible by a
REIT in computing its taxable income. If in any tax year IMH should not qualify as a REIT, it would be taxed as a
corporation and distributions to the stockholders would not be deductible in computing taxable income. If IMH wereto
fail to qualify asaREIT in any tax year, it would not be permitted to qualify for that year and the succeeding four years.
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NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)

10. Net Earnings(Loss) per Share

Basic net earnings per share are computed on the basis of the weighted average number of shares outstanding for
the year divided by net earnings for the year. Diluted net earnings per share are computed on the basis of the weighted
average number of shares and common equivalent shares outstanding for the year divided by net earnings for the year.

11. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities’” (SFAS 133). SFAS 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards for
derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, (collectively referred to as
derivatives) and for hedging activities. It requires that an entity recognizes all derivatives as either assets or liabilitiesin
the statement of financial position and measures those instruments at fair value. If certain conditions are met, aderivative
may be specifically designated as (a) a hedge of the exposure to changesin the fair value of arecognized asset or liability
or an unrecognized firm commitment, (b) a hedge of the exposure to variable cash flows of aforecasted transaction, or (c)
a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of anet investment in aforeign operation, an unrecognized firm commitment, an
available-for-sale security, or a foreign-currency-denominated forecasted transaction. This statement is effective for al
fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999. SFAS 133 was amended by SFAS No. 137, which allows
deferral of SFAS 133 for al fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after July 15, 2000. Management is evaluating the
impact of implementation of SFAS 133 on the Company’ s financial position and results of operations.

Note B—I nvestment Securities Available-for-Sale

The Company’s mortgage-backed securities are primarily secured by conventional, one-to-four family mortgage
loans. The yield to maturity on each security depends on, among other things, the rate and timing of principal payments,
including prepayments, repurchases, defaults and liquidations, the pass-through rate, and interest rate fluctuations. The
Company’s interest in these securities is subordinated so that, in the event of a loss, payments to senior certificate
holders will be made before the Company receives its payments. At December 31, 1999 and 1998, the Company’s
investment securities available-for-sale included $87.6 million and $88.1 million, respectively, of subordinated securities
collateralized by mortgages and $5.6 million and $5.4 million, respectively, of subordinated securities collateralized by
other loans.

In connection with the issuance of REMICs by IFC during the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 of $360.1
million and $907.5 million, respectively, IMH purchased $18.3 million and $23.4 million, respectively, of securities as
regular interests and none and $37.2 million, respectively, of “interest-only” securities. During 1999, the Company
recorded $3.7 million in discounts, at the time of purchase, in connection with the purchase of the mortgage-backed
securities.
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The amortized cost and estimated fair value of mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale and other collateralized
securities avail able-for-sale are summarized as follows:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gain L oss Fair Value

(in thousands)
At December 31, 1999:

Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES .........ccueecvceceereeeeeeee et § 94986 $ 1235 § 8007 § 83214
Other collateralized securities 5,633 — 641 4,992
§ 100619 $ 1235 § 8648 § 93206

At December 31, 1998:
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES ...t $§ 8985 $ 2560 ¢ 4296 § 83089
Other collateralized SECUNTIES. .......ovvrererererrereseesesesee e 5,397 — — 5,397
§ 95222 % 2560 § 4296 § 93486

Note C—M ortgage L oans Heldfor -l nvestment

Mortgage loans held-for-investment include various types of adjustable rate |oans secured by mortgages on single-
family residential real estate properties and fixed rate loans secured by second trust deeds on single-family residential
real estate properties. During the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, IMH purchased $638.3 million and $866.7
million, respectively, of mortgage loans from IFC. At December 31, 1999 and 1998, approximately 64% and 39%,
respectively, of mortgage loans held-for-investment were collateralized by properties located in California. Mortgage
loans held-for-investment consisted of the following:

At December 31,

1999 1998
(in thousands)
Adjustable rate loans secured by single-family residential real estate.............ccoveeerveeerrenen. ¢ 335,609 ¢ 20,145
Fixed rate loans secured by second trust deeds on single-family residential real estate.... 25,785 —
Unamortized net premiums 0N MOrtgage |0aNS...........cveereeereeneneeneneeneeeseeeseeeessesssesssssesesseaes 2,041 482
g 363435 ¢ 20,627

At December 31, 1999, 1998 and1997, there were $8.3 million, $7.3 million and $6.4 million, respectively, of mortgage
|oans held-for-investment which were not accruing interest due to the delinquent nature of the mortgage loans. If interest
on such loans had been accrued for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, interest income would have
increased by $538,000, $724,000 and $299,000, respectively.

Note D—CMO Caoallateral

CMO collateral includes various types of fixed and adjustable rate loans secured by mortgages on single-family
residential real estate properties and fixed rate loans secured by second trust deeds on single-family residential real
estate properties. During the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, $298.1 million and $768.0 million, respectively, of
CMOs were issued and collateralized by $316.2 million and $788.2 million, respectively, of mortgage loans. At December
31, 1999 and 1998, approximately 43% of CMO collateral was collateralized by properties located in California. At
December 31, 1999 and 1998, the underlying principal balance of mortgages supporting CMO borrowings of $850.8
million and $1.1 billion, respectively, represented approximately $827.3 million and $1.1 billion, respectively, of adjustable
and fixed rate mortgage loans with varying grade quality and approximately $81.7 million and $24.2 million, respectively,
of second mortgage loans.
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Collateral for CMOs consisted of the following:

At December 31,

1999 1998
(in thousands)
Adjustable and fixed rate |oans secured by single-family residential rea estate................. g 827,268 ¢ 1,085,388
Fixed rate loans secured by second trust deeds on single-family residential real estate.... 81,718 24,189
Unamortized net premiumS 0N [O@NS ..........ccceeirivireirenesessesssieesessssssesesssssssessssssssessssssssessnees 28,798 39,369
SECUNtIZBLION EXPENSES ......vvecereeireeestsisessssie s sessssss e ssse e sessss s sss s ssssssesssesessssssssessssssssesssnssssesnen 11,893 12,274

§ M9677 § 1,161,220

Note E—Finance Receivables

The terms of IWLG'’s affiliated warehouse lines are based on Bank of America' s prime rate, which was 8.50% and
7.75% as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively, with advance rates between 90% and 98% of the fair value of the
mortgage |oans outstanding. The terms of IWLG’ s non-affiliated warehouse lines, including the maximum warehouse line
amount and interest rate, are determined based upon the financial strength, historical performance and other
qualifications of the borrower. The warehouse lines have maturities that range from on-demand to one year and are
generally collateralized by mortgages on single-family residential real estate.

At December 31, 1999 and 1998, the Company had $1.4 billion and $813.1 million, respectively, of warehouse lines of
credit available to 49 and 32 borrowers, respectively, of which $197.1 million and $311.6 million, respectively, was
outstanding. IWLG finances its Warehouse Lending Operations through reverse repurchase agreements and equity.
Finance receivabl es consisted of the following:

At December 31,

1999 1998
(in thousands)
(101N (0] 0 1 T $ 66,125 $ 192,900
Due from Impac Commercial Capital COrpoOration...........ccverreeerreerererreresresesseseeseseessseesssenns — 3,642
Due from WalSh SECUNTIES, INC. ..c.eeveveeeeieetceeeeeeeeeeee et seas s ses et se s s seenen 48 1544
Duefrom Impac Lending Group (ILG) ......cccveereeeminensineeneeeneeesessesesseesseesseseens 1,243 —
Due from other mortgage banking companies 129,703 113485

$ 197119 $ 311571

Note F—Allowance for loan losses
Activity for allowance for |oan losses was as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997
(in thousands)
Balance, beginning Of YE&r. ...ttt sneees $§ 699 ¢ 5129 § 434
Provision fOr 108N I0SSES ... eeees 5547 4,361 6,843
Charge-offs, NEt Of FECOVENTES ..o (7,152 (1,712) (4,748)
Losson sale of delinqQUeNnt [08NS ... (1,325 (820 (1,350)
Balance, eNd Of YEAN .......cccvirrreere e s § 4029 ¢ 699 ¢ 5129
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Note G—Rever se repur chase agreements

The Company entered into reverse repurchase agreements with major brokerage firms to finance its Warehouse
Lending Operations and to fund the purchase of mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities. Mortgage loans and
mortgage-backed securities underlying reverse repurchase agreements are delivered to dealers that arrange the
transactions. The Company’ s reverse repurchase agreements are uncommitted lines, which may be withdrawn at any time
by the lender, with interest rates that range from one-month LIBOR plus 0.85% to 2.00% depending on the type of
collateral provided.

Prior to October of 1999, the Company used reverse repurchase agreements to fund the purchase of its mortgage-
backed securities and to provide the Company additional working capital. In October of 1999, the Company repaid its
borrowings of reverse repurchase agreements secured by mortgage-backed securities with proceeds from the re-
securitization of a portion of its mortgage-backed securities portfolio (see Note I-Borrowings Secured by Investment
Securities Available-for-Sale). The Company’s interest expense on reverse repurchase agreements for the years ended
December 31, 1999 and 1998 was $22.5 million and $42.1 million, respectively. The following tables set forth information
regarding the Company’ s reverse repurchase agreements (in thousands):

At December 31, 1999

Reverse
Type of Commitment Repurchase Underlying Maturity
Collateral Committed Amount Liability Collateral Date
Lender L. Mortgages No $ 536112 % 536112 $ 547,408 N/A
Lender 2......coveeeeereereresenens Mortgages No 3575 3,575 3,956 N/A

$ 539,687 $ 539,687 $ 551,364

At December 31, 1998

Reverse
Type of Commitment Repurchase Underlying Maturity
Collateral Committed Amount Liability Collateral Date
Lender L. Mortgages No $ 299567 $ 299567 $ 313338 N/A
Securities Yes 10,017 10,017 30,595 12/29/99
Securities Yes 7,876 7,876 18578 1/21-3/26/99(1)
Securities Yes 3,632 3,632 12,189 1/05/99(1)
Securities Yes 2,533 2,533 8,715 1/15/99(1)

$ 323625 $ 323625 $ 383415

(1) Upon expiration, these reverse repurchase agreements were renewed.

At December 31, 1999 and December 31, 1998, reverse repurchase agreements includes accrued interest payabl e of
$3.7 million and $2.0 million, respectively. The following table presents certain information on reverse repurchase
agreements, excluding accrued interest payable:

For theyear ended
December 31,

1999 1998

(dollarsin thousands)
Maximum month-end outstanding balanCe ... $ 569,862 § 912444
Average balanCe OULSLANTING ......ccccureenenneeese s snsns 346,556 631,537
Weighted QVEragE Fale.......c.cccucieiecieiciees e 6.51% 6.67%

F-17



IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)

Note H—CMO Borrowings

The Company’s CMOs are guaranteed for the holders by a mortgage loan insurer giving the CMOs the highest
rating established by a nationally recognized rating agency. Each issue of CMOsiis fully payable from the principal and
interest payments on the underlying mortgage loans collateralizing such debt, any cash or other collateral required to be
pledged as a condition to receiving the desired rating on the debt, and any investment income on such collateral. The
Long-Term Investment Operations earns the net interest spread between the interest income on the mortgage loans
securing the CM Os and the interest and other expenses associated with the CMO financing. Interest expense includes
the amortization of securitization costs. The net interest spread may be directly impacted by prepayment levels of the
underlying mortgage loans, and, to the extent each CMO class has variable rates of interest, may be affected by changes
in short-term interest rates. Variable rate CMOs are typically structured as one-month LIBOR “floaters.” Interest on
variable and fixed rate CMOs is payable to the certificate holders monthly. For the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998
and 1997, interest expense on CMO borrowings was $65.2 million, $76.3 million $36.7 million, respectively. The following
table sets forth CMOs issued by the Company, CMOs outstanding as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, and certain
interest rate information (dollarsin millions):

Range of Interest Range of
CMOs Range of Interest Rate Rate Interest Rate
Outstanding Fixed MarginsOver  Margin Margins After
I ssue I ssuance as of Interest One-Month  Adjustmen  Adjustment
t
Date I ssuance Name Amount 12/31/9  12/31/9 Rates LIBOR Date Date
9 8

4/22/96 Fund Americalnvestors

Trust Ve $ 2963 % 4173 792 N/A 0.50% 6/2003 1.00%
8/27/96 Impac CMB

Trust Series 1996-1....... 250.8 371 64.6 N/A 0.32% 10/2003 1.32%
5/22/97 Impac CMB

Trust Series 1997-1....... 348.0 68.5 1689 N/A 0.22% 7/2004 0.44%
12/10/97 Impac CMB 0.26% 0.52%

Trust Series 1997-2........ 1737 436 1209 N/A t0 1.30% 1/2005 t0 2.60%
1/27/98 Impac CMB 6.65%

Trust Series 1998-1....... 3628 1796 2837 t07.25% N/A N/A N/A
3/24/98 Impac CMB 6.70%

Trust Series 1998-2....... 2202  120.7 1904 to7.25% N/A N/A N/A
6/23/98 Impac CMB 0.18% 0.36%

Trust Series 1998-3....... 185.0 94.8 161.6 N/A t01.24% 7/2005 t0 2.48%
2/23/99 Impac CMB 10.00% 2.88%

Trust Series 1999-1....... 1831 1644 — 1018.25% to 7.40% N/A N/A
6/24/99 Impac CMB 3.00%

Trust Series 1999-2........ 1150 1083 — N/A to 8.50% N/A N/A

21439 8487 11,0693
Accrued interest........... — 21 30

$21439 ¢ 8508 § 10723

Note I—Borrowings Secured by I nvestment Securities Available-for-Sale
In October 1999, the Company completed a re-securitization of its investment securities available-for-sale, which

raised additional cash liquidity for the Company of approximately $23.4 million after repaying reverse repurchase
agreements collateralized by the investment securities available-for-sale. As of December 31, 1999, there was $31.3 million
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outstanding on the borrowings, which were secured by $49.6 of mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale. The
outstanding borrowings are principal only notes issued at a discount. The notes represent senior or subordinated
interests in trust funds primarily consisting of a pool of mortgage loans and are non-recourse obligations of the
Company. The terms of the notes are dependent on the cash flows from the underlying certificates.

Note J—Senior Subordinated Debentures

In March 1999, certain stockholders of the Company exchanged 1,359,507 shares of their common stock, at an
average price of $5.70 per share, for 11% senior subordinated debentures due to mature on February 15, 2004. The
debentures are unsecured obligations of the Company subordinated to all indebtedness of the Company's subsidiaries.
The debentures bear interest at 11% per annum from their date of issuance, payable quarterly, commencing May 15, 1999,
until the debentures are paid in full. The debentures mature on February 15, 2004, at which the date may be extended
once by the Company to a date not later than May 15, 2004, provided that the Company satisfies certain conditions.
Commencing on February 15, 2001, the debentures are redeemable, at the Company's option, in whole at any time or in
part from time to time, at the principal amount to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the redemption
date.

Note K—Segment Reporting

The basis for the Company’s segments is to separate its entities as follows: segments that derive income from
investment in long-term Mortgage Assets, segments that derive income by providing short-term financing and segments
that derive income from the purchase and sale or securitization of mortgage loans.

The Company internally reviews and analyzesits segments as follows:

The Long-Term Investment Operations, conducted by IMH and IMH Assets, invests primarily in non-
conforming residential mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities secured by or representing interests
in such loans and in second mortgage |oans.

The Warehouse Lending Operations, conducted by IWLG, provides warehouse and repurchase financing
to affiliated companies and to approved mortgage banks, most of which are correspondents of IFC, to
finance mortgage loans.

The Conduit Operations, conducted by IFC, purchases non-conforming mortgage loans and second
mortgage loans from its network of third party correspondents and other sellers.

The following table shows the Company's reporting segments as of and for the year ended December 31, 1999 (in
thousands):

Long-Term Warehouse
I nvestment Lending (b) ©
Operations Operations Other Eliminations Consolidated

Balance Sheet Items:

CMO collateral $ 949677 ¢ — $ — ¢ — $ 949,677
Total assets 1,545,283 588,448 2,945 (461,246) 1,675,430
Total stockholders’ equity 294,852 48,684 — (104,692 238,844
Income Statement Items:
Interest income 91,965 31,998 21 (4,526) 119,458
Interest expense 72,704 21,612 5 (4,526) 89,795
Equity in IFC (a) 4,292 — — — 4,292
Net earnings 6,328 9,939 41 5,509 22,317
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The following table shows the Company's reporting segments as of and for the year ended December 31, 1998 (in

thousands):
Long-Term Warehouse
I nvestment Lending (b) ©
Operations Operations Other  Eliminations Consolidated
Balance Sheet Items:
CMO collateral $ 1161220 ¢ — % — ¢ — § 1161220
Total assets 1,410,019 338,365 3418 (86,298) 1,665,504
Total stockholders’ equity 277,868 38,745 615 (65,622) 251,606
Income Statement Items:
Interest income 121,271 57,500 358 (15,471) 163,658
Interest expense 95,095 41,903 168 (15,471) 121,695
Depreciation and amortization 11 — 344 — 355
Equity in IFC (a) (13,876) — — — (13,876)
Net earnings (loss) (6,369) 15,057 560 (15,181) (5,933)

The following table shows the Company's reporting segments as of and for the year ended December 31, 1997 (in

thousands):
Long-Term Warehouse
I nvestment Lending (b) ©
Operations Operations Other Eliminations Consolidated
Balance Sheet Items:
CMO collateral $ 794893 ¢ — $ — ¢ — ¢ 794,893
Total assets 1,287,200 766,844 19,872 (321,104) 1,752,812
Total stockholders’ equity 255,729 23,688 3,889 (54,276) 229,030
Income Statement Items:
Interest income 72,092 52,643 — (15,202) 109,533
Interest expense 53,607 38,172 — (15,202) 76,577
Depreciation and amortization 10 — 65 — 75
Equity inIFC (a) 8,316 — — — 8,316
Net earnings (10ss) (38,279) 14,527 27 7,696 (16,029)

@)
(b)
(©

Company.

reclassifications.

Note L—Fair Value of Financial | nstruments

The Conduit Operations is accounted for using the equity method and is an unconsolidated subsidiary of the
Primarily hcludes the operations of Dove, of which the Company owned a 50% interest, and account

Elimination of intersegment balance sheet and income statement items.

The estimated fair value amounts have been determined by IMH using available market information and appropriate
valuation methodol ogies, however, considerable judgment is necessarily required to interpret market datato develop the
estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the amounts IMH could
realize in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methodol ogies may have

amaterial effect on the estimated fair value amounts.
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December 31, 1999 December 31, 1998
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Assets (in thousands)
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENES ..o $ 20152 $ 20152 $ 33876 $ 33876
Investment securities available-for-sale 93,206 93,206 93,486 93,486
CMO COHBENEL ... 949,677 938,784 1,161,220 1,185,188
Finance reCalVablES.........ccevirerreeee s 197,119 197,119 311,571 311,571
M ortgage loans held-for-investment 363,435 366,066 20,627 20,627
DUEfrom affilialES.....cuevvereceerereeer s 14,500 14,500 17,904 17,904
INEEFESE FALE CAPS ....voveveveiirieie ittt 1,925 2,001 — —
Liabilities

CMO borrowings, excluding accrued interest...........ccoeeevvervennnn 848,756 844,852 1,069,323 1,071,375
Reverse-repurchase agreements, excluding accrued interest.... 535,990 535,990 321,667 321,667
Borrowings secured by investment securities available-for-sale 31,333 34,393 — —
Senior subordinated debentures.............. 6,691 6,198 — —

DUETO affilHAEES ....vcveeeeeerceceeeecteees e 2,945 2,945 2,670 2,670
Short-term commitments to extend credit

The fair value estimates as of December 31, 1999 and 1998 are based on pertinent information available to
management as of that date. Although management is not aware of any factors that would significantly affect the
estimated fair value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for purposes of these
consolidated financial statements since those dates and, therefore, current estimates of fair value may differ significantly
from the amounts presented.

Thefollowing describes the methods and assumptions used by IMH in estimating fair values:;

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Fair value approximates carrying amounts as these instruments are demand deposits and money market mutual
funds and do not present unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.

Investment Securities Available-for-Sale

Fair value is estimated using a bond model, which incorporates certain assumptions such as prepayment, yield and
| osses.

CMO Collateral
Fair value is estimated based on quoted market prices from deal ers and brokers for similar types of mortgage loans.
Finance Receivables

Fair value approximates carrying amounts due to the short-term nature of the assets and do not present
unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.
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Mortgage Loans Held-for-Investment

Fair value is estimated based on estimates of proceeds the Company would receive from the sale of the underlying
collateral of each loan.

Due From/ To Affiliates

Fair value approximates carrying amount because of the short-term maturity of the liabilities and does not present
unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.

CMO Borrowings
Fair value of fixed rate borrowings is estimated based on the use of a bond model, which incorporates certain
assumptions such as prepayment, yield and losses. Fair value of variable rate borrowings approximate carrying amount
because of the variableinterest rate nature of the borrowings.

Rever se Repurchase Agreements

Fair value approximates carrying amounts due to the short-term nature of the liabilities and do not present
unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.

Borrowings Secured by Investment Securities Available-for-Sale

Fair valueis estimated based on quoted market prices from dealers or brokers.
Senior Subordinated Debt

Fair valueis estimated based on quoted market price from dealers or brokers.
Interest Rate Caps

Fair valueis estimated based on quoted market prices from dealers or brokers.
Short-term Commitments to Extend Credit

The Company does not collect fees associated with its warehouse lines of credit. Accordingly, these commitments
do not have an estimated fair value.

Note M—Employee Benefit Plans
Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan
The Company does not have its own 401(K) or profit sharing plan. As such, employees of the Company participate
in Imperial Credit Industries, Inc’'s. (ICll) 401(K) plan. Under ICII’s 401(K) plan, employees of the Company may
contribute up to 14% of their salaries. The Company will match 50% of the first 4% of employee contributions. Additional

Company contributions may be made at the discretion of the Company. The Company’s matching and discretionary
contributions were not material for any period presented.
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Note N—Related Party Transactions
Related Party Cost Allocations

In 1995, IMH entered into a services agreement with ICIl under which ICII provided various services to the
Company, including data processing, human resource administration, general ledger accounts, check processing,
remittance processing and payment of accounts payable. ICIl charged fees for each of the services based upon usage.
As part of the services provided, ICII provided the Company with insurance coverage and self-insurance programs,
including health insurance. This services agreement was replaced with anew ICAI services agreement in December 1997,
in connection with termination of the Company’s management agreement with ICAI. Pursuant to the services agreement
with 1CAI, ICAI provides the Company certain human resource administration and data and phone communication
services. The charge to the Company for insurance coverage is based upon a pro rata portion of the coststo ICII for its
various policies. Total charges to the Company for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 were $11,000,
$13,000, and $8,000, respectively.

During 1999 and 1998, IMH and IWLG were allocated data processing, executive and operations management, and
accounting services that IFC incurred during the normal course of business per the Company’s submanagement
agreement with RAI Advisors Inc. (RAI). IFC, through RAI, charged IMH and IWLG for management and operating
services based upon usage which management believes was reasonable. In May 1999, the submanagement agreement
with RAI was terminated and | FC entered into a new submanagement agreement with FIC Management, Inc., pursuant to
which IFC provides services to Impac Commercia Holdings, Inc. (ICH). Prior to the submanagement agreement with RAI
and after RAI was terminated, IMH and IWL G were allocated data processing, executive and operations management,
and accounting services that IFC incurred during the normal course of business. IFC charged IMH and IWLG for
management and operating services based upon usage which management believes was reasonable. Total cost
alocations charged by IFC to IMH and IWLG for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 were $1.2 million,
$968,000 and $385,000, respectively.

Lease Agreement: IMH and IFC entered into with ICH a premises operating sublease agreement
(see Note O—Commitments and Contingencies) to rent approximately 74,000 square feet of office space in Newport
Beach, Cdlifornia, for a ten-year term, which expiresin May 2008. IMH and IFC pay monthly rental expenses and allocate
the cost to subsidiaries and affiliated companies on the basis of square footage occupied.

The mgjority of occupancy charges incurred were paid by IFC as most of the Company’s employees are employed
by the Conduit Operations. Total rental expense for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 were $1.1 million,
$1.3 million and $396,000, of which $1.0 million, $1.2 million and $385,000 was paid by IFC, respectively.

Credit Arrangements - Current

IWLG maintains a warehouse financing facility with IFC. Advances under such warehouse facilities bear interest at
Bank of America's prime rate. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, finance receivables outstanding to IFC were $66.1
million and $192.9 million, respectively. Interest income recorded by IWLG related to finance receivables due from | FC for
the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998, and 1997, was $18.4 million, $32.7 million, and $33.5 million, respectively.

IWLG maintains a warehouse financing facility with ILG. Advances under such warehouse facilities bear interest at
prime plus 1.50% rate. As of December 31, 1999, amounts outstanding on ILG’s warehouse line with IWLG were $1.2
million. Interest expense recorded by ILG related to warehouse lines with IWLG for the year ended December 31, 1999
was $293,000. There were no borrowings prior to 1999.

IWLG maintains a warehouse financing facility with WSI, a firm affiliated with James Walsh, a Director of the
Company. Advances under the line of credit bear interest at a rate determined at the time of each advance. As of
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December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, finance receivables outstanding to WSl were $48,000, $798,000 and $5.9 million,
respectively. Interest income recorded by IWLG related to finance receivables due from WSI for the years ended
December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 was $729,000, $699,000 and $255,000, respectively.

During the normal course of business, the Company may advance or borrow funds on a short-term basis with
affiliated companies. Advances to affiliates are reflected as “Due from affiliates’, while borrowings are reflected as “Due
to affiliates” on the Company’s balance sheet. These short-term advances and borrowings bear interest at afixed rate of
8.00% per annum. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, due from affiliates was none and $17.9 million, respectively. Interest
income recorded by the Company related to short-term advances due from affiliates for the years ended December 31,
1999 and 1998 was $835,000 and $2.4 million, respectively. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, due to affiliates was $2.9
million and $2.7 million, respectively. Interest expense recorded by the Company related to short-term borrowings due to
affiliates for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 was $399,000 and $2.7 million, respectively.

Indebtedness of Management. In connection with the exercise of stock options by certain directors and employees
of the Company, the Company made |oans secured by the related stock. The loans were made for a five-year term with a
current interest rate of 5.63%. Interest on the loans is payable quarterly upon receipt of the dividend payment and the
interest rate is set annually by the compensation committee. At each dividend payment date, 50% of excess quarterly
stock dividends, after applying the dividend payment to interest due, is required to reduce the principal balance
outstanding on the loans. The interest rate on these loans adjusts annually at the discretion of the Board of Directors.
As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, total notes receivable from common stock sles was $905,000 and $918,000,
respectively. Interest income recorded by the Company related to the loans for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998
and 1997 was $41,000, $60,000 and $68,000, respectively.

Credit Arrangements - Expired

IMH maintained an uncommitted warehouse line agreement with ICCC. The margins on the warehouse line
agreement were at 8% of the fair market value of the collateral provided. Advances under such warehouse facilities bore
interest at Bank of America's prime rate. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, finance receivables outstanding to ICCC
were none and $3.6 million, respectively. Interest income recorded by IMH related to finance receivables due from ICCC
for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 was $93,000 and $785,000, respectively.

IMH entered into arevolving credit arrangement with acommercial bank which was an affiliate of ICII, whereby IMH
could borrow up to maximum amount of $10.0 million for general working capital needs. The revolving credit agreement
was oonverted to a reverse repurchase agreement in October 1998. Advances under the reverse repurchase agreement
were at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.00%, with interest paid monthly. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, IMH'’s
outstanding borrowings under the reverse repurchase arrangement were none and $10.0 million, respectively. Interest
expense recorded by IMH for the year ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 related to such advances was $348,000 and
$202,000, respectively.

During 1997, IWLG extended loans of $5.1 million to WSl at rates ranging from prime plus 2% per annum to prime
plus 4% per annum. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, WSl had an aggregate of none and $746,000, respectively,
outstanding on the loans. Interest income recorded by IWLG related to loans due from WSI for the years ended
December 31, 1999 and 1998 was $20,000 and $254,000, respectively.

Termination of Management Agreement: As part of the Company’s termination agreement of its Management
Agreement with ICAI, the Company purchased the equity in residual interestsin securitizations from |FC for $9.0 million
and simultaneously retired |FC’s borrowings with the Company for the equity in residual interests in securitizations for
$9.0 million. No gain or loss on the sale of residual interestsin securitizations was recorded by the Company or |FC.

Transactionswith |IFC
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Purchase of Mortgage-Backed Securities: During the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, the Company
purchased $22.0 million and $60.6 million, respectively, of mortgage-backed securitiesissued by |FC for $18.3 million and
$56.1 million, respectively, net of discounts of $3.7 million and $4.5 million, respectively. IFC issued mortgage-backed
securities during 1999 and 1998 in connection with its REMIC securitizations.

Purchase of Mortgage Loans: During the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, the Company purchased from
IFC mortgage loans having a principal balance of $637.4 million and $842.9 million, respectively. The loans were
purchased with premiums of $877,000 and $23.9 million, respectively. Servicing rights on all mortgages purchased by
IMH wereretained by IFC.

Sale of Mortgage Loans: During the year ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, the Company sold to IFC mortgage
loans having a principal balance of $10.8 million and $170.4 million, respectively, with premiums of $294,000 and $7.7
million, respectively.

Sale of Franchise Loans Receivables: In April 1998, IMH sold the beneficial interest in the Class A Trust Certificate
for the Franchisee Loan Receivables Trust 1995-B Franchise Loans Receivables and the beneficial interest in the ClassE
Trust Certificate for the Franchisee Loan Receivables Trust 1996-B to IFC at carrying value which approximated fair
value. No gain or loss was recorded on the sale and IMH was under no obligation to sell the securities.

Sub-Servicing Agreement: | FC acts as a servicer of mortgage loans acquired on a “ servicing-released” basis by the
Company in its Long-Term Investment Operations pursuant to the terms of a Servicing Agreement, which became
effective on November 20, 1995. IFC subcontracts al of its servicing obligations under such loans to independent third
parties pursuant to sub-servicing agreements.

Advances: During 1999, IMH advanced $14.5 million in cash to IFC at an interest rate of 9.50% per annum due June
30, 2004, in exchange for an interest only note in anticipation of the initial capitalization of the Bank and to fund the
operations of |FC and other strategic opportunities deemed appropriate by |FC. Interest income recorded by IMH related
to this note was $696,000.

Transactionswith ICH and ICCC

Sale of Commercial Office Building: On October 27, 1998, the Company sold to ICH its remaining 50% ownership
interest in a commercia office building located in Newport Beach, Californiafor $6.0 million. After the sale of the 50%
ownership interest to ICH, the Company has no ownership interest in the commercial office building.

Sale of ICH Common Stock: On October 21, 1998, |CH repurchased from IMH 937,084 shares of ICH Common Stock
and 456,916 shares of ICH Class A Common Stock at a per share price of $4.375, based upon the closing sales price of the
Common Stock on the AMEX on October 19, 1998, for atotal repurchase of $6.1 million. The Company recorded alosson
the sale of ICH Common Stock of $9.1 million. The sale of ICH Common Stock represented 100% of IMH'’s ownership of
ICH Common Stock.

Transactionswith ICIl and | CAl

Redemption of Senior Notes: On January 24, 1997, IMH redeemed ICII senior note obligations for $5.2 million,
resulting in again of $648,000.

Termination of Management Agreement: Effective December 19, 1997, the Company terminated its Management

Agreement with ICAI. A termination fee in the aggregate of $44.0 million was paid with 2,009,310 shares of the
Company’s common stock representing a value of $35.0 million in addition to equity in IFC's residual interest in
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securitizations. In connection with the Termination Agreement, the Company entered into a Registration Rights

Agreement with ICAI with regards to the 2,009,310 shares of Common Stock. IMH purchased the equity in residual

interests in securitizations from IFC for $9.0 million and simultaneously retired IFC’s borrowings with IMH for the equity
in residual interest in securitizations of $9.0 million. No gain or loss on the sale of residual interests in securitizations was
recorded by IMH or IFC. For financial accounting purposes, the termination fee was treated as a non-recurring, non-cash
expense and resulted in a charge of $44.4 million to the Company’ s fourth quarter income.

Non-Compete Agreement and Right of First Refusal Agreement

Pursuant to the Non-Compete Agreement executed on the date of the ICH initial public offering, IFC will not acquire
any commercial mortgages for a period of the earlier of nine months from the closing of the ICH initial public offering or
the date upon which ICH and/or ICCC accumulates (for investment or sal€) $300.0 million of commercial mortgages or
commercial mortgage-backed securities. This agreement expired in March 1998.

Pursuant to a Right of First Refusal Agreement by and among IMH, IFC, ICH, ICCC and RAI, pursuant to which, in
part, RAl agreed that any mortgage loan or mortgage-backed security investment opportunity which is offered to it on
behalf of either ICH, IMH any affiliated REIT will first be offered to that entity whose initial primary business as
described initsinitial public offering documentation most closely aligns with such investment opportunity. The Right of
First Refusal Agreement was terminated in May 1999.

Note O—Commitments and Contingencies

Financial | nstrumentswith Off-Balance-Sheet Risk

IMH is a party to financia instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business. Such
instruments include short-term commitments to extend credit to borrowers under warehouse lines of credit, which involve
elements of credit risk, lease commitments, interest rate cap agreements, and exposure to credit loss in the event of
nonperformance by the counterparties b the various agreements associated with loan purchases. Unless noted
otherwise, IMH does not require collateral or other security to support such commitments. The Company uses the same
credit policies in making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance sheet instruments. The
contract or notional amounts of interest rate cap agreements and forward contracts do not represent exposure to credit
loss. The Company controls the credit risk of its interest rate cap agreements and forward mntracts through credit
approvals, limits and monitoring procedures.

Short-Term Loan Commitments

IWLG's warehouse lending program provides secured short-term non-recourse revolving financing to small-and
mediumsize mortgage originators and affiliated companies to finance mortgages from the closing of the loans until sold
to permanent investors. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, the Company had 49 and 32 committed lines of credit,
respectively, extended in the aggregate principal amount of $1.4 billion and $813.1 million, respectively, of which $67.4
million and $198.1 million, respectively, was outstanding with affiliated companies. The Company’s warehouse lines are
non-recourse and IWL G can only look to the sale or liquidation of the mortgages as a source of repayment.
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Lease Commitments

The Company entered into a premises operating lease for approximately 74,000 square feet of office space in
Newport Beach, California which expires in May 2008. Minimum premises rental commitments under non-cancelable
leases are as follows (in thousands):

1812
1,856
1,901

Rent expense associated with the premises operating lease is allocated between IMH, IWLG and IFC based on
square footage. IMH and IWLG's combined portion of premises rental expense for the years ended December 31, 1999,
1998, and 1997 was $100,000, $65,000, and $11,000, respectively.

Interest Rate Cap Agreements

The Company purchases and sells, from time to time, interest rate agreements in the form of interest rate caps,
interest rate floors, and other interest rate futures to attempt to mitigate interest and related risks. The Company also may
use such instruments to modify the characteristics of its CMO issuance or to hedge the anticipated issuance of future
liabilities or the market value of certain assets. The Company intends generally to hedge as much of the interest rate risk
based on the cost of such hedging transaction and the need to maintain the Company’s status as a REIT. At December
31, 1999 and 1998, the Company had $422.0 million and none, in notional amount, of interest rate caps, respectively. The
carrying value of theinterest rate caps was $1.9 million.

Loan Purchase Commitments

In the ordinary course of business, IFC is exposed to liability under representations and warranties made to
purchasers and insurers of mortgage loans and the purchasers of servicing rights. Under certain circumstances, IFC is
required to repurchase mortgage loans if there had been a breach of representations or warranties. IMH has guaranteed
the performance obligation of IFC under such representation and warranties related to loans included in securitizations.
However, IMH does not anticipate nonperformance by such borrowers or counterparties.

Note P—Management Contract

Effective December 19, 1997, the Company terminated its Management Agreement with ICAI. The termination fee of
$44.0 million was paid with 2,009,310 shares of the Company’s Common Stock in addition to other assets. During the year
ended December 31, 1997, the Company paid feesto ICAI of $6.2 million.

Note Q—Stock Option Plan

The Company adopted a Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan (the Stock Option Plan) which
provides for the grant of qualified incentive stock options (1SOs), options not qualified (NQSOs) and deferred stock,
restricted stock, stock appreciation, dividend equivalent rights and limited stock appreciation rights awards (Awards).
The Stock Option Plan is administered by a committee of directors appointed by the Board of Directors (the
Administrator). 1SOs may be granted to the officers and key employees of the Company. NQSOs and Awards may be
granted to the directors, officers and key employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, to the directors, officers
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and key employees of IFC. The exercise price for any NQSO or | SO granted under the Stock Option Plan may not be less
than 100% (or 110% n the case of 1SOs granted to an employee who is deemed to own in excess of 10% of the
outstanding Common Stock) of the fair market value of the shares of Common Stock at the time the NQSO or 1SO is
granted. Unless previously terminated by the Board of Directors, no options or Awards may be granted under the Stock
Option Plan after August 31, 2005.

Options granted under the Stock Option Plan will become exercisable in accordance with the terms of the grant
made by the Administrator. Awards will be subject to the terms and restrictions of the award made by the Administrator.
The Administrator has discretionary authority to select participants from among eligible persons and to determine at the
time an option or Award is granted and, in the case of options, whether it isintended to be an 1 SO or aNQSO, and when
and in what increments shares covered by the option may be purchased. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, options to
purchase 592,098 shares and 562,500 shares, respectively, were exercisable and 525,109 shares and 462,219 shares,
respectively, were reserved for future grants under the Stock Option Plan.

Option transactions for the periods shown are summarized as follows:

For theyear ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-

Number Average Number Average Number Average

of Exercise of Exer cise of Exercise

Shares Price Shar es Price Shares Price

Options outstanding at beginning of year ... 737,781 $ 1006 724675 $ 1256 548250 $ 947
Options granted................... 35,500 492 195,781 5.68 325,125 16.73
Options exercised — — (7,800) 13.75 (103,700) 8.77
Optionsforfeited/cancelled...........ccccvevenneene. (98,390) 9.45 (174,875) 1534 (45,000) 13.75
Options outstanding at end of year............... 674,891 $ 9.89 737,781 $  10.06 724675 $ 1256

As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, total notes receivable from Common Stock sales were $905,000 and $918,000,
respectively. Interest on all loans secured by the Company’s Common Stock is payable quarterly upon receipt of the
Company’s dividend payment. At each dividend payment date, 50% of excess quarterly stock dividends, after applying
the dividend payment to interest due, is required to reduce the principal balance outstanding on the loans. The interest
rate on these loans adjusts annually and is set at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

During 1998, the Company made one loan totaling $30,000 to an employee of the Company that is secured by the
related Common Stock in connection with the exercise of stock options under the Stock Option Plan. There were no loans
madein 1999.
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The following table sets forth information about fixed stock options outstanding at December 31, 1999:

Stock Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Average
Remaining Weighted- Weighted-
Exercise Number Contractual Life average Number Average
Prices Outstanding (mos.) exercise price ($) Exercisable exercise price (%)
$ 444 144,391 39 $ 444 97,098 $ 444
456 2,500 272 456 — —
4,69 25,000 465 4.69 — —
575 5,500 215 575 — —
581 2,500 257 581 — —
750 255,000 5.66 750 255,000 750
1542 127,500 7.08 1542 127,500 1542
1758 112,500 381 17.58 112,500 1758
674,891 516 9.89 592,098 10.62

In November 1995, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS 123). This
statement establishes financial accounting standards for stock-based employee compensation plans. SFAS 123 permits
the Company to choose either a new fair value based method or the current APB Opinion 25 intrinsic value based
method of accounting for its stock-based compensation arrangements. SFAS 123 requires pro forma disclosures of net
earnings (loss) computed as if the fair value based method had been applied in financial statements of companies that
continue to follow current practice in accounting for such arrangements under Opinion 25. SFAS 123 appliesto al stock-
based employee compensation plans in which an employer grants shares of its stock or other equity instruments to
employees except for employee stock ownership plans. SFAS 123 also applies to plans in which the employer incurs
liabilities to employees in amounts based on the price of the employer’s stock, i.e., stock option plans, stock purchase
plans, restricted stock plans, and stock appreciation rights. The statement also specifies the accounting for transactions
in which a company issues stock options or other equity instruments for services provided by nonemployees or to
acquire goods or services from outside suppliers or vendors.

The Company elected to continue to apply APB Opinion 25 in accounting for its Plan and, accordingly, no
compensation cost has been recognized for its stock options in the financial statements. If the Company determined its
compensation cost based on the fair value, at the grant date of the stock options exercisable under SFAS 123, the
Company’s net earnings (loss) and net earnings (loss) per share would have decreased to the pro forma amounts
indicated below (dollarsin thousands, except per share data):

For the year ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997
Net €arniNgs (10SS) @S FEPOMET ......oooeeereseeeessseeessseeessseeeessscees oo § 2317 §$(5593) (16029
Pro formanet €arnings (I0SS)........ccccueuiuerernesnesesesiess st ss s s sesens § 22308 ¢ (6038 ¢ (16,581
Basic earnings (10ss) per share as reported...........ooeereeeeereereesneeneeseesseesesnnees § 083 ¢ (025 § (09
Diluted earnings (10ss) per share as reported...........ococeeeneneseserseseeesseens § 076 § (025 § (09
Basic pro forma earnings (10SS) Per Share...........c.cccuecueeecreereereeeesesseee s esseens § 08 § (025 § (1L
Diluted pro formaearnings (10SS) Per Share ..........coeeveereeneereereesneeseesmesseeseeseees § 076 ¢ (025 § (102

The derived fair value of the options granted during 1999, 1998 and 1997 was approximately $1.35, $0.54 and $1.70,
respectively. The fair value of options granted, which is amortized to expenses over the option vesting period in
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determining the pro formaimpact, is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the

following weighted average assumptions:
For theyear ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997
RiSK-Free INtErest RALE.........c vt 4.98% 5.0%% 5.84%
Expected Lives (in years).... 35 310 310
Expected Voldtility ............... 0.60% 29.90% 28.50%
Expected DIVIAENd Yield.......coveeeireiiescissisissieseee ettt sstssessssssessessssssssnsans 9.50% 11.50% 9.70%

Note R—Stockholders' Equity

Pursuant to IMH’s Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (DRSPP or the Plan), stockholders can acquire
additional shares of IMH Common Stock by reinvesting their cash dividends at a 0% to 5% discount of the average high
and low market prices as reported on the AMEX on the Investment Date (as described in the Plan) to the extent shares
are issued by IMH. Stockholders may also purchase additional shares of IMH Common Stock through the cash
investment option at a 0% to 5% discount of the average high and low market prices as reported on the AMEX during
the three trading days preceding the Investment Date. During 1999, 1998 and 1997, the Company raised capital of
$946,000, $3.1 million and $24.7 million, respectively, as 216,156, 1.8 million and 1.6 million shares, respectively, of
Common Stock were purchased under the Company’ s DRSPP. Proceeds from the sale of securities were used for working
capital needs. In July of 1999, the Company suspended its DRSPP.

During 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase up to $10.0 million of the
Company’s Common Stock, $.01 par value, in open market purchases from time to time at the discretion of the Company’s
management; the timing and extent of the repurchases will depend on market conditions. For the year ended December
31, 1999, the Company repurchased 2.0 million shares of its Common Stock for $9.9 million. The acquired shares were
canceled.

During 1999, certain stockholders of the Company exchanged 1,359,507 shares of their Common Stock for 11%
senior subordinated debentures due February 15, 2004. The Debentures are unsecured obligations of the Company
subordinated and subject in right of payment to all existing and future senior indebtedness of the Company and
effectively subordinated to all indebtedness of the Company's subsidiaries. The Debentures bear interest at 11% per
annum from their date of issuance, payable quarterly, commencing May 15, 1999, until the debentures are paid in full. The
debentures mature on February 15, 2004, which date may be extended once by the Company to a date not later than May
15, 2004, provided that the Company satisfies certain conditions. Commencing on February 15, 2001, the debentures will
be redeemable, at the Company's option, in whole at any time or in part from time to time, at the principal amount to be
redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date.

On December 22, 1998, the Company completed the sale of 1,200,000 shares of Series B 10.5% Cumulative
Convertible Preferred Stock (Series B Preferred Stock) at $25.00 per share. The Series B Preferred Stock was convertible
into shares of the Company’s Common Stock at a conversion price of $4.95 per share. Accordingly, each share of Series
B Preferred Stock was convertible into 5.050505 shares of the Company’s Common Sock. The terms of the acquisition
provided for a downward adjustment of the conversion price if, anong other things, certain earnings levels were not
attained by the Company through June 30, 1999. In February 2000, the Series B Preferred Stock was exchanged for Series
C 10.5% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (Series C Preferred Stock) and the conversion rate was adjusted to $4.72
per share convertible into 5.29661 shares of Common Stock or an aggregate of 6,355,932 shares of Common Stock.
Dividends on the Preferred Stock accumulate from the date of issuance and are paid quarterly, in cash or the Company’s
Common Stock, starting April 27, 1999. The dividend rate per share is the greater of $0.65625 or the quarterly cash
dividend declared on the number of shares of Common Stock into which a share of Preferred Stock is convertible. The
Company is authorized to issue shares of Preferred Stock designated in one or more classes or series. The Preferred

F-31



IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)

Stock may be issued from time to time with such designations, rights and preferences as shall be determined by the
Board of Directors. The Preferred Stock has a preference on dividend payments, takes priority over dividend
distributions to the common stockhol ders.

On October 7, 1998, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a Stockholder Rights Plan in which Preferred Stock
Purchase Rights were distributed as a dividend at the rate of one Right for each outstanding share of Common Stock.
The dividend distribution was made on October 19, 1998 payable to stockholders of record on that date. The Rights are
attached to the Company’s Common Stock. The Rights will be exercisable and trade separately only in the event that a
person or group acquires or announces the intent to acquire 10 percent or more of the Company’s Common Stock. Each
Right will entitle stockholders to buy one-hundredth of a share of a new series of junior participating Preferred Stock at
an exercise price of $30.00. If the Company is acquired in a merger or other transaction after a person has acquired 10
percent or more of Company outstanding Common Stock, each Right will entitle the stockholder to purchase, at the
Right’s then-current exercise price, anumber of the acquiring Company’s common shares having a market value of twice
such price. In addition, if aperson or group acquires 10 percent or more of the Company's Common Stock, each Right will
entitle the stockholder (other than the acquiring person) to purchase, at the Right’ s then-current exercise price, anumber
of shares of the Company's Common Stock having a market value of twice such price. Following the acquisition by a
person of 10 percent or more of the Company’s Common Stock and before an acquisition of 50 percent or more of the
Common Stock, the Board of Directors may exchange the Rights (other than the Rights owned by such person) at an
exchange ratio of one share of Common Stock per Right. Before a person or group acquires beneficial ownership of 10
percent or more of the Company’s Common Stock, the Rights are redeemable for $.0001 per right at the option of the
Board of Directors. The Rightswill expire on October 19, 2008. The Rights distribution is not taxable to stockholders. The
Rights are intended to enable all the Company stockholders to realize the long-term value of their investment in the
Company.

Note S—Reconciliation of Earnings Per Share
The following table represents the computation of basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share for the periods
presented, as if all stock options, cumulative convertible preferred stock (Preferred Stock), and IClI’s ownership interest

in IMH were outstanding for these periods (in thousands, except per share data):

For theyear ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997
Numerator:
Numerator for basic earnings per share—
Net €arNiNGS (10SS) ...cveeeeeeeeeerereeseee et ses s $ 2317 % 5933 % (16,029)
Less: Dividends paid to preferred stockholders..................... (3,290) — —
Net earnings (loss) availableto
common StOCKNOIESS ... $ 19027 $ (5933 $ (16,029)
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share—
Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period ..........c.cceneneernerenernenenn. 22,824 23914 16,267
Impact of assumed conversion of
Preferred StOCK.........o e 6,356 — —
Net effect of dilutive Stock Options...........cccvenrveeenecrneeenne. 16 — —
Denominator for diluted earnings per share........cccccoveueee.. 29,196 23914 16,267
Net earnings (10ss) per share—basiC........c.cocveeeveeevecenrererenreneenn. $ 083 $ (025 $ (0.99)
Net earnings (loss) per share—diluted...........cccocveverecrerrecrereennee. $ 076 $ 025 $ (0.99)
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The antidilutive effects of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 was none, 137,105 and
210,110, respectively. The antidilutive effects of outstanding Preferred Stock as of December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 was
none, 6,060,606 and none, respectively. Terms of the Preferred Stock acquisition provided for a downward adjustment of
the conversion price if, among other things, certain earnings levels were not attained by the Company through June 30,
1999. The change in the Preferred Stock conversion price during 1999 from $5.05 per share resulted in 6,355,932 in
Common Stock equivalent shares outstanding at December 31, 1999 as compared to 6,060,606 Common Stock equivalent
shares outstanding at December 31, 1998

Note T—Subsequent Events

In February 2000, the Series B Preferred Stock was exchanged for Series C Preferred Stock and the conversion rate
was adjusted to $4.72 per share convertible into 5.29661 shares of Common Stock or an aggregate of 6,355,932 shares of
Common Stock.
Note U—Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

Selected quarterly financial datafor 1999 follows (in thousands, except per share data):

For the Three Months Ended,
December 31, September 30, June30, March 31,

NEL INEENESE INCOME......courererrrriestesiiesses sttt ssessaens $ 7318 % 5876 $ 8163 $ 8246
Provision for loan [0SSes.........c.cccveeeeiene. 1,191 1,367 1,490 1,499
Non-interest income (10ss) (611) 3,784 2,019 1,710
Non-interest eXpense.......c.ouvveeerererenenens 1,639 2,062 2,738 2,262
N = g gV TR 3,937 6,231 5,94 6,195
Net earnings per share — diluted (1)......cccecervereeeerereseeneneseeeressseennens 014 022 021 0.20
Dividends declared per Share .........ccocvveevneeereseseesesessessessssesnens 013 013 0.12 0.10

Selected quarterly financial datafor 1998 follows (in thousands, except per share data):

For the Three Months Ended,
December 31, September 30, June30, March 31,

Net interest income.............. $ 9004 $ 11676 $ 11517 $ 9,766
Provision for loan losses 2,262 (292 487 1,904
Non-interest income (l0ss) (10,64) (9,534) 3,287 3,362
NON-INLErESt EXPENSE.......cveveerrerereersie st 4,187 23,050 2,639 120
Net €arNiNGS (10SS) ...cuvuvuieerreeere st asse s (8,099 (20,616) 11,678 11,104
Net earnings (loss) per share —diluted (1)......ccceoveveverrenecseerereceennn, (0.33) (0.85) 0.49 0.48
Dividends declared per Share ..........cccvveeeveeeeeneseceesesessesesssse s — 0.49 0.49 0.48

(1) Diluted earnings per share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented. Therefore, the sum of
the quarterly earnings per share may not equal thetotal for the year.
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Note V—Impac Funding Cor poration

The following condensed financial information summarizes the financial condition and results of operations of
Impac Funding Corporation:

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands)

At December 31,

1999 1998
ASSETS
Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENES ..ottt se st bss s seesses s st sessanns g 8805 ¢ 422
Securities available-for-sale............cc..... 1,887 5,965
Securities held-for-trading.........ccccceevvuenee. — 5,300
Mortgage loans held-for-sale 68,084 252,568
MOrtgage SErVICING NGNS .....cccceeeceier e s s s s e s s s e nns 15,621 14,062
DUE TIOM B fHIAEES. ... eeeceeereeeer ettt 4,307 9,152
Premises and equipment, net 3575 1,978
Accrued interest receivable....................... 48 1,896
OLNEI BSSELS........cuieeiie ittt bbb bbbt bbb bbbt 13919 22,529

§ 116246 § 313872

LIABILITIESAND SHAREHOL DERS EQUITY

BOrrowingS frOM IWL G........coiueieriereeeeneieesetse et ssset et ses ettt g 66125 ¢ 192,900
OLNEY DOITOWINGS. ...ttt e e 181 67,058
(DU (o 1 L (=TT 14,500 24,382
DEFEITEU FEVENUE ...ttt bbb sttt 7,635 10,605
Accrued interest expense... 843 —
(@1 0Tc - o] OO 9414 6,064
QL0 = L= o1 =TT 98,698 301,009
Shareholders’ equity:
L L= (= (=0 [ (0o T 18,053 18,053
Common stocK................. 182 182
Accumulated deficit (520) (4,852
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (167) (520)
Total SharehOldErS’ EQUILY ....vvereeereeecerrereris st sss e sesss st ssessssssssenssnsns 17,548 12,863

§ 116246 § 313872
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Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands)

Net interest income:

TOtal INTETESE INCOME......iceieceeicececesecte et st as e se b e st nna

Total interest expense

Non-interest income:

Gain (10SS) 0N SAl€ Of 10@NS........ccceeireeceeerere st naes

Loan servicing income.........cceeevene.
Other INCOME .....cocuvevrereerereereeereereas

Non-interest expense:

Amortization of mortgage Servicing rghtS........cccevvceccccscccscee s
Write down of securities available-for-sale..........oorinnccnneeeereeeseae
Impairment of mortgage Servicing rights ...
Provision fOr FEPUICNASES ...t

General and administrative and other expense

Earnings (10SS) before iNCOMETAXES ...
INCOME tAXES (DENEFIL)......ce v
NEt €ArNINGS (I0SS) ...vvureeerreeeirerereisser e

NEL INTErESE INCOME ...ttt et st

Total NON-INLETESE INCOME......ccooveeeieciese et

Total NON-INLErESt EXPENSE.........cueeiereeereerreieerie e
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For the year ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997
21225 ¢ 48510 § 48,020
20953 40743 41,628
272 7,767 6,392
27098 (11,663 19414
5221 7,071 4,109
979 (1,001 643
8298 (5689) 24,166
5331 6,361 2827
4,252 — —
1,078 3722 —
385 367 3148
14965 14,335 10,047
26011 24835 16,022
7559  (22,751) 14,536
3227 (8739 6,136
4332 ¢ (14013) § 8400




INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

The Board of Directors
Impac Funding Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Impac Funding Corporation and subsidiary as
of December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the related consolidated satements of operations and comprehensive earnings
(loss), changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the yearsin the three-year period ended December 31,
1999. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonabl e basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financia position of Impac Funding Corporation and subsidiary as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the

results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the yearsin the three-year period ended December 31, 1999 in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

KPMG LLP

Orange County, California
January 31, 2000
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(dollar amountsin thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents
Securities available-for-sale
Securities held-for-trading.........ccccovveveeeneressecnenn.
Mortgage loans held-for-sale.........ccooovvvcevrenennne,
Mortgage servicing rights
Due from affiliates........cccveerereerenierenerecrecseeeeieenas
Premises and equipment, Net .........ccooveveeevereneennn,
Accrued interest receivable
Other assets

LIABILITIESAND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Borrowings from IWLG.........cornencncnseeneennns
Other DOITOWINGS......cceeeereeeriesiesreer s
Dueto affiliales.......coovvererereeerreeeereee s
Deferred revenue
Accrued interest expense
Other [1DIlTTIES ...t

Total HabilitieS......cveeveereereeeeeeerererereirei

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, no par value; 10,000 shares authorized; 10,000 sharesissued and

outstanding at December 31, 1999 and 1998

Common stock, no par value; 10,000 shares authorized; 10,000 sharesissued and

outstanding at December 31, 1999 and 1998
Accumulated defiCit.......covvrrrrrererrnrerereerens
Accumulated other comprehensiveloss..........

Total shareholders’ equity.......ccoevereeererenens

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
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At December 31,

1999 1998
8805 $ 422
1,887 5,965

— 5,300
68,084 252,568
15,621 14,062

4,307 9,152
3575 1,978

48 1,896

13,919 22,529
116,246 $ 313,872
66,125 $ 192,900
181 67,058
14,500 24,382
7,635 10,605
843 J—
9414 6,064
98,698 301,009
18,053 18,053
182 182
(520) (4,852
(167) (520)
17,548 12,863
116246 $ 313,872




See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS (LOSS)

(in thousands)

For theyear ended December 31,
1999 1998 1997

INTEREST INCOME:

Mortgage loans held-for-sale $ 20352 $ 45070 $ @ 42373

Other interest inCOME........ccoveeeriereneenen. 873 3,440 5,647
Total INLEreSt INCOME......c.ieriierecireieirie et 21,225 48510 48,020
INTEREST EXPENSE:
BOrrowingS from IWL G ... 18,366 32,682 33,450
Other affiliated DOrTOWINGS........cvieerieerriietreeere e 1673 2,020 4,618
Other DOITOWINGS ..ot 914 6,041 3,560
Total INTEIESt EXPENSE......ccueerererreeir st nasse s 20,953 40,743 41,628
NEL INTErESt INCOME......cutieieireeree e 272 7,767 6,392
NON-INTEREST INCOME:
Gain (10sS) 0N SAlE Of [0@NS........cviiirecree s 27,098 (11,663) 19414
Mark-to-market 10Ss on investment SECUNLIES........ccouvereeeeieeeeieeeinienenns — (805) —
Gain (loss) on sale of iNVeStMENt SECUIMTIES.......ccccvvereeeercriseeseeesens — (706) 550

L oan servicing income.... 5221 7,071 4,109
Other INCOME ... 979 420 93
Total non-interest income 33,298 (5,683) 24,166
NON-INTEREST EXPENSE:
PErSONNEl EXPENSE......veecererereseetrireseseietsesessssesesessss s st se s snssssesssssssessssses 7,299 8,901 6,760
Amortization of mortgage servicing rghtS........coeeevnereinenesssnesesenenenns 5,331 6,361 2,827
Write down of securities available-for-sale...........oonencnecneecnens 4,252 — —
General and administrative and other eXpense..........ccccovvvvernerrrerenenenen, 3417 2,516 2,228
Professional SEIVICES ...t 2,524 978 79
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE......cueuirirrreririrreestseessssssssss s s s s sssssssssens 1,095 1391 408
Impairment of mortgage Servicing FightS.......ooeevveceeinnennsnresseesesesnens 1,078 3722 —
Provision fOr repUIChases.........cccvvvecerneeesrese e ssssees 385 367 3,148
Data ProCESSING EXPENSE.....cvvrererererirreeeresesssessesssssssesessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssess 337 387 311
Telephone and other COMMUNICALIONS.........coceerrerreeirreneesee s 293 212 261
Total NON-INLErESt EXPENSE......cceverreirreeirereseerere s asessssssssessssesens 26,011 24,835 16,022
Earnings (10ss) before inCome taxes .........oveeenenccesnensssenecessesssens 7,559 (22,751) 14,536
INCOME taXeS (DENEFIL).......ccceriecrre e 3,227 (8,738) 6,136
Net €arNINGS (0SS) ....evrvereririreeierereeie et 4,332 (14,013) 8,400
Other comprehensive earnings (10ss):
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities:
Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during period...........cc.ccveeen. 329 (520) —
Less: Reclassification of gainsincluded inincome..........oocvvevecnnenenns 24 — —
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period.........c.coceeevereeneen. 353 (520) —
Comprehensive earnings (10SS).........cc.ieineeceseece et $ 4685 $ (14533 $ 8,400
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTSOF CHANGESIN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
(dollar amountsin thousands)

Retained Accumulated

Number Number Earnings Other Total

of Preferre of Commo (Accumulat Comprehensiv Shareholder
Preferred d Common n ed e s

Shares Stock Shares Stock Deficit) L oss Equity
Baance, December 31, 1996....... 10,000 9,143 10,000 92 761 — 9,996
Capital Contributions, 1997....... — 8,910 — 20 — — 9,000
Net earnings, 1997 .......cccocevevnne. — — — — 8,400 — 8,400
Balance, December 31, 1997 ...... 10,000 18,053 10,000 182 9,161 — 27,39%
Netloss, 1998.......ccccccveveveveerenne — — — — (14,013) — (14,013)
Other comprehensiveloss......... — — — — — (520) (520)
Balance, December 31, 1998...... 10000 ¢ 18,053 10000 ¢ 182 $ (4852 $ (5200 $ 12863
Net earnings, 1999........ccccceevnne. — — — — 4,332 — 4332
Other comprehensive income ... — — — — — 353 353
Balance, December 31, 1999...... 10,000 18,053 10,000 182 (520) (167) 17,548
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTSOF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

For theyear ended December 31,

1999 1998 1997
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NEt €ArMINGS (0SS)....uvueevceeeetieeesetee et sees s s s st sses s sss st sesssssanes g 4332 ¢ (14013) ¢ 8,400
Adjustmentsto reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:
Provision fOr rEPUICNASsES ........ccccverecinreressisesee s ssesenns 385 367 3,148
Gain (10sS) 0N SAl€ Of 108NS........ccvereerrrireeeree e 27,098 — —
Depreciation and amortiZation...........ccceveeernereennessse e 6,453 7,141 3,371
Amortization of deferred reVeNUE ... (12,7512) (8,157) (1,862
Impairment of mortgage Servicing rightS ......cccveeeeevvessnesesseseseseeeens 1,078 3722 —
Net change in accrued interest receivable.........covvvvcevevecccnesccserinenns 1,848 2,859 (2,910
Net change in other assets and liabilities .........ccccvveevcevevececserese s (6,258) 1,806 (54,291)
Net change in deferred taXES........vvvververernenerse s — (10,459) 3172
Net changein deferred revenue 9,781 11,714 7517
Purchase of securities held-for-trading..........cocoeeevveveceinenecssseseeesinenns 5,300 (5,300) —
Write-down of investment SECUFTIES .........c.ocureerreeereeererreireeeseeeneiees 4,252 805 —
Net change in accrued iNterest EXPENSE.......ccvuververreereresssseesesessesrenenns 843 (5,673) 1,382
Net cash provided by (used in) operating actiVities..........cccocoevereunen. 42,361 (15,188) (32,073)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of mortgage loans held-for-Sale..........ovenecnecneenenncsecreene (1,671,777) (2,248,586) (2,571,208)
Sale of and principal reductions on mortgage loans held-for-sdle.............. 1,827,638 2,616,170 2,284,763
Additions to mortgage Servicing rghtS.......ccueennnesneeneeneeesseseeens (7,968) (8,577) (9,611)
Issuance of NOLE FrOM IMH........ooioeeeeeeeeeeee et 14,500 — —
Sale of residual interests in SECUritiZatioNs........coccceveveeeeeeeveeeeseeee e — —_ 47925
Principal reductions on residual interestsin securitizations...................... — — (976)
Purchase of securities available-for-sale ..., (5413 — (28,646)
Sale of securities available-fOr-SaAle ... 5413 — 22,953
Principal reductions on securities available-for-sale ..., — 403 (390)
Purchase of premises and eqUiPMENL..........ccwrrererneeeneeenereesessesessesesseseens (2,719 (970) (1,498)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities........ccoccevverreneee. 159,674 358,440 (256,688)
CASH FLOWSFROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net change in borrowings from IWLG (126,775) (261,940) 127,418
Net changein other borrowings............. (66,877) (81,249) 148,307
Capital CONLITDULIONS ..o — — 9,000
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities...........c.coccnennns (193,652 (343,189) 284,725
Net change in cash and cash eqUIValENLS ........cccceveeccnreccce e 8,383 63 (4,036)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year...........ccccovveveveenescccenesceneen, 422 359 4,395
Cash and cash equivalents at end Of Year..........cocovvvvvvvvvsssee s 4 8,805 422 9 359
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:
INEEMESE PAI ....voveevcveeeeteceee ettt s s ss st s tanen g 20,109 44806 ¢ 40,246
B IE -5 07 o TR 385 5,205 2,964

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Note A—Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies
1. Businessand Financial Statement Presentation

IFC is a mortgage loan conduit organization, which purchases primarily non-conforming mortgage loans from a
network of third party correspondent loan originators and subsequently securitizes or sells such loans to permanent
investors or IMH. On March 31, 1997, ownership of al of the Common Stock of |FC was transferred from IClI to Joseph
R. Tomkinson, Chief Executive Officer of IMH and IFC, William S. Ashmore, President of IMH and IFC, and Richard J.
Johnson, Chief Financia Officer of IMH and IFC, who are entitled to 1% of the earnings or losses of | FC.

The consolidated financial statements include the operations of IFC and its wholly owned subsidiary, Impac
Secured Asset Corporation (collectively, IFC) and have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles and prevailing practices within the mortgage banking industry.

All significant intercompany balances and transactions with |FC’ s consolidated subsidiary have been eliminated in
consolidation. Interest income on affiliated short-term advances, due from affiliates, has been earned at the rate of 8% per
annum. Interest expense on affiliated short-term borrowings, due to affiliates, has been incurred at the rate of 8% per
annum. Certain amounts in the prior period’s consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the
current presentation.

Management of IFC has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period to prepare these financial statementsin conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash and money
market mutual funds. IFC considers investments with maturities of three months or less at date of acquisition to be cash
equivalents.

3. Gain on Saleof Loans

IFC recognizes gains or losses on the sale of 1oans when the sales transaction settles or upon the securitzation of
the mortgage loans when the risks of ownership have passed to the purchasing party. Gains and losses may be
increased or decreased by the amount of any servicing released premiums received and costs associated with the
origination of mortgage loans. Gain on sale of loans or securitiesto IMH are deferred and accreted over the estimated life
of the loans or securitiesusing the interest method.

A transfer of financial assets in which control is surrendered is accounted for as a sale to the extent that
consideration other than a beneficial interest in the transferred assets is received in the exchange. Liabilities and
derivativesincurred or obtained by the transfer of financial assets are required to be measured at fair value, if practicable.
Also, servicing assets and other retained interests in the transferred assets must be measured by allocating the previous
carrying value between the asset sold and the interest retained, if any, based on their relative fair values at the date of
transfer.

To determine the value of the securities, IFC estimates future rates of prepayments, prepayment penalties to be
received by IFC, delinquencies, defaults and default loss severity and their impact on estimated cash flows. At December
31, 1999, IFC used a 4.39% constant default rate estimate with a 73.78% severity resulting in loss estimates of 2.08%.
These estimates are based on historical loss data for comparable loans. |IFC estimates prepayments by evaluating
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historical prepayment performance of comparable mortgage loans and trends in the industry. At December 31, 1999, IFC
used a constant prepayment assumption of 1.37% to estimate the prepayment characteristics of the underlying collateral.
These assumptions may fluctuate depending on market conditions.

4. Securities Available-for-Saleand Securities Held-for -Trading

IFC classifies investment and mortgage-backed securities as held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, and/or trading
securities. Held-to-maturity investment and mortgage-backed securities are reported at amortized cost, available-for-sale
securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of related income taxes, as a separate component
of shareholders’ equity, and trading securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported in
operations. |FC’s investment securities are held as available-for-sale, reported at fair value with unrealized gains and
losses net of related income taxes reported as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. Premiums or discounts
obtained on investment securities are accreted or amortized to interest income over the estimated life of the investment
securities using the interest method.

Residual interestsin securitization of mortgage loans are recorded as a result of the sale of mortgage loans through
securitizations. |FC sells a portfolio of mortgage loans to a special purpose entity that has been established for the
limited purpose of buying and reselling IFC’'s mortgage loans. The special purpose entity then transfers the same
mortgage loans to a Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduit or owners trust (the Trust). The Trust issues interest-
bearing asset-backed securities in an amount equal to the aggregate principal balance of the mortgage loans. IFC
typically sells these certificates at face value and without recourse except that representations and warranties customary
to the mortgage banking industry are provided by IFC. IFC may provide a credit enhancement for the benefit of the
investors in the form of additional collateral (over-collateralization) held by the Trust. The over-collateralization account
isrequired to be maintained at specified levels.

At the closing of each securitization, |FC removes from its consolidated balance sheets the loans held-for-sale and
adds to its consolidated balance sheet the cash received, and the estimated fair value of the portion of the mortgage
loans retained from the securitizations (Residuals). The Residuals consist of the over-collateralization account and the
net interest receivables which represent the estimated cash flows to be received by the Trust in the future. The excess of
the cash received and the assets retained by IFC over the carrying value of the mortgage loans sold, less transaction
costs, equals the net gain on sale of mortgage loans recorded by IFC.

IFC allocatesits basis in the mortgage loans between the portion of the mortgage |oans sold through the certificates
and the portion retained based on the relative fair values of those portions on the date of the sale. IFC may recognize
gains or losses attributable to the changes in the fair value of the residuals, which are recorded at estimated fair value
and accounted for as held-for-trading securities at IFC. The market for the purchase or sale of residualsis not considered
liquid. IFC determines the estimated fair value of the residuals by discounting the expected cash flows using a discount
rate which IFC believes is commensurate with the risks involved. At December 31, 1999, IFC used a weighted average
discount rate of approximately 16.8%. Most of the residual interests generated by |FC are sold to IMH and accounted for
as available-for-sale securities at IMH.

The Company receives periodic servicing fees for the servicing and collection of the mortgage loans as master
servicer of the securitized loans. The Company is aso entitled to the cash flows from the residual that represent
collections on the mortgage loans in excess of the amounts required to pay the certificate principal and interest, the
servicing fees and certain other fees such as trustee and custodial fees. At the end of each collection period, cash
collected from the mortgage loans are allocated to the base servicing and other fees for the period, then to the certificate
holders for interest at the pass-through rate on the certificates plus principal as defined in the servicing agreements. If
the amount of cash required for the above allocations exceeds the amount collected during the collection period, the
shortfall is drawn from the over-collateralization account. If the cash collected during the period exceeds the amount
necessary for the above allocations, and there is no shortfall in the related over-collateralization account, the excess is
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released to the Company. If the over-collateralization account balance is not at the required credit enhancement level, the
excess cash collected is retained in the over-collateralization account until the specified level is achieved. The cash and
collateral in the over-collateralization account is restricted from use by the Company. Pursuant to certain servicing
agreements, cash held in the over-collateralization accounts may be used to make accelerated principal paydowns on the
certificates to create additional excess collateral in the over-collateralization account.

5. Mortgage Loans Heldfor-Sale

Mortgage loans held-for-sale are stated at the lower of cost or market in the aggregate as determined by
outstanding commitments from investors or current investor yield requirements. Interest is recognized as revenue when
earned according to the terms of the mortgage loans and when, in the opinion of management, it is collectible.
Nonrefundable fees and direct costs associated with the origination or purchase of loans are deferred and recognized
when the loans are sold as gain or loss on sale of mortgage loans. It is the policy of the Company to construct hedge
positions, which will limit exposure to arise or decline of 25 basis pointsin yield or approximately a one-point change in
price of the benchmark instrument.

6. Premisesand Equipment

Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumul ated depreciation or amortization. Depreciation on premises
and equipment is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of individual assets (three to
seven years).

7. Mortgage Servicing Rights

The Company allocates a portion of the cost of acquiring a mortgage loan to the mortgage loan servicing rights
based on its fair value relative to the components of the loan. To determine the fair value of the servicing rights created,
IFC uses a valuation model that calculates the present value of future net servicing revenues to determine the fair value
of the servicing rights. In using this valuation method, | FC incorporates assumptions that it believes market participants
would use in estimating future net servicing, an inflation rate, ancillary income per loan, a prepayment rate, a default rate
and a discount rate commensurate with the risk involved. MSRs are amortized in proportion to, and over the period of
expected net servicing income.

The mortgage servicing rights are considered impaired when the fair value using a discounted cash flow analysisis
less than the carrying value. In that event, an impairment loss is recognized in the respective period.

As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC is the master servicer for $1.4 hillion and $1.5 billion of loans collateralizing
REMIC securities and $885.2 million and $1.1 billion of mortgage loans collateralizing CM Os, respectively. |FC recognizes
gain or loss on the sale of servicing rights when the sales contract has been executed and ownership is determined to
have passed to the purchasing party. Gains and losses are computed by deducting the basis in the servicing rights and
any other costs associated with the sale from the purchase price.

8. Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax conseguences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax base. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the yearsin which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change
intax ratesis recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

F-42



IMPAC FUNDING CORPORATION AND SUBS DIARY

NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(continued)

9. Futures

To control risk, IFC uses future contracts on Treasury Bonds and Treasury notes to hedge against interest rate
fluctuations and options on futures. The use of these instruments provides for increased liquidity, lower transaction
costs and more effective short-term coverage than cash and mortgage-backed securities. However, IFC is vulnerable to
the basis risk that is inherent in cross-hedging transactions. |FC uses the buying and selling of futures contracts on
Treasury bonds and Treasury notes when the market is vulnerable to day to day corrections. Executing hedges with
these instruments allows IFC to more effectively hedge the risks of corrections or reverses in the market without
committing mandatory sales on mortgage-backed securities or cash. |FC utilizes these instruments on a short-term basis
to fine-tune its overall hedge position at alower cost. The Company's policy isto defer hedging gains or losses until the
related asset is sold. The hedgeis then recognized and applied against the gain or loss on the sale.

10. Forward Contractsand Options

In order to hedge against a change in market value of the loans it acquires, IFC sells mortgage-backed securities
through forward delivery contracts. Income or loss on these contracts is recorded at the time of sale of the related
contracts or loans as a component of the gain or loss on sale of the loans. If any party to the contracts fails to
completely perform, IFC would be exposed to additional interest rate risk. IFC’s principal hedging activity consists of
optional and mandatory commitments to deliver closed mortgage loans to institutional investors, which do not require
any collateral deposits. Written options are stated at market val ue.

11. Servicing Income

Servicing income is reported as earned, principally on a cash basis when the mgjority of the service process is
completed.

12. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS 133, which establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative
instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, (collectively referred to as
derivatives) and for hedging activities. It requires that an entity recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilitiesin
the statement of financial position and measure those instruments at fair value. If certain conditions are met, a derivative
may be specifically designated as (a) a hedge of the exposure to changesin the fair value of arecognized asset or liability
or an unrecognized firm commitment, (b) a hedge of the exposure to variable cash flows of aforecasted transaction, or (c)
ahedge of the foreign currency exposure of anet investment in aforeign operation, an unrecognized firm commitment, an
available-for-sale security, or a foreign-currency-denominated forecasted transaction. This statement is effective for al
fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999. SFAS 133 was amended by SFAS No. 137, which alows
deferral of SFAS 133 for all fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after July 15, 2000. Management is evaluating the
impact of implementation of SFAS 133 on the Company’ sfinancial position and results of operations.

Note B—M ortgage L oans Heldfor -Sale

Mortgage loans purchased by IFC are fixed and adjustable-rate non-conforming mortgage loans secured by first
and second liens on single-family residential properties. During the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC
acquired $1.7 billion and $2.2 hillion, respectively, of mortgage loans and sold $1.8 billion and $2.6 hillion, respectively, of
mortgage loans. Of the mortgage loans sold by IFC during 1999 and 1998, $638.3 million and $866.7 million, respectively,
were sold to IMH including premiums of $877,000 and $23.8 million, respectively. At December 31, 1999 and 1998,
approximately 23% and 50%, respectively, of mortgage loans held-for-sale were collateralized by properties located in
California. During 1999 and 1998, IFC acquired none and $54.4 million, respectively, of fixed-rate mortgage loans secured
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by second liens on single family residential properties with loan-to-value ratios of approximately 125%, of which $193,000
of principal balance was outstanding at December 31, 1999.

Mortgage loans held for sale consisted of the following:

At December 31,

1999 1998
(in thousands)
Mortgage 10anS NEld-FOr-SAlE..........c.oceeeereceeeseee ettt g 66,041 ¢ 247,079
Premium on loans 1,251 5,226
D= L= =Tl =T (o1 o TR 792 263
§ 68,084 g 252,568

Included in other liabilities & December 31, 1999 and 1998 is an allowance for repurchases of $592,000 and $838,000,
respectively.

Note C—Premisesand Equipment
Premises and equipment consisted of the following:

At December 31,

1999 1998
(in thousands)
Premises and @QUIPMENL........c.cc.ccciiririesesese ettt g 6,146 4 3,463
Lessaccumulated depreCiation............ceeeeeienerenesineeesese e ssesessssennis (2571) (1,485)
g 3575 ¢ 1,978

Note D—M ortgage Servicing Rights
Activity for mortgage servicing rights was as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

1999 1998
(in thousands)
BEgiNNIiNG BAl@NCE ..ottt ettt ses s ssee st et ssesnes g 14,062 ¢ 15,568
AGAITIONS. ...t e 7,968 8577
Impairment of mortgage Servicing rghtS.........ovieeeeeeeeree e (1,078) (3,722
AMOITIZATON. ...ttt e (5,331) (6,361)
ENAiNG DAIANCE ..ottt g 15,621 4 14,062

At December 31, 1999 and 1998, approximately $6.2 million and $5.6 million, respectively, of mortgage servicing
rightsrelates to $1.6 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively, of mortgage loans sold to IMH.

Note E—Other Borrowings

IFC enters into reverse repurchase agreements with major brokerage firms to fund the purchase of mortgage loans.
M ortgage loans underlying reverse repurchase agreements are delivered to dealers that arrange the transactions. |FC has
entered into an uncommitted warehouse line agreement to obtain financing up to $200.0 million from amajor investment
bank. The margins on the reverse repurchase agreements are based on the type of collateral used and generally range
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from 95% to 98% of the fair market value of the collateral. The interest rates on the borrowings are indexed to LIBOR plus
aspread of 85 basis pointsto 125 basis points depending on the type of collateral used.
The following tables sets forth information regarding reverse repurchase agreements (in thousands):

At December 31, 1999

Reverse
Type of Commitment Repurchase Underlying Maturity
Collateral Amount Liability Collateral Date
Lender L., Mortgages $ 181 $ 181 $ 253 N/A
$ 181 $ 181 $ 253

At December 31, 1998

Reverse
Type of Commitment Repurchase Underlying Maturity
Collateral Amount Liability Collateral Date
(1= 010 L= Mortgages $ 25024 $ 25024 $ 30,073 N/A
(= 010 (= Mortgages 42034 42,034 43,141 N/A

$ 67058 $ 67058 $ 73214

Note F—Income Taxes

IFC’ sincome taxes (benefit) are asfollows:
For the year ended December 31,
1999 1998 1997
(in thousands)

Current income taxes:

$ 248 $ (3673) $ 4,064

2 — 1,346

250 (3,673 5410

FOABIEL......coceeeeeeeeeece ettt 2115 (3,533 433
SEBLE. .ttt 862 (1,532) 293
Total deferred iNCOMETAXES........cvvrrereriereirreeee s 2977 (5,065) 726
Total income taxes (DENEFIL)........ovrrrenenrrirerre e $ 3227 $ (8,738) $ 6,136

The Company’s effective income taxes (benefit) differ from the amount determined by applying the statutory
Federal rate of 34% for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998, and 1997 is asfollows:

1999 1998 1997
(in thousands)
Income taxes (benefit) at Federal tax rate.........oovveeveeveeveeeeeeeressesesereees $ 2570 $ (7,735) $ 4,942
Cdiforniafranchisetax, net of Federal incometax (benefit)........ccocovueee.e. 570 (1,012) 1,082
OBNEN ...t bbb 87 8 112

$ 3227 $ (8738 $ 6,136
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The tax effected cumulative temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December
31, 1999 and 1998 are asfollows:

1999 1998
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
DEFEITEA FEVENUE .......oocvceeeee ettt s bbbt g 3142 ¢ 4,364
Forward commitments 14 363
Depreciation................ 28 19
Salary accrudls ............ 169 188
L1 g oo 7= | 585 103
[0 7= gl 7= 4 G 0 0 T (. T — 331
Non-accrual loans........c.coceevververenne. 91 685
Provision for repurchases 244 345
Contribution carryover .........cco....... — 25
T g = o = T 292 263
[T o] o T= g 0T 2,871 2,926

Total gross deferred taX @SSELS ...t sseseens 7,436 9,617
Deferred tax liabilities:
MoOrtgage SErVICING HONLS. ...t s e aes 6,168 5,412
(= 1= 4 (=0 o 1 TR 449 440
=T (o 0= (= O 31 —

Total grossdeferred tax [iabilities.......ccoovcevveceinsce s 6,648 5,852

Net deferred tax (asset) Hability ..ot $ (788) ¢ (3,765)

As of December 31, 1999, the Company has net operating loss carry-forwards for federal and state income tax
purposes of $6.8 million, which are available to offset future taxable income, if any, through 2018 and 2004, respectively.
In addition, the Company has an aternative minimum tax credit carry-forward of approximately $292,000 which is
available to reduce future federal regular income taxes, if any, over an indefinite period.

The Company believes that the deferred tax asset will more likely than not be realized due to the reversal of the
deferred tax liability and expected future taxable income. In determining the possible future realization of deferred tax
assets, future taxable income from the following sources are taken into account: (a) the reversal of taxable temporary
differences, (b) future operations exclusive of reversing temporary differences and (c) tax planning strategies that, if
necessary, would be implemented to accelerate taxable income into years in which net operating losses might otherwise
expire.

Note G—Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial | nstruments

The estimated fair value amounts have been determined by IFC using available market information and appropriate
valuation methodologies, however, considerable judgment is necessarily required to interpret market datato develop the
estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the amounts IFC could
realize in a current market exchange. The useof different market assumptions and/or estimation methodol ogies may have
amaterial effect on the estimated fair value amounts.
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December 31, 1999 December 31, 1998

Carrying  Estimated Carrying  Estimated

Amount  Fair Value Amount  Fair Value
(in thousands)

Assets
Cash and cash equUIValentS .........cc.ccueeeeeereveeeeeee e, $ 8805 ¢ 8805 { 422 § 422
Securities available-for-sale........ovneceevnnceereseeesese e 1,887 1,887 5,965 5,965
Securities available-for-trading .........ccoeeeevveneesnessenresseenenes — — 5,300 5,300
Mortgage loans held-for-sale 68,084 68,084 252,568 252,568
DU from affilialeS ....covueeeeeeererecce e 4,307 4,307 9,152 9,152
Liabilities
Borrowingsfrom IWLG 66,125 66,125 192,900 192,900
Other borrowings.......c.cceevvereenens 181 181 67,058 67,058
DUE O affili@ES......veeeeeerereetr e 14,500 14,500 24,382 24,382
Off-balance sheet |0an commiItMents ...........coceeerereenerenseinnenes — 4 — 895

December 31, 1999

Notional Carrying Unrealized
Off-balance sheet items Amaniint \/aliie (Gain
(in thousands)
FOrWard CONTACES ......c.cveviceeeeeicee sttt beses $ 110000 ¢ — 471
FULUPES CONIACES .....veeeeteceeeteeeteeee ettt sa e nns 10,000 — 54
(@] o170 1 oT0] = o1 130T 20,000 9%5 30

The fair value estimates as of December 31, 1999 and 1998 are based on pertinent information available to
management as of that date. Although management is not aware of any factors that would significantly affect the
estimated fair value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for purposes of these financial
statements since those dates and, therefore, current estimates of fair value may differ significantly from the amounts
presented. Thefair value of off-balance sheet items for 1998 was not deemed material.

The following describes the methods and assumptions used by IFC in estimating fair values:

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Fair value approximates carrying amounts as these instruments are demand deposits and do not present
unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.

Securities Available-for-Sale and Securities Held-for-Trading
To determine the value of the securities, the Company estimates future rates of prepayments, prepayment penalties
to be received by the Company, delinquencies, defaults and default loss severity and their impact on estimated cash
flows.

Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale

Fair value of mortgage loans held-for-sale is estimated based on quoted market prices from dealers and brokers for
similar types of mortgage loans.
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Borrowingsfrom IWLG

Fair value approximates carrying amounts because of the short-term maturity of the liabilities.
Other Borrowings

Fair value approximates carrying amounts because of the short-term maturity of the liabilities.
Due From/ To Affiliates

Fair value approximates carrying amounts because of the short-term maturity of the liabilities and does not present
unanticipated interest rate or credit concerns.

Off-Balance Sheet Items

Fair value of loan commitments, including hedging positions, is determined in the aggregate based on current
investor yield requirements.

Fair value of forward, futures and options contractsis based on broker quotes.
Note H—Employee Benefit Plans
Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan

IFC does not have its own 401(k) or profit sharing plan. As such, employees of IFC participatein ICII’s 401(k) plan.
Under ICII’s 401(k) plan, employees of the Company may contribute up to 14% of their salaries. The Company will match
50% of the first 4% of employee contributions. An additional Company contribution may be made at the discretion of
IFC. The Company recorded approximately $135,000, $340,000 and $204,000 for matching and discretionary contributions
during 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Note |—Related Party Transactions
Related Party Cost Allocations

In December 1999, IFC entered into a services agreement with |CAI, asubsidiary of ICII, under which ICAI provides
various services to IFC, including data processing, human resource administration, general ledger accounts, check
processing, remittance processing and payment of accounts payable. ICAIl charges fees for each of the services based
upon usage. The charge to IFC for coverage is based upon a pro rata portion of costs ICAIl incurred for its various
policies. Total alocation of expense for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 was $180,000, $178,000 and
$152,000, respectively.

During 1999 and 1998, IMH and IWLG were allocated data processing, executive and operations management, and
accounting services that IFC incurred during the normal course of business per the Company’s submanagement
agreement with RAI Advisors Inc. (RAI). IFC, through RAI, charged IMH and IWLG for management and operating
services based upon usage which management believes was reasonable. In May 1999, the submanagement agreement
with RAI was terminated and IFC entered into a new submanagement agreement with FIC Management, Inc., pursuant to
which IFC provides services to ICH. Prior to the submanagement agreement with RAI and after RAI was terminated, IMH
and IWLG were allocated data processing, executive and operations management, and accounting services that IFC
incurred during the normal course of business. IFC charged IMH and IWLG for management and operating services
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based upon usage which management believes was reasonable. Total cost allocations charged by IFC to IMH and IWLG
for the year ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 were $1.2 million, $968,000 and $385,000, respectively.

Lease Agreement: IMH and IFC entered into a premises operating sublease agreement (see Note J—Commitments
and Contingencies) to rent approximately 74,000 square feet of office space in Newport Beach, California, for aten-year
term, which expires in May 2008. IMH and IFC pay monthly rental expenses and allocate the cost to subsidiaries and
affiliated companies on the basis of square footage occupied. The mgjority of occupancy chargesincurred were paid by
IFC as most of the Company’s employees are employed by the Conduit Operations. Total rental expense for the years
ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 were $1.1 million and $1.3 million, of which $1.0 million and $1.2 million was paid by
IFC.

Credit Arrangements— Current

IFC maintains a warehouse financing facility with IWLG. Advances under such warehouse facilities bear interest at
Bank of America's prime rate. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, amounts outstanding on IFC’s warehouse line with
IWLG were $66.1 million and $192.9 million, respectively. Interest expense recorded by IFC related to warehouse lines
with IWLG for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 was $18.4 million, $32.7 million and $33.4 million,
respectively.

During the normal course of business, IFC may advance or borrow funds on a short-term basis with affiliated
companies. Advances to affiliates are reflected as “Due from affiliates’, while borrowings are reflected as “Due to
affiliates” on IFC’s balance sheet. These short-term advances and borrowings bear interest at a fixed rate of 8.00% per
annum. Interest income recorded by IFC related to short-term advances due from affiliates for the years ended December
31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 was $463,000, $1.7 million and $500,000, respectively. Interest expense recorded by IFC related to
short-term advances due to affiliates for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 was $977,000, $2.0 million and
$688,000, respectively.

Transactions with IMH and IWLG

Purchase of Mortgage Loans During the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC purchased from IMH
mortgage loans having a principal balance of $10.8 million and $170.4 million, respectively, including premiums of
$294,000 and $7.7 million, respectively.

Advances: During 1999, |FC was advanced $14.5 million in cash from IMH at an interest rate of 9.50% per annum in
exchange for an interest only note due June 30, 2004, in anticipation of the initial capitalization of the Bank and to fund
the operations of IFC and other strategic opportunities deemed appropriate by IFC. Interest expense recorded by IFC
related to this note was $696,000.

Sale of Mortgage Loans. During the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC sold to IMH mortgage loans
having a principal balance of $637.4 million and $842.9 million, respectively. The loans were sold with premiums of
$877,000 and $23.9 million, respectively. Servicing rights on al mortgages purchased by IMH were retained by I1FC.

Purchases and Sales of Mortgage-Backed Securities: During the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC sold
$22.0 million and $60.6 million, respectively, of mortgage-backed securities to IMH for $18.3 million and $56.1 million,
respectively, net of discounts of $3.7 million and $4.5 million, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 1999
and 1998 IFC purchased $7.5 million and none of mortgage-backed securities from IMH for $3.8 million and none,
respectively, net of discounts of $3.7 million and none, respectively. IFC issued the mortgage-backed securities during
1999 and 1998 in connection with its REMIC securitizations.
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Transactions with WSl

Purchase of Mortgage Loans During the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC acquired $5.4 million and
$4.2 million of mortgage loans, respectively from WSI, an affiliate of the Company. James Walsh, Executive Vice
President of WSI, isaDirector of the Company.

Transactions with Impac Lending Group (ILG)

Purchase of Mortgage Loans During the year ended December 31, 1999, IFC acquired $89.2 million of mortgage
loans from Impac Lending Group, an affiliate of the Company.

Transactions with RAI

Submanagement Agreement: In 1997, IFC entered into a submanagement agreement with RAI under which IMH and
IFC provided various services to ICH as RAI deems necessary, including facilities and costs associated therewith,
technology, human resources, management information systems, general ledger accounts, check processing and
accounts payable, plus a 15% service charge. RAI charges ICH for these services based upon usage. Total cost
alocations RAI charged to ICH for the year ended December 31, 1998 were $521,000. In May 1999, the Submanagement
Agreement with RAI was terminated and IFC entered into a new submanagement agreement with FIC Management, Inc.
pursuant to which IFC provides serviceto ICH.

Non-Compete Agreement and Right of First Refusal Agreement

Pursuant to the Non-Compete Agreement executed on the date of the ICH initial public offering, IFC will not acquire
any commercial mortgages for a period of the earlier of nine months from the closing of the ICH initial public offering or
the date upon which ICH and/or ICCC accumulates (for investment or sal€) $300.0 million of commercial mortgages or
commercia mortgage-backed securities. This agreement expired in March 1998.

Pursuant to the Right of First Refusal Agreement by and among IFC, IMH, ICH, ICCC and RAI, pursuant to which,
in part, RAI will agree that any mortgage loan or mortgage-backed security investment opportunity which is offered to it
on behalf of either ICH, IMH any affiliated REIT will first be offered to that entity whose initial primary business as
described initsinitial public offering documentation most closely aligns with such investment opportunity. The Right of
First Refusal Agreement was terminated in May 1999.

Note J—Commitments and Contingencies
Master Servicing

Properties securing mortgage loans in IFC’'s master servicing portfolio are primarily located in California. As of
December 31, 1999 and 1998, approximately 40% of mortgage loans in IFC's master servicing portfolio were located in
California. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC was master servicing loans totaling approximately $2.9 billion and $3.7
billion, respectively, of which $2.8 billion and $3.5 hillion, respectively, were serviced for others. IFC is the master
servicer for $1.4 billion and $1.5 hillion, respectively of loans collateralizing fixed rate REMIC securities and $885.2 million
and $1.1 billion, respectively, of loans collateralizing CMOs. Related fiduciary funds are held in trust for investorsin non-
interest bearing accounts. These funds are segregated in special bank accounts and are held as deposits at Southern
Pacific Bank.
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Master Commitments

IFC establishes mortgage loan purchase commitments (Master Commitments) with sellers that, subject to certain
conditions, entitle the seller to sell and obligate IFC to purchase a specified dollar amount of non-conforming mortgage
loans over a period generally ranging from six months to one year. The terms of each Master Commitment specify
whether a seller may sell loans to IFC on a mandatory, best efforts or optional basis. Master commitments generally do
not obligate IFC to purchase loans at a specific price, but rather provide the seller with afuture outlet for the sale of its
originated loans based on IFC’s quoted prices at the time of purchase. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC had
outstanding short term Master Commitments with 88 and 54 sellers, respectively, to purchase mortgage loans in the
aggregate principal amount of $1.9 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively, over periods ranging from six monthsto one year,
of which $747.5 million and $522.3 million, respectively, had been purchased or committed to be purchased pursuant to
rate locks. These rate-locks were made pursuant to Master Commitments, bulk rate-locks and other negotiated rate-locks.
There is no exposureto credit loss in this type of commitment until the loans are funded, and interest rate risk associated
with the short-term commitments is mitigated by the use of forward contractsto sell loansto investors.

Following the issuance of a specific rate-lock, IFC is subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations and enters into
hedging transactions to diminish such risk. Hedging transactions may include mandatory or optional forward sales of
mortgage loans or mortgage-backed securities, interest rate caps, floors and swaps, mandatory forward sales, mandatory
or optional sales of futures, and other financial futures transactions. The nature and quantity of hedging transactions are
determined by the management of IFC based on various factors, including market conditions and the expected volume of
mortgage loan purchases. Deferred hedging gains and losses are presented on IFC’s balance sheet in other assets.
These deferred amounts are recognized upon the sale or securitization of the related mortgage loans. Deferred hedging
gains and losses are presented on IFC’s balance sheet in mortgage |oans held-for-sale. As of December 31, 1999 and
1998, IFC had $792,000 and $263,000, respectively, of deferred hedging lossesincluded in mortgage loans held-for-sale.

Forward Contracts

IFC sells mortgage-backed securities through forward delivery contracts with major dealers in such securities. At
December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC had $110.0 million and $46.0 million, respectively, in outstanding commitments to sell
mortgage | oans through mortgage-backed securities. These commitments allow |IFC to enter into mandatory commitments
when IFC notifies the investor of its intent to exercise a portion of the forward delivery contracts. IFC was not obligated
under mandatory commitments to deliver loans to such investors at December 31, 1999 and 1998. The credit risk of
forward contracts relates to the counterparties’ ability to perform under the contract. |FC eval uates counterparties based
on their ability to perform prior to entering into any agreements.

Futures Contracts

IFC sells futures contracts against five and ten-year Treasury notes with major dealers in such securities. At
December 31, 1999 and 1998, IFC had $10.0 million and none, respectively, in outstanding commitments to sell Treasury
notes which expire within 90 days.

Options

In order to protect against changesin the value of mortgage loans held for sale, IFC may sell call or buy put options
on U.S. Treasury bonds and mortgage-backed securities. IFC generally sells call or buys put options to hedge against
adverse movements of interest rates affecting the value of its mortgage loans held for sale. The risk in writing a call
option isthat IFC gives up the opportunity for profit if the market price of the mortgage |oans increases and the option is
exercised. IFC also has the additional risk of not being able to enter into a closing transaction if aliquid secondary market
does not exist. The risk of buying a put option is limited to the premium IFC paid for the put option. IFC had written
option contracts with an outstanding principal balance of $20.0 million and $25.0 million a December 31, 1999 and 1998,
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respectively. IFC received approximately $95,000 and $134,000 in premiums on these options at December 31, 1999 and
1998, respectively.
Sales of Loans and Servicing Rights

In the ardinary course of business, IFC is exposed to liability under representations and warranties made to
purchasers and insurers of mortgage loans and the purchasers of servicing rights. Under certain circumstances, IFC is
required to repurchase mortgage loans if there has been a breach of representations or warranties. In the opinion of
management, the potential exposure related to these representations and warranties will not have a material adverse
effect. At December 31, 1999 and 1998, included in other liabilities are $592,000 and $838,000, respectively, in allowances
for repurchases related to possible off-balance sheet recourse and repurchase agreement provisions.
Note K—Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

Selected quarterly financial datafor 1999 follows (in thousands):

For the Three Months Ended,
December 31, September 30, June30, March 31,

Net interest income.............. $ 571 $ 32 § 363 $ 88
Non-interest income 4,204 10,427 11,181 7,486
Non-interest expense (including incCOME taxXes) ........cccoveeerererenennn. 4873 7,771 10,121 6,473
Net €arNiNGS (10SS) .....vvvvreeerereerrirerssis st sesssseens (1,240) 3,048 1,423 1,101

Selected quarterly financial datafor 1998 follows (in thousands):

For the Three Months Ended,
December 31, September 30, June30, March 31,

NEL INLErESt INCOME......cocveerieieeiseressstse et $ 1031 $ 1387 ¢ 1333 $ 4,016
Non-interest income (8,469) (9,103 6,973 4916
Non-interest expense (including income taxes) ........ccceeveveveeeeennn. 2,627 224 6,491 6,755
Net €arNiNGS (0SS) .....ccvcreureecrerercese st (10,065) (7,940) 1815 2177
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